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Chairman’s Statement
B X

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the
“Director”) of Perfect Group International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), it is my pleasure to present to
you the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Business review, outlook and prospects

The principal businesses of the Group are (a) designing,
manufacturing and sales of high-end fine jewellery
(primarily mounted with diamonds) (the “Jewellery
Business”); (b) investment in and the development and
sales and rental of properties for the Group’s integrated
and comprehensive industry park located at Ist Ring Road
South Extension Foshan, Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the “Property Business”) as
an integrated and comprehensive industry park (the “Perfect
Group Jewellery Industry Park”); and (c) sales of electricity
generated from the photovoltaic power generation system
(the “Photovoltaic Power Generation Business”) with the

Acquisition of Guangdong Kaisi.

The Jewellery Business

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Jewellery
Business continued to be affected by a macroeconomic
environment of heightened geopolitical tensions, increasing
interest rates and declining economic growth expectation
which weakened the customer sentiment significantly.
Despite the market uncertainties and externalities beyond
our control, the Group were committed to participating
actively in various shows, fairs and exhibitions held in both
Hong Kong and overseas. In addition, our sales team was
devoted to visiting the overseas customers and soliciting

more sales orders from existing and potential customers.
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Outlook for the Jewellery Business

In the first quarter of 2024, the Group is still affected by
the above continuous macroeconomic environment, and
it is expected that the Jewellery Business in the future
will still face challenges. The Group will be committed to
enhancing the deployment of jewellery fairs and exhibitions
in Hong Kong and overseas and developing competitive
jewellery styles in the market for the purpose of attracting

new customers and consolidating the Jewellery Business.

The Group will continue to take a proactive and responsive
approach informed by our extensive experience and deep
insight into the Jewellery Business. The Group aims to
strengthen business resilience by staying vigilant and
actively monitoring the dynamic and fast evolving market
conditions. The Group will remain cautiously optimistic
about the Jewellery Business in the coming months and
will continue to focus on the development of the Jewellery

Business in overseas markets.

The Property Business

Pursuant to the Group’s accounting policy, revenue is
recognised when the control over the ownership or physical
possession of the property is transferred to customers, being
the point in time when the Group satisfies its performance
obligations under contracts. Since the second half of 2018,
the Group has started to deliver the completed units,
including industrial units and dormitory, to its customers.
As the units sold have been delivered, revenue recognition
has proceeded as scheduled. The Group has also leased out
part of the units, including industrial units, shops, canteen,
car parks and dormitory. The leasing of properties and the
provision of management services in the Perfect Group
Jewellery Industry Park have generated stable income for

the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement

B2 e

Outlook for the Property Business

It is expected that the properties held by the Group will
continue to be sold or leased. The rental and management
fee income will continue to make stable contributions
to the Property Business. In the first quarter of 2024,
the Group’s occupancy rate of executive dormitories has
significantly improved. In addition, the Group will also be
committed to optimizing the car park leasing business in
the Perfect Group Jewellery Industry Park, which will help
enhance the profitability of the Property Business.

The Photovoltaic Power Generation Business

The Group, while not only actively making its efforts to
strengthen the development of both the Jewellery Business
and the Property Business, it is also on the lookout for and
explores new business opportunities to diversify its existing
revenue streams and to improve its overall profitability
of the Group. With the Acquisition of Guangdong Kaisi,
the photovoltaic power generation became a new business
segment of the Group in the PRC. This business involves
sales of electricity which is generated from the photovoltaic
power generation system owned by the Group and
Guangdong Kaisi charges users for approximately 70%
to 90% of the official charge rate stipulated by the local
electricity bureau. In case the customers could not utilise
all the electricity generated, the unutilised electricity would

be sold to the local electricity bureau at a reduced rate.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
completed the grid connection of eight projects in PRC
with an aggregate maximum capacity of approximately
5,882 kilo-Watt and the power generation was
approximately 3.6 million units during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Outlook for the Photovoltaic Power
Generation Business

In recent years, in order to address frequent global extreme
climate change and mitigate the impact of rising fossil
fuel prices, renewable and clean energy, represented by
photovoltaics, has become a trend of the world. With the
long-term PRC government strategic support, continuous
technological advances and cost reductions, photovoltaic
power is now the renewable energy with the greatest
development potential. With the lower cost as compared
with the inflated fossil fuel prices, demand for photovoltaic
products in the future is expected to increase. Moreover,
the Group is also actively researching the plan for the
photovoltaic energy storage system in the hope of creating
synergies between the Photovoltaic Power Generation

Business and the energy storage business.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Group, I would like to thank the

effort from my fellow directors, senior management and
employees of the Group during this year, and the trust
and support from our shareholders, business partners and

customers.

Kan Kin Kwong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

O BRI o i B o3

Material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies

On 24 May 2023, Perfect Jewellery (China) Co. Limited
(“Perfect Jewellery (China)”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an acquisition
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Jiangmen City Hongxin
Construction Project Co., Led.* (VL [ i 5415 2 #& L #2
AR A F]) (“Jiangmen City Hongxin”), a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (who is an executive Director
and a controlling shareholder of the Company) (“Mr. Kan”),
in relation to the acquisition of the 55% equity interests
in Guangdong Kaisi New Energy Co., Ltd. (“Guangdong
Kaisi”), which was principally engaged in the Photovoltaic
Power Generation Business, from Jiangmen City Hongxin
for a consideration of approximately RMB7.15 million (the
“Acquisition of Guangdong Kaisi”). As at the date of the
Agreement, Jiangmen City Hongxin was wholly-owned
by Mr. Kan. Accordingly, Jiangmen City Hongxin is a
connected person of the Company and the Acquisition of
Guangdong Kaisi constituted a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder were more than
0.1% but less than 5%, the Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder were subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Acquisition of Guangdong Kaisi was
completed in August 2023. For further details, please refer
to the Company’s announcements dated 24 May 2023 and 3
August 2023.

*

The English names of the company established in the PRC
represent management’s translation of the Chinese name of such

company and are for information purpose only.

12 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited fR#§4E B2 A BR A 7]

HOR W %t 5 B R 4 ] B BB R

N

202345 H24H > (REKEHBEARAA
(TPREEBRE P AN 2 W2 E W E
8 E)) BT P T BAE R TR A R A A (T
M ATsAE ] MRS A AT & B %R
W e e R (T ED 2 E®HA) T T
Wl R (T sk )) > WA FBRELD A
R 7,150,000 ] YT [ T 54 15 i B 3 2 ¢
H6 IR B S Y B RN T BB R A PR A
Al ([ A48 17 ) 55% (9 HE 25 (Tic 1 38 SR 18
Wrl) o W Wh R H W - VP T AL S B fE ot A
EEWHA - WIL > LMWL EEA LA Z
BN HMRE LA A A
Wi I o RS TR A ARl 2 B A S o iR
A h R e L TE R AT RS B 2 W A EH A
R 0.1% (B K 74 5% > Bk K HTE R B
HEAT 28 Fy 78 SF B BRI ES YA E Y H
e BN M B E > M R G 15 ST 8 S R R
HE R 2 o i I R RS B R 20234F8 A 58
B o HE— RS W 2 M A A E H B £2023
5 H24H KX 20238H3H Z A o



As disclosed in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, given the Company and Guangdong Kaisi
are ultimately controlled by Mr. Kan before and after
the Acquisition of Guangdong Kaisi and that control is
not transitory, there would be a continuation of the risks
and benefits to Mr. Kan and therefore the Acquisition of
Guangdong Kaisi was accounted for a business combination

of entities under common control.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have therefore been prepared using the basis of merger
accounting as if acquisition has occurred from the date
when Mr. Kan has obtained control. The net assets of the
companies comprising the Group have been consolidated
using the existing book values from the perspective of Mr.
Kan.

Comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated and presented as if the entities or
businesses had been combined at the beginning of the

comparative period.

The effect of merger accounting has the impact of the profit
of Guangdong Kaisi amounted to nil and approximately
HK$0.9 million for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2023 respectively. Without the Acquisition of Guangdong
Kaisi, the profit attributable to the shareholders of the
Company (the “Sharcholder(s)”) was approximately
HK$29.4 million which remained unchanged as compared
to that of year ended 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
associates during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up

to the date of this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW W %5 Il
Overall revenue Bl
2023 2022 Increase (Decrease)
20234 20224 B/ (%5)
HK$°000 % HK$°000 % HKS$’000 %
Tt % Tt % Tt %
(Restated)
(% & 5)
Jewellery Business HEEH 286,426 82.1 326,575 87.3 (40,149) (12.3)
Property Business EES 59,246 17.0 47 474 12.7 11,772 24.8
Photovoltaic Power Generation Business S8 E £ N/A
3,039 0.9 — — 3,039 i
348,711 100.0 374,049 100.0 (25,338) (6.8)

The revenue decreased from approximately HK$374.0
million from the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$348.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately
HKS$25.3 million or 6.8%. The decrease was primarily
due to the decrease in revenue from the Jewellery Business
of approximately HK$40.1 million and such impact was
partially offset by the increase in revenue from the Property
Business of approximately HK$11.8 million and the
Photovoltaic Business of approximately HK$3.0 million.

The revenue from the Jewellery Business, the Property
Business and the Photovoltaic Power Generation Business
represented approximately 82.1% (for the year ended 31
December 2022: approximately 87.3%), approximately
17.0% (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately 12.7%) and approximately 0.9% (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: Nil), respectively, of the revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B PR E  m B 53
2023 2022 Increase(Decrease)
20234F 20224F 1, (8 »)
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 %
T T T T T %
(Restated)
(48 & 31)
Hong Kong i 197,009 227,483 (30,474) (13.4)
Dubai A FE 88,651 68,045 20,606 30.3
PRC H 63,051 78,521 (15,470) (19.7)
348,711 374,049 (25,338) (6.8)

The revenue from Hong Kong decreased from
approximately HK$227.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$197.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$30.5 million or 13.4%.

The revenue from Dubai increased from approximately
HK$68.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately HK$88.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an increase of approximately
HK$20.6 million or 30.3%.

The revenue from the PRC decreased from approximately
HK$78.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately HK$63.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$15.4 million or 19.7%.

The decrease in revenue in Hong Kong and the PRC was
mainly due to the weak customer sentiment during the year
ended 31 December 2023. The revenue increase in Dubai
was primarily due to the effort attributed by our sales team
visiting our overseas customers more frequently during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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& 1) %)227,500,000% 70 8k D £ B £ 20234
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B ki B o e

Overall gross profit and gross profit margin BREHN kBN R
2023 2022 Increase (Decrease)
20234 20224 (8 4)
Gross Gross Gross
profit profit Gross profit
(loss) margin profit margin Gross profit Gross profit margin
T
(B#)  BH% M OEME ] BH%
Percentage

HK$’000 %  HK$000 9%  HK$’000 % point %
T %  T#Ex %  T#x %  HAW %

(Restated) ~ (Restated)

(BEF) (BEF)
Jewellery Business GEEK 80,495 28.1 85,120 20.1 (4,629) (5.4) 2.0 7.7
Property Business EES ] 20,010 33.8 29,549 62.2 9,539) (32.2) (284) (4.7)
Photovoltaic Power Generation k8 & £ N/A N/A
Business 1,707 56.2 — — 1,707 AR 56.2 A A
Unallocated AR N/A N/A N/A
®) — — — ®  AEA A AT
102,204 29.3 114,669 307 (12,465) (10.9) (1.4) (4.6)

The overall gross profit decreased from approximately
HK$114.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$102.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$12.5 million or 10.9%. The gross profit
composed of approximately HK$80.5 million from the
Jewellery Business for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$4.6 million
or 5.4% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2022;
approximately HK$20.0 million from the Property Business
for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$9.5 million or 32.2% as
compared to the year ended 31 December 2022; and
approximately HK$1.7 million from the Photovoltaic Power

Generation Business.
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The overall gross profit margin decreased slightly from
approximately 30.7% for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately 29.3% for the year ended 31 December
2023, representing a decrease of approximately 1.4

percentage point or 4.6%.

The Jewellery Business
Revenue

The revenue from the Jewellery Business decreased from
approximately HK$326.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$286.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$40.2 million or 12.3% for the
Jewellery Business. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in revenue from Hong Kong and the PRC and
such impact was partially offset by the increase in revenue

from the Dubai region.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit decreased from approximately HK$85.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$80.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$4.6 million or 5.4%, which was in line with the
decrease in sales in the Jewellery Business in Hong Kong
and the PRC. The gross profit margin increased from
approximately 26.1% for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately 28.1% for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an increase of approximately
2.0 percentage point or 7.7%. The increase in gross profit
margin was in line with the decrease in revenue and gross
profit from the PRC which gross profit margin is relatively

lower.
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The Property Business Y 3 K B
Revenue Ik 35
2023 2022 Increase(Decrease)
20234 20224F B ()
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
Tt T oo T o0 %
Sales of properties S 34,195 25,042 9,153 36.6
Rental income iR 14,069 15,913 (1,844) (11.6)
Property management fee income ) 3 & I 45 10,982 6,519 4,463 68.5
59,246 47,474 11,772 24.8

The revenue from the Property Business increased from
approximately HK$47.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$59.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of
approximately HK$11.8 million or 24.8%. The increase
was mainly due to the increase in sales of properties and
property management fee income. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the number of units of properties
delivered to customers is 17 (for the year ended 31
December 2022: 15) and the saleable gross floor area sold
and delivered is approximately 7,313 square metres (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: approximately 4,903 square
metres). Rental income for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$14.1 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$15.9 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.8 million or
11.6%). The decrease in rental income was mainly due to
certain properties being purchased by the tenants and thus
less rental income being generated during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Property management fee income for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$11.0 million (for
the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$6.5
million, representing an increase of approximately HK$4.5
million or 68.5%). The increase in property management
fee income was mainly due to the increase in gross
floor area under management during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit recognised for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$20.0 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$29.6 million)
and the gross profit margin was approximately 33.8% (for
the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately 62.2%).
The decrease in both gross profit and gross profit margin
was mainly resulted from the sale of certain properties,
which were recognised as investment properties at fair value
vis-s-vis market value, were transferred from investment
properties to properties held for sale as a result of change
in use during the year ended 31 December 2023. As
revaluation gain had been recognised in previous years,
the cost of such properties recorded was higher than the
original cost of such properties, and therefore a lower gross
profit and gross profit margin recorded from sale of such

properties.

The Photovoltaic Power Generation Business
Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

The revenue from the Photovoltaic Power Generation
Business was approximately HK$3.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). The gross profit and
gross profit margin was approximately HK$1.7 million
(2022: Nil) and 56.2% respectively.

Other income

The other income increased from the approximately
HK$3.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately HK$5.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an increase of approximately
HKS$1.9 million or 55.9%. The increase was primarily
due to the increase in interest income from approximately
HK$0.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately HK$3.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 resulting from the increase in interest rates
from the bank deposits and the increase in average balances
of bank deposits during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Management Discussion and Analysis

B ki B o e

SERRISEEY I

A F2023F12H31H 1F 4 E W E A
#1 £520,000,000% JT (A £20224F12H31H
1E 4 B+ £929,600,000%5 J0) - 1 B F R 4
£4533.8% (#% F20224F12H31H 1E 4F JE : 4
62.2%) o & F & B F ¥k D0 F E R
B A T DA T (B AR 3R T 5 1 (E R
HEREWENYE > H#FE2023F12A31
H 1k 47 B o 58 B 1 b 4% 6 9 36 o0 2 15 1
B P 2E T B o H R AR AR R RR E AN
Wit > BRISZEWENR AR ZEY E
WIRE A > Hitb sk B EZEWENE
Fl B B R R AR -

e IR 4 46 % B
I g - B A R

B E 2023412 H31H 1E4F B > o6 E 8% E
B IR 4 ) 453,000,000 5 7T (20224F © 4) ©
B F I F 24 Fl 4 451,700,000 45 76 (2022
A IE) K56.2% ©

At e A

HoAh e A B B £20224E12 310 1F 4E
1) %73,400,000% JC N 2 R 22023412
H31H 1k 4F B 19 45,300,000% JC > 34 i 49
1,900,000 %5 JC 555.9% ° It 34 Jin 3= 2 il iR
# £20234F 127431 H 1E 4F B R A7 17 3 A R
b T e SR AT AT BT 35 &5 i 48 A S0OR] Rk
A # 2022412 H31H 1E 4 B 47800,000
O B # £20234F12A31H IE4EE A
3,200,000%5 JC °

2023 Annual Report “FE#HE 19



Management Discussion and Analysis

B ki B o e

Other gains and losses

The other losses was approximately HK$2.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31
December 2022: other gains of approximately HK$3.0
million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$5.9
million or 196.7% for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The decrease was mainly due to (i) the increase in loss on
changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss from approximately HK$0.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$1.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023; (ii) the loss
from disposal of investment properties of approximately
HK$1.6 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
Nil); and (iii) the gain from changes in fair value upon
transfer of properties held for sale to investment properties
of approximately HK$5.4 million being recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2022 whilst there was no such
gain recorded during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Impairment losses under expected credit loss
model

The impairment losses under expected credit loss model
mainly include reversal of impairment losses resulting from
trade receivables of approximately HK$0.8 million (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$16.9
million) and impairment provision resulting from a loan
receivable from an associate in the PRC of approximately
HK$1.9 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$3.8 million).

Finance costs

The finance costs of approximately HK$1.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31
December 2022: approximately HK$1.0 million) related to
interest expenses on bank loans and lease liabilities for the
operations of the Jewellery Business, the Property Business

and the Photovoltaic Power Generation Business.
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Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution costs increased from
approximately HK$10.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$13.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase
of approximately HK$2.8 million or 25.9%. The increase
was mainly due to the increase in jewellery show, fair and

exhibition expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023.

General and administrative expenses

The general and administrative expenses decreased from
approximately HK$49.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$45.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$3.7 million or 7.5%. The decrease was
mainly due to the tightening expenditure control of certain
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Profit for the year

As a result of the above factors, the profit after taxation
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$34.2 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$27.4 million), representing an increase

of approximately HK$6.8 million or 24.8%.
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Financial position
Non-current Assets

The property, plant and equipment as at 31 December
2023 of approximately HK$93.4 million (as at 31
December 2022: approximately HK$60.1 million) mainly
represented buildings of approximately HK$57.5 million
(as at 31 December 2022: HK$57.8 million), plant and
machinery of approximately HK$32.4 million (as at 31
December 2022: Nil), and furniture and fixtures and
motor vehicles of approximately HK$3.5 million (2022:
approximately HK$2.3 million). The increase in property,
plant and machinery was mainly due to the installation
of photovoltaic equipment for the Photovoltaic Power
Generation Business and certain plant and machinery for
the newly developed Environmental Protection Centre (3R
f&H10) located in the Perfect Group Jewellery Industry
Park during the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, properties
with fair value at the date of transfer of approximately
HK$256.0 million were transferred from investment
properties to properties held for sale as a result of change in
use. The fair value at the date of transfer was determined
by an independent and qualified professional valuer (as at
31 December 2022: approximately HK$9.5 million were
transferred from leasehold land and buildings to investment

properties for leasing to independent third parties).

Current assets

The current assets increased from approximately HK$488.0
million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$734.3 million as at 31 December 2023, representing
an increase of approximately HK$246.3 million or 50.5%.
The increase was mainly due to properties with fair value
at the date of transfer of approximately HK$256.0 million
being transferred from investment properties included
under non-current assets to properties held for sale as a
result of change in use during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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Current liabilities

The current liabilities decreased from approximately
HK$171.6 million as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$162.5 million as at 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$9.1 million or

5.3%.

The trade and other payables which amounted to
approximately HK$56.5 million as at 31 December 2022
(as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$74.1 million)
comprised trade payables of approximately HK$32.5
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$40.0
million) and accruals and other payables of approximately
HK$24.0 million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$34.1 million). The accruals and other payables mainly
consist of amounts payable for staff salaries and benefits
and provision for certain construction obligations. The
decrease in trade and other payables was mainly due to the
settlement of balances during the year ended 31 December
2023 and the restatement of the other payables including
the consideration of approximately RMB7.15 million
arisen from the Acquisition of Guangdong Kaisi as at 31
December 2022 which was settled during the year ended
31 December 2023.

Included in contract liabilities was mainly the deposit
received from customers of properties in the PRC, which
amounted to approximately HK$4.1 million as at 31
December 2023 (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$6.3 million). The decrease was mainly due to the

delivery of completed properties to customers.
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Liquidity and financial resources

The Group funded its operations and capital expenditure
with internal financial resources and short-term bank
loans. As at 31 December 2023, the current assets of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$734.3 million (as
at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$488.0 million).
The reason for the increase in current assets is set out in
the paragraph headed “Current assets” above. The current
liabilities of the Group amounted approximately HK$162.5
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$171.6
million). Accordingly, the current ratio, which is the ratio
of current assets to current liabilities, was approximately
4.5 as at 31 December 2023 (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately 2.8).

Cash position

As at 31 December 2023, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$76.0
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$53.9
million). The cash and cash equivalents denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately HK$49.9 million (as
at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$16.7 million).
Bank deposits of the Group are denominated in USD and
amounted to approximately HK$66.7 million (as at 31
December 2022: approximately HK$63.6 million).

The Group’s level of cash and cash equivalents and bank
deposits have remained stable. The Group regularly and
closely monitors its funding and treasury position to meet

the funding needs of the Group.

Interest-bearing bank loans

As at 31 December 2023, the total interest-bearing bank
loans of the Group amounted to approximately HK$25.0
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$20.2
million). The loans were denominated in HK and RMB,
being the functional currency of the respective operating
subsidiaries of the Group. Details of the interest rates
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
note 31 of the consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.
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Gearing ratio

Based on total borrowings divided by equity
attributable to owners of the Company, the gearing
ratio was approximately 0.04 (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately 0.03).

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s buildings
and properties held for sale with a net carrying amount
of approximately HK$4.6 million and HK$44.9 million
respectively (2022: Nil) were pledged to secure a bank loan
newly granted to a PRC subsidiary during the year.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital
commitments in respect of the plant and machinery
contracted but not provided for amounting to HK$0.6
million (as at 31 December 2022: Nil).

Segment reporting

Details of the segment reporting of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Contingent liabilities

The Group provided guarantees amounting to
approximately RMBG60.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$66.3 million) as at 31 December
2023 (as at 31 December 2022: approximately RMBI13.0
million (equivalent to approximately HK$14.7 million)) to
facilitate mortgage bank loan applications of the purchasers
of the properties that were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the
properties to the purchasers and completion of registration
of the relevant mortgaged properties. In the opinion of
the Directors, the fair values of these guarantee contracts
of the Group are insignificant at initial recognition and
the Directors consider that the possibility of default of the
parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and
at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022.
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Subsequent event

Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, there was no important event affecting the
Group.

Employee and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 159
employees (as at 31 December 2022: 150 employees) in
Hong Kong and the PRC. The total salaries and related
costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$30.7 million (for the year ended 31
December 2022: approximately HK$29.7 million).

The Group offers competitive remuneration package to
incentivise the staff to improve their work performance.
The Company has a share option scheme in place as a
means of encouraging and rewarding eligible employees’
(including Directors’) contributions to the Group’s
performance and business developments based on their
individual performance. The employees’ remuneration,
promotion and salary are assessed by reference to their
work performance, working experiences, professional

qualifications and the prevailing market practices.

The Group conducts a range of targeted training and
development programs through various institutions to
strengthen employees’ skills and knowledge, with an aim
to well equip them to cope with its development in the

industry.
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Dividend policy

The Board intends to create long term value for the
Shareholders through maintaining a balance between
dividend distribution, adequate cash flow and reserve
to meet its working capital requirement and capturing
growth opportunities. The Board may propose or declare
the payment of dividends after taking into account
the current financial performance, the future financial
requirements and any other factors that may deem relevant
to the Company. The Board may decide the frequency of
dividend payment and further declare or recommend any
special distributions. Dividends may be declared or paid
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate. The payment of dividend is also
subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations
including the laws of Cayman Islands and the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association. The Board will
review this dividend policy from time to time and there can
be no assurance that dividend will be paid in any particular

amount for any given period.

Foreign exchange exposure

During the year, certain group entities have foreign
currency denominated sales and purchases; and monetary
assets and liabilities which expose the Group to foreign
currency risks on the currencies of HKD, USD, RMB,
and AED. The sales are primarily made in USD while the
expenses, including purchase of raw materials are mainly in
USD and HKD with immaterial portion of cost, primarily
being staff cost and factory overheads, in RMB.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Despite the expenses are mainly settled in HKD and
USD and substantial portion of the sales and expenses are
made in either USD or HKD, with HKD and AED being
pegged with the USD, the impact of fluctuation of USD
to the operational and financial performance would be
immaterial, hence the Group’s exposure to currency risk is

not significant.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be
other risks and uncertainties in addition to those known
to the Group or which may not be material now but could

turn out to be material in the future.

Business and financial risks

(i) The profitability and financial position may be
materially and adversely affected if any of our major

customers ceases their business relationship with us;

(i) We are susceptible to material and adverse change
in both Hong Kong and the PRC tax laws or
unfavourable interpretation regarding apportionment
claim of profits in cross-border processing business

and on our revenue generated in the PRC.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing
financial assets and liabilities, mainly interest-bearing bank
balances and bank borrowings (see note 31 for details) at
variable interest rates. The Group currently does not have
an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should

the need arise.
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Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of each year in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures

to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue

debts.

The Company has taken out insurance policy to enhance
the recoverability of trade debtors. The Company has
also received all the monies for the units sold in the
Property Business and should have no difficulties on the
recoverability of any possible outstanding balance due from

these purchasers.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Kan Kin Kwong, aged 65, was appointed as the
Director in June 2015 and was appointed as the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer, and designated
as the executive Director in August 2015. Mr. Kan is also
the chairman of the risk management committee. Mr.
Kan is the founder of the Group and was appointed as a
director of Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery Company Limited
(“HK Perfect”) (the background of which is set out in
the definition of “HK Perfect” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 22 December 2015 (the “Prospectus”))
in October 1986. Mr. Kan is also the director of Perfect
Group International Holdings (HK) Limited (“Perfect
(HK)”), a wholly-owned subsidiary. Mr. Kan is mainly
responsible for managing the overall operations of the
Group and planning our business development and
strategies, in particular, overseeing the business activities
of the Group, supervising the operations and resources
allocation of the Group and driving the Group to attain
performance targets.

Mr. Kan has over 30 years of experience in the fine
jewellery industry. Currently, Mr. Kan is the permanent
honorary president of the Hong Kong Gold and Silver
Ornament Workers & Merchants General Union, the
permanent honorary president of the Hong Kong Gemstone
Manufacturers’ Association and the honorary president of
the Hong Kong Jade Association, the honorary president of
Foshan Shunde District Jewelry Chamber of Commerce,
the vice president of the All-China Federation of Industry
and Commerce Gold and Silver Jewelry Chamber of
Commerce, and Member of the CPPCC Committee of
Jiangmen Xinhui District. Mr. Kan was also awarded “2017
Honorary Fellows” by the Professional Validation Centre of
Hong Kong Business Sector on 13 July, 2017, in recognition
of his contribution to the local jewellery industry.

Ms. Shek Mei Chun, aged 59, the spouse of Mr. Kan, was
appointed as the executive Director in August 2015. Ms.
Shek is also a member of the risk management committee.
Ms. Shek was appointed as a director of HK Perfect in
March 1990. Ms. Shek is mainly responsible for managing
the sales operations of the Group, in particular, overseeing
the sales activities of the Group, leading the sales team
to attain sales targets and devising sales plans based on
the varying demands and customer behaviour in different
markets.

Ms. Shek has over 30 years of experience in the fine

jewellery industry.

30  Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %842 5] [5 B2 1B A5 FRZA 7]

HiT#ESR

i f e Je 2k > 655k  R2015%F 6 H 1 & AT
HH A R205FSAR R AEHREG LT
WATEL AR > WHEBREBWATE S - 5L
AR E A E R R o LA
£ [ Y A BN > v 19864E10H M8 & AT B R
BHREARAFAHET REHAALFAH
F520154F12 H22 H iy e & F2 (T4R ik T 72 )
PR B (RS HREDNES -
f 50 A 0N 2 A I S A D AR A A T B R A
B (F ) ARAR (R (F ) HWEDS -
e FEAEEHEAREEEEEL UKL
HlE ER R LR LR EEAE
B ERSIEE) B SOR S R R
DR EAEEEH&EEE-

A N R WA MI0F L - i
o R A A SR A TP ARk A
HEeR FHREAREERELEEGR
FHEME LB GRE - ML EE R
EEfimeggiagRk  PE2R THER
UMK EENGAGRE LI TN G
I B 25 B o il 58 4R AR iR 20174E7 13 H
T T B SR PO PR 201755 2 bt 1
PIRGHEAMKRETENER -

fHEB L L5955 el ME R
2015F8HERT AMITESR - AL LI G
A EEMEZEEEME - 1% LN199043H
BRI BRENESF AL LFEA
HEMALHMNEEE  LHEE BEAR
EEGETD > WHEMEEKERNER
12N AR B8 S R T 35 B R TR 7 R R & IS B
il 2 8 8 5T o

7 2 R B R BT S R A B30 4R AL B



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chung Chi Keung, aged 62, was appointed as an
executive Director in August 2015. Mr. Chung is also a
member of the remuneration committee. Mr. Chung joined
HK Perfect as an accountant in March 1990. Mr. Chung
was appointed as a director of HK Perfect in November
2006.

Mr. Chung was awarded a higher stage certificate for
proficiency in accounting and a certificate of proficiency
in cost accounting, both issued by the London Chamber
of Commerce and Industry in 1982 and 1985, respectively.
Mr. Chung also passed the intermediate examination of
the Association of Accounting Technicians in December
1991. Mr. Chung has over 30 years of experience in the

accounting industry.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. FAN Chor Ho, SBS, BBS, JP, aged 82, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in December 2015. Mr. Fan is also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee. Mr. Fan was
an independent non-executive director of Tysan Holdings
Limited (Formerly known as Hong Kong International
Construction Investment Management Group Co.,
Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange stock
code: 687) from August 1993 to July 2020. He was a non-
executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited from 3 April 2000 to 15 April 2003. He was a
member of the Advisory Committee to the Securities and
Futures Commission from 1993 to 1997 and again serving
in the same capacity since 2001 until 2007. He was holding
appointments on Government boards and committees,
including chairman of the Chinese Medicine Council of
Hong Kong from 13 September 2005 to 12 September
2011. He was awarded the Badge of Honour in 1991 and
was made a Justice of the Peace in 1993, and was awarded
Bronze Bauhinia Star in July 2005 and the Silver Bauhinia
Star in July 2011.
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Mr. Lee Ka Wing, aged 50, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director in May 2020. Mr. Lee
is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee, the nomination committee

and the risk management committee.

Mr. Lee, graduated from the business school of The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 1995. He
also obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001 and
a master’s degree in Accounting from Curtin University in
2003. He has been a member of CPA Australia since 2007.
He also holds the Chartered Financial Analyst qualification
from CFA Institute and is a member of the CFA Society
HK. Mr. Lee has over 20 years of experience in investment
banking and corporate finance and has ample experience
in initial public offerings, takeovers and privatisation.
Currently, he acts as a co-head of corporate finance and
a sponsor principal of Zhongtai International Capital
Limited. Before joining Zhongtai International Capirtal
Limited, he worked at GF Capital (Hong Kong) Limited.

Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick, aged 68, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director in December
2015. Mr. Wong is also the chairman of the audit

committee and a member of the remuneration committee.

Mr. Wong received a master’s degree in electronic
commerce from Edith Cowan University in Western
Australia in February 2002. Mr. Wong has been a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since June 1991 and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales since December 1993.
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Mr. Wong has over 40 years of experience in accounting,
finance, audit, tax and corporate finance with an
international certified public accountant firm and listed
companies in the United Kingdom, New Zealand, Hong
Kong and Thailand. From April 1996 to March 1999, Mr.
Wong was an executive director of Hwa Kay Thai Holdings
Limited (currently known as China Solar Energy Holdings
Limited), a company formerly listed on the Stock Exchange
until it was delisted on 8 August 2022 (stock code: 155).
From January 2001 to January 2011, Mr. Wong was the
chief financial officer and company secretary of China
Infrastructure & Logistics Group Ltd. (formerly known as
CIG Yangtze Ports PLC), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1719 (since 29 January 2018)), and
had been an independent non-executive director and a
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of such company since April
2014 and the chairman of the nomination committee of
such company since October 2015 until he resigned from
such positions in May 2022. Mr. Wong had been the chief
financial officer of APAC Resources Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1104), since
January 2011 and had also acted as the company secretary
of the company between April 2011 and December 2011
and since February 2013 until he resigned from such
positions in July 2016 and had served as a consultant to the
company between August 2016 to October 2016. Mr. Wong
had been the chief financial officer of Asia Investment
Finance Group Limited (currently known as International
Genius Company), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0033), since 18 September 2017 and
also had acted as the company secretary and authorised
representative of such company since 25 September 2017
until he resigned from such positions on 3 November
2017. Mr. Wong has been an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the audit committee and the risk

management committee and a member of the remuneration

R LR B JE R

A A NG BB e AW AT A SR Ry
VOR - E REE AR R - M
TN~ BB o\ BB R @40 K B - A
19964 H 2199943 H » #1454 5 4T 3 &
Z& LA R A A (R B VR Ok R BE TR
P A R A (v i B a8 pr Bl A Al
B ZE HR20224E8 H8H B 17 - M 4y AL 5%
155 FATE S - H20014E1 H £201141H »
5T A 2 b B R AR A PR A R (R AR R
B3 @ A BR A FD) (B B B A F
H20184F1 H29 H i B 3 8 5% : 1719) 09 15 &
BT RAFE > B2014F4H 8 BN
AL ERATES - FEZE T -
ZEGAAZREGHE > I H2015410
R ARMREAZEGER I 2022
S H BEAT b oA Bk B o B 5E R H20114F1 H
L B P& AT 51 OK & VR A BR 4 A (B 22 i BT
NFED s B EE 1104 B E > I
R20114E4 A 201145128 ¥ & H20134F
21 FE AR 2016557 H B X 5% % Bk A 15 AT
BN EL A R R SR 3P R 20164F8 H £2016
FE10A WM B ITZ AR B - a4k A
201749 H 18 H L #& 1T 55 4% 4 fil 4E [ A B
) (B f§ International Genius Company) (¥ 28
BT B Al B ARBE 0 0033) 10 B R B B
B H20174F9H 25 H M AT 5% A |l B A
AR R KR R REAAER > HE2017F11H3H &

2023 Annual Report “FE#HE 33



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

RN BB R

committee and the nomination committee of Wah Sun
Handbags International Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2683), since 22
January 2018. Mr. Wong has been an executive director of
CF Energy Corp. (formerly known as Changfeng Energy
Inc.) (stock code: CFY), a company listed on the Toronto
Venture Exchange (stock code: TSXV), since 22 February
2019; an independent non-executive director, a member
of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of China Aoyuan Group Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3883), since 24 February 2023; an executive director and a
member of the risk committee after his redesignation from
his former roles as an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of the audit committee, a member of the
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of
Da Sen Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1580), since 26 November 2020
until he resigned from such positions on 24 January 2022
and being retained as a consultant to the board of the
company; and an independent non-executive director and
the chairman of the audit committee of Burwill Holdings
Limited, a company formerly listed on the Stock Exchange
until it was delisted on 13 August 2021 (stock code: 24),
since 14 September 2020 and 20 October 2020, respectively
until he resigned from such positions on 11 August 2021.
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Senior management personnel

Other than the Directors, the senior management team
together with the executive Directors, are responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group. The following
table sets forth certain information in respect of our senior

management personnel:

R RN BB

mEEHAR

B S Ah o AR BB B B AT g
AAEEEHEE B EAL o FRESNA B
AN BAE T E R

Date of appointment as
senior management

Name Age Date of joining the Group Position personnel Key role and responsibility
L ELIV-TE
¥ g A% WA Btz CEINL FRRMRBR
Ms. Tang Kam Man 3 8 November 2023 Chief financial officer and 8 November 2023 Responsible for financial reporting
(Appointed on 8 B WBFIASH CoMmpany sectetary 2023511 fi8H and compliance
November 2023) HRMIERAARE ARMTHRRE SRR
I (0035
IASHEZ )

Ms. Tang Kam Man, aged 35, has been appointed as
the chief financial officer, the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company, all with effect
from 8 November 2023 and a director of a subsidiary of
the Company. Ms. Tang is mainly responsible for financial
reporting and compliance. Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor’s
degree of business administration in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in July 2010. Ms. Tang
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 2014. Ms. Tang has over 13
years of experience in auditing and accounting. Prior to
joining the Company, Ms. Tang worked as an auditor for
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited from October 2010
to November 2013 and PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited
from November 2013 to October 2016. Ms. Tang served as
a finance manager in Zall Smart Commerce Group Ltd.,
which is a company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 2098, from October 2016 to April 2018 and
a financial controller in China Infrastructure & Logistics
Group Ltd., which is a company listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code 1719, from May 2018 to October
2023.
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Report of the Directors

B

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 to all
Shareholders.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding and those of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 38 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Results and appropriations

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 and the financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 are set out on pages 136 to 139 of

the consolidated financial statements.

Dividend

The Group did not declare any interim dividend for the
six months ended 30 June 2023 (for the six months ended
30 June 2022: Nil). The Directors propose the payment
for a final dividend of HK$0.02 per share, totalling
HK$26,820,180 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for
the year ended 31 December 2022: HK$0.02 per share,
totalling HK$26,820,180).

36  Perfect Group International Holdings Limited ff#§%E B HE AT B ]

SRR 1) T A R 4R A 4 B R 32023
iuﬁsmﬂ:@fﬂﬁﬁfﬁii [F] %6 3 1%
AR A M ROR -

FEER
AANEZ FEEBBREER > ANAE
LN O /NI e ol O 0 N
R M EE38 o

5 8 Koy i

7 45 £ 20234E12 31 H IF 4F B R BE
FB K AR B E 2023912 A31H /9 B IR
R 136 B139H Z 45 A M i % -

Jit 8

A 42 I 4R E R # £2023F6H30H 1E S
18 A B AT ] o B B B (B £ 20224E6H30H
1B 7S A - JE) o 3 R IR AT 8K 220234
12H31Eli&ﬁﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂiwiﬂﬁooziﬁfn7
A 4 426,820,180 % JT (#% 22 20224F1231H
1E 4B B i%0.02% 0T > & 4£26,820,1805
JG) e



Closure of register of members

In order to establish the identity of the Shareholders
who are entitled to the proposed final dividend, all duly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited,
at Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange
Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong, no
later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 6 June 2024. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 7 June 2024 to Thursday, 13 June 2024, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. Subject to the approval by the
Shareholders on the proposed final dividend at the annual
general meeting to be held on Monday, 3 June 2024, the
final dividend will be paid on or around Wednesday, 19
June 2024 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Thursday, 13 June
2024.

Business review

Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
requires companies to include a business review in the
directors’ report. Specifically, the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance requires a business review to cover a number of
areas which are also approved by the Board and included in

this report as follows:

1. A fair review of the Group’s business

Pages 14 to 28 of this annual report

2.  Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group

Pages 28 and 29 of this annual report

3. Indication of likely development of the Group
Pages 8 to 11 of this annual report
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Segment information

The executive Directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, regularly review revenue analysis
from the sales and manufacturing of Jewellery products,
including rings, earrings, pendants, bangles, necklaces
and bracelets, and by location of delivery to customers
and development and sales of properties. The executive
Directors considered there were three operating activities
which were manufacturing and sales of jewellery products;
development; development and sales of properties; and
engaged in photovoltaic power generation business. The
operating segment has been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conform to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, and is regularly reviewed by the
executive Directors. The executive Directors review the
overall results, assets and liabilities of the Group as a whole
to make decisions about resources allocation. Accordingly,

three analysis of this operating segments are presented.

Five-year financial summary

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 316
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of

the consolidated financial statements.

Share capital

Details of movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 140 to 142 and
in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements,

respectively.
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Distributable reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had a reserve
of approximately HK$301,414,000 (as at 31 December
2021: reserve of approximately HK$327,486,000) in its
distributable reserves, calculated under the Companies Act,
Chapter 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands.

Major customers and suppliers

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers were
less than 30%. Purchases made by the Group from its
largest supplier and the five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 61.4% and 95.9% of the Group’s total

purchases for the year, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the
Directors, their close associates, nor any Shareholders who
owned more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest

suppliers during the year.

Subsidiaries

The details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out

in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Directors and directors’ services contracts

The Directors who hold office during the year and up to

the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Shek Mei Chun
Mr. Chung Chi Keung

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Fan Chor Ho
Mr. Lee Ka Wing
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick

Each of the executive Directors has renewed a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 January 2022, which may be
terminated by, not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other and is subject to
termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement
by rotation as set forth in the articles of association of the

Company (the “Articles of Association”).

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
renewed/entered into a letter of appointment or a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from 4 January 2022 or the
date of appointment, subject to retirement by rotation
and reelection at annual general meeting set forth in the
Articles of Association and until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party

on the other.
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No Director has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the listing of securities on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”) and all of them are considered to be

independent.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third
of the existing Directors shall retire from office, at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Wong Wai
Keung Frederick and Mr. Chung Chi Keung will retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Permitted indemnity provisions

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report, there was or is, any
permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of any of the Directors and Supervisors (whether made by
the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if

made by the Company).

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ liabilities have
been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure from the business of the

Group.
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Directors’ interest in contracts

Save as disclosed in the sections headed — “Connected
transaction” and “Continuing connected transactions” of
this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to which the Company or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director or any entity connected with a Director had a
material interest subsisted at the year ended 31 December

2023 or at any time during the year.

Connected transaction

The details of the connected transaction is set out in the
section headed “Material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies” under the section of

Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

Continuing connected transaction

On 7 August 2023, Perfect (HK) renewed the existing
tenancy agreement (the “Hong Kong Tenancy Agreement”)
with HK Perfect, pursuant to which Perfect (HK)
continues to lease premises from HK Perfect for a term
of one year commencing from 5 August 2023 for the
purpose of the Group’s offices in Hong Kong. The
terms of the renewed tenancy are similar the expired
agreement, remained at monthly rent of HK$310,000. The
transactions contemplated under the Hong Kong Tenancy
Agreement are subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from circular and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. For further details, please refer to the Company’s

announcement dated 7 August 2023.

Other than disclosed above, no transaction, arrangement
or other contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
any entity connected with a Director had material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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Aggregate amount for
the financial year ended
31 December 2023

# £20234F12H31H Ik
A AR B 2 B
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Annual Cap amount

the financial year ended
31 December 2022

# £20224F12H31H Ik

S B4R BE 2 A BE B BR &

Lease of premises from Hong Kong Perfect
Jewellery Company Limited (Note)

I] R %% TR B A BR 2% 7 AE H E BT (B 5

Note: Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery Company Limited is a company
incorporated in Hong Kong. It is an associate of Mr. Kan Kin
Kwong, a controlling shareholder, an executive Director, and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that:

(1) the terms of the Hong Kong Tenancy Agreement
are on normal commercial terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole;

(2) the proposed annual caps are fair and reasonable; and

(3) the continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the Hong Kong Tenancy Agreement are and
will be conducted in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

According to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules”. The auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”)
has issued an unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance

with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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Biographies of directors and senior
management

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are disclosed in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” on pages 30 to 35 of this annual report.

Controlling shareholders’ interest in
contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed — “Continuing
connected transactions” of this annual report, there was no
contract of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling sharcholder (as defined in
the Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.

Non-competition undertaking by controlling

shareholders

Each of the controlling Shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of

non-competition undertaking.

Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” of the Prospectus.

Non-competition undertaking by executive
directors

The non-competition undertakings in respect of the
executive Directors have become effective from the Listing
Date.

Each of the executive Directors has made an annual
declaration in respect of his/her compliance with the terms
of non-competition undertaking from the Listing Date to

the date of this annual report.
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The independent non-executive Directors reviewed and
confirmed that the executive Directors had complied with
and enforced the non-competition undertaking for the
period set forth in the paragraph above in accordance with
its terms.

Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” of the Prospectus.

Share option scheme

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 14 December
2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme was
valid for a period of 10 years commencing on 14 December
2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant share options to the selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Directors of may, at
its discretion, grant share options to subscribe for shares
in the Company to eligible participants (the “Eligible
Participants”) who contribute to the long-term growth
and profitability of the Company. Eligible Participants
include (i) any employee (whether full-time or part-time,
including any executive director but excluding any non-
executive director) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any entity (Invested Entity) in which any member
of the Group holds an equity interest; (ii) any non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any
customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vi) any sharecholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (vii) any adviser (professional or
otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business
development of any member of the Group or any Invested
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Entity; and (viii) any other group or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute by way of joint
venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group.

Despite the definition of Eligible Participants in the Share
Option Scheme, the Company does not intend to grant
share option to any Eligible Participant that does not come
under the definition of “eligible participant” in Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution
adopting the Share Option Scheme, i.e. 45,000,000 shares,
which, subsequent to the share subdivision in September
2017, shall be 135,000,000 shares.

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the
maximum number of shares that may be issued by the
Company upon exercise of all outstanding share options
already granted under the Share Option Scheme was
22,815,000 and 11,407,500, respectively, representing 1.7%
and 0.9%, respectively, of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue. The maximum number of share options
that were available to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme was 94,518,000 shares, representing approximately
7.0% of the total number of the Company in issue as at the
date of this annual report.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each Eligible Participants in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant
of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting with such
Eligible Participant and his/her close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) (or associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) if the Eligible Participant is a connected person (as
defined in the Listing Rules)) abstaining from voting.
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Movement Of Share Options

Movements of share options under Share Option Scheme

during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out
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1January ~ during  during  during  during 31 December share  (HKS per  Vesting Exercisable
Grantees Date of grant 203 theyear  theyear  theyear theyear N3 (HKS) share)  period period
GHTE T
ol R/ Rusk BREKE  (ZRE)
kRA GEEL VI ERES ERERE ERKH Rk nAsE o () (EREx) BEA i
Directors
i
M. Ken Kin Kwong 31 May 2017 675,000 - — 7500 - - 107 107 Oneyearfomthe date 31 May 2018 10
of grant 30 May 2023
31 May 2017 675,000 - - - — 500 107 107 Twoyearsfomthedate 31 May 201910
of grant 30 May 2024
L9t s fisIA 675000 - —67m - - L7 L RERGRME-F sFsAAE
35308
i7EssIA 675,000 - - - — 6T 107 1 AREAMERE  woFsAIAE
WU
Ms. Shek Mei Chun 31 May 2017 630,000 - — 030000 - - 107 107 Oneyearfomthe date 31 May 2018 10
of grant 30 May 2023
31 May 2017 630,000 - - - — 630000 107 107 Two years from the date 31 May 2019 t0
of grant 30 May 2024
{33 ¢n s sIA 630,000 - — 6 - - 07 L7 BREAAE-F asESIAE
035530A
i7EsAsIA 630,000 - - - — G0 107 1 AREAMERE  ooFsAIAE
WUES30H
Mr. Chung Chi Keung 31 May 2007 630,000 - — 030000 - - 107 107 Oneyearfomthe date 31 May 2018 10
of grant 30 May 2023
31 May 2017 630,000 - - - — 630,000 107 107 Two years from the date 31 May 2019 t0
of grant 30 May 2024
Vil 7SR 630,000 - — G - - 107 L7 RREAME-F asESIAE
0235530A
i7EsAsIA 630,00 - - - — G0 107 1 AREAMERE  ooFsAIAE
WUES30H
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Number of share options
Grant date
Cancelled/ Exercise ~ share price
Asat  Granted  Exercised  Lapsed  forfeited Asat  priceper  (adjusted)
1Jonuary  during  during  during  during 31 December share  (HKSper  Vesting Exercisable
Grantees Date of grant 233 theyear  theyear  theyear theyear N3 (HKS) share)  period period
LT T
2033 BRE/ RonE BREEE  (28%)
KEA GETE VI ERES ERERE ERKH W nAsE o GBn) (ERER) BEA frEM
Mr. Fan Chor Ho 31 May 2007 450,000 - — 450000 - - 107 107 Oneyearfomthedate 31 May 2018 10
of grant 30 May 203
31 May 2017 450,000 - - - — 450000 107 107 Twoyears fom the date 31 May 201910
of grant 30 May 2024
iy NirEsfsIA 450,000 - - - - L7 7 AREAME-F eEssIAE
UUEBHEI
N7 fisIA 50,00 - - - - o 17 7 AREAMERE  9EsAE
204FFsfi30A
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick 31 May 2017 450,000 - — 450000 - - 107 107 Oneyearfromthedate 31 May 2018 10
of grant 30 May 203
31 May 2017 450,000 - - - — 450000 107 107 Twoyears fom the date 31 May 201910
of grant 30 May 2024
FRELE N3 450,000 - - - - 107 7 AREAME-F O JeEsHsIAE
UEBHEI
N7 s 450,00 - - - - o L7 7 AREAMEREF  9EsiAE
204FFsi30R
Other eligible persons
HRg#AL
Employees 31 May 2017 8,572,500 - — 837050 - - 107 107 Oneyearfromthe dace 31 May 201810
of grant 30 May 203
31 May 2017 8,572,500 - - - — 85750 107 107 Two years fom the date 31 May 20190
of grant 30 May 2024
8 WA 5w - - 85N - - 7 7 AREAME-F eEssIAE
EBHEI
LS TEE L I ST/A ] - - - - 85N L7 7 AREAMERE  9EsAE
24FFsfi30R
10,815,000 - — 11407500 — 11407500

Furcher details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in

note 33 to the consolidated financial statements of this

annual report.

48

Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %% 5 [ 58 B 4% 1 A BR 2

A ) R R B 2O — 2P R R A AR

A5 o 0 B 3R B k33 B [ IR R R ) —

i oo



Disclosure of interests
Interests of Directors and chief executives

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company had the following interests
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance
(“SFO?”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies (the “Model Code”).
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Ordinary shares of one-third Hong Kong cent each of the

Company

Name of Director/
chief executive officers

Capacity/nature of interest

Number of shares
(Long Position)

A ) A TR E = 23 22— Al Y 3 A

Approximately
percentage of
shareholdings in
the Company

Al A 2> W ik HE

B EETHRABEAS Y/ VR E Rk I B H (5 8) RN
Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (“Mr. Kan”) Interest of controlled 886,959,000 shares (note 1) 68.39%
fljfa S e 2B (T e 2k D) corporation 886,959,000 % (Fff 5:1)

2 P % [ RE A

Beneficial owner 28,905,000 shares

X EDN 28,905,000 %

Beneficial owner 675,000 shares (note 3)

X EDN 675,000 % (Bff 5% 3)

Interest of spouse 630,000 shares (note 4)

C {1 HE 4 630,000 B (Fft 514)
Mr. Chung Chi Keung Interest of controlled 30,375,000 shares (note 2) 2.31%

(“Mr. Chung”) corporation 30,375,000 1% (Fff 51 2)

s e A ([8E e 4 ) 2 PR T RE A

Beneficial owner 630,000 shares (note 3)

Ha AN 630,000 (B 5% 3)
Ms. Shek Mei Chun (“Ms. Shek”) Interest of spouse 916,539,000 shares (note 5) 68.39%
AXBL (ALt Bic {1 HE 4 916,539,000 B (Fff 5% 5)

Beneficial owner 630,000 shares (note 3)

Ha AN 630,000 (Fff 5% 3)
Mr. Fan Chor Ho Beneficial owner 450,000 shares (note 3) 0.03%
SRR e Ha AN 450,000 % (B 53)
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick Beneficial owner 450,000 shares (note 3) 0.03%

TR ST
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Notes:

Save

Among these 886,959,000 shares, 729,000,000 shares, 57,339,000
shares and 100,620,000 shares are held by Immaculate Diamonds
Limited, King Jewel Limited and Classic Sapphire Holdings
Limited, respectively. The entire issued capital of Immaculate
Diamonds Limited and King Jewel Limited are owned by Mr. Kan.
50% of the issued capital of Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited
are held by Mr. Kan. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be
interested in all the shares of the Company held by Immaculate
Diamonds Limited, King Jewel Limited and Classic Sapphire

Holdings Limited.

These shares are held by Classic Emerald Holdings Limited, the
entire issued capital of which is held by Mr. Chung. Under the
SFO, Mr. Chung is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company held by Classic Emerald Holdings Limited.

These underlying shares represent the shares of the Company to
be issued upon the exercise of the share options granted by the
Company to the Directors or chief executives pursuant to the share

option scheme of the Company.

Mr. Kan and Ms. Shek are spouses. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company which may
be issued upon the exercise of the share options granted by the
Company to Ms. Shek.

Mr. Kan and Ms. Shek are spouses. Under the SFO, Ms. Shek is
deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held by
Mr. Kan and all the shares of the Company in which Mr. Kan is

deemed to be interested.

as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief

executives of the Company had any interests or short

positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures

of the Company or any associated corporation as recorded

in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the

SFO.
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% %5886,959,000 % B {43 & > 729,000,000 %
57,339,000 100,620,000 43 I H1 Immaculate
Diamonds Limited * King Jewel Limited & Classic
Sapphire Holdings Limited - i © Immaculate Diamonds
Limited % King Jewel Limited 2 4 #B €. % 17
A | flj 5 A B A > T Classic Sapphire Holdings
Limited & 81T 4 2 50% 1 flf S £ F5 A - M4
5 S W AR ) o 58 AR B B R Immaculate
Diamonds Limited * King Jewel Limited & Classic
Sapphire Holdings Limited T £ fi 2 4% 24 ® fi 47
Jie 0y o B A MR -

% % I 09 B Classic Emerald Holdings Limited #F
B SATZ W ET A ML AERA -
M5 3% 25 S B ) > 4 5T AR WA 4 R Classic
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B A3 T A ME A
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Substantial shareholders

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons or
corporations, other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company, had interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required

to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Ordinary shares of one-third Hong Kong cent each of the

F B R

R20234F12H31H > # B ZE A 3 5 L&
TG ) 5336 R fF B B e M rsd 8% > 1
G N B R (AR 28 A) 3 35 e AT A
BB AN A AR AN A 2 By K AR BRIy b
A HE 4

AR 2% ) A BT E = 0 22— W Al B 8 2 A

Company

Approximately
percentage of
Capacity/nature Number of shares shareholdings in
Name of shareholder of interest (Long position) the Company
i A< 23 W) e A #y
JBE SRk 4 L2/ R JBe tr B H (4F &) BE# b
Immaculate Diamonds Limited Beneficial owner 729,000,000 shares 54.36%

Immaculate Diamonds Limited T AN 729,000,000

Richemont Asset Management Limited Beneficial owner
Richemont Asset Management Limited £ % % A A

Chow Chin Yui Angela Interest of controlled
Ji 3 % corporation

32 Pl ¥ B HE A
Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited Beneficial owner

Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited Bt A A

Chan Wing Sum Interest of a controlled
B 7K A% corporation

3 Y5 ) % I E A
Classic Amber Holdings Limited Beneficial owner
Classic Amber Holdings Limited IR EEDN
Luo Jacky Interest of a controlled
A R corporation

3 Y5 ) % R A

91,460,997 shares 6.82%
91,460,997 %

93,436,782 shares (note 1) 6.97%
93,436,782/ (P 5E1)

100,620,000 shares 7.50%
100,620,000 /%

100,620,000 shares (note 2) 7.50%
100,620,000 i (Fft 5% 2)

101,250,000 shares 7.55%

101,250,000 %

101,250,000 shares (note 3) 7.55%
101,250,000 8 (Fff 553)
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Notes:

1. These shares are held by Richemont Asset Management Limited
and Cachet Asset Management Limited, the entire issued capital of
which is held by Ms. Chow Chin Yui Angela, Under the SFO, Ms.
Chow Chin Yui Angela is deemed to be interested in all the shares
of the Company held by Richemont Asset Management Limited
and Cachet Asset Management Limited.

2. These shares are held by Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited, 50%
of the issued capital of which is held by Mr. Chan Wing Sum.
Under the SFO, Mr. Chan Wing Sum is deemed to be interested in
all the shares of the Company held by Classic Sapphire Holdings
Limited.

3. These shares are held by Classic Amber Holdings Limited, the
entire issued capital of which is held by Mr. Luo Jacky. Under the
SFO, Mr. Luo Jacky is deemed to be interested in all the shares of
the Company held by Classic Amber Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
by any persons or corporations, other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company, who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as of the

date of this annual report.

Emolument policy

The Group’s employees are selected, remunerated and
p ploy
promoted based on their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The Company adopted the model set out in Code Provision
E.1.2(0)(ii) of Appendix Cl1 (formerly Appendix 14) to the
Listing Rules as its remuneration model for determining
the emoluments of the Directors. This model stipulates that
the remuneration committee of the Company shall make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management.
The remuneration committee of the Company would take
into consideration, among other things, the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors and senior management
and prevailing market conditions when determining their

remuneration.
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1. % % A B Richemont Asset Management Limited
RBEAEEERAMARFA - ZFAFAZAE
A B AT A th B bR o MR S
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2. i %5 Iy B Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited #:F
Ao s F B AT IRA Z50% 1 BR K £k 56 AR
A oo MR RE S5 KA B R > Bl K B g AR
%577 Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited BT 5 H
AN BT B B R RE AR e

3. #% %6 A0 1 Classic Amber Holdings Limited Ff A >
AT 2 AT AT A B SRR .
HR98 76 25 S 0 B 00 ) - AR IR ST A BAE 2 R
Classic Amber Holdings Limited I £ Z 4% /A ]
JIT A R v R A -

B b SO B8R F AN A AEIRA M - AL
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5 RC BT RO ek R AR 23 ] Y e 4 s B T
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The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme to
grant share options to the Eligible Participants, including
Directors, as incentives or rewards for their contribution to

the Group.

Related party transactions

Particulars of the Company’s related party Transactions are
set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions also constitute connected
transaction and continuing connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company has complied with the relevant requirements
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to these
transactions. Connected transaction and continuing
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules are disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above. Related party transactions other
than those disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transaction” and “Continuing Connected Transaction” are
fully exempt connected transactions as defined under the
Listing Rules.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

Shareholders.

Purchase, sale or redemption of listing
securities

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: the Company repurchased
8,991,000 of its own shares from the market which were

subsequently cancelled).
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Major property information FEDEEHR
The following table sets the Group’s property portfolio TREINALEEY EHEGME — FED
summary — Properties held for sale: EX7E %
Approximate
Existing/ gross floor Group’s
Property Location intended use Stage of completion Term of land area (sq.m.) interest (%)
"/ B4 B AEMHEG
R LE] BelEmie 5 LB LH MK B (A k) (%)
Perfect Group Jewellery Industry ~ Perfect Group Jewellery Industrial units, shops, canteen,  Completed Medium 94,788 100
Park Industry Park, No.1 Jade Road, Yang'e car parks and dormitory

Village Committee, Lunjiao
Subdistrict, Shunde District, Foshan
City, Guangdong Province, China.
(post code: 528300)
REFEEEDL TRERARLITIEERRAGE REEG B gl i
IRHZEERMRRERE A% HERER
B (BBH 52830

There was no property held for investment as at 31 R20234F12 H31H - BEMERRAEBCE Y 3 o
December 2023.
Sufficiency of public float i A L

Based on the information that is publicly available to the AR 8 A 2N B TT HUAS 2 4 B R % % 9 T
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the B AN T 4 %:'EZ@\/!_\\/E\?\T# B o
Company has maintained sufficient public float. /

Corporate governance report y 3
p 8 p 1 E BT/ HE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can AL RSB TS B2

be found in the Corporate Governance Report set out on AR ST TG E T A 2 A R
pages 57 to 76 in this annual report. a

2023 Annual Report “FE#HE 55



Report of the Directors

EH RS

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) has resigned as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 21 April 2023
as Deloitte and the Company could not reach a consensus
on the audit service fee regarding the annual audit for
the financial year ended 31 December 2023. The Board,
with the recommendation from the Audit Committee, has
resolved to appoint Moore CPA Limited (formerly known
as Moore Stephens CPA Limited) as the new auditor of the
Company with effect from 21 April 2023 to fill the casual

vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.

Review of results by audit committee

The Group’s final results for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been reviewed by the audit committee of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Kan Kin Kwong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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The Company strives to attain and maintain a high
standard of corporate governance as it believes that
effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to
enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding interests of
sharcholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board
attributes a high priority to identifying and implementing
appropriate corporate governance practices to ensure

transparency, accountability and effective internal controls.

Code on corporate governance practices

The Company is committed to maintaining good standard
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
responsibility. The Company has adopted the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
Cl (formerly Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules. Since the
date of listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has met the applicable code provisions set out in
Part 2 of the CG Code, except for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as explained below. The
Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices which are considered appropriate to the operations
and growth of its business.

Corporate culture and strategy

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate
culture, namely customer centricity, excellence in sales of
jewellery products, properties and electricity, people first
and positivity, which is underpinned by its purpose and
values that enable employees at all levels of the Group to
thrive and meet their full potentials by acting in a lawful,
ethical and responsible manner that allows the Company to
deliver sustainable long-term performance and operate in a

way that benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they
are integrated throughout the Company’s operational
practices, workplace policies and practices and stakeholder
relationships.

Corporate Governance Report
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The management is responsible for setting the tone and
shaping the corporate culture of the Company, as well
as defining the purpose, values and strategic direction of
the Group, which are under review by the Board. Taking
into account the corporate culture is reflected in various
contexts, such as workforce engagement, employee retention
and training, legal and regulatory compliance, staff safety,
wellbeing and support, the culture, purpose, value and
strategy of the Group are aligned with one another.

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The role of the chairman of the Board has been
assumed by Mr. Kan Kin Kwong, who is also the chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Kan, as the founder
of the Group, has extensive experience and knowledge in
the fine jewellery industry and is responsible for managing
the overall operations of the Group and planning the
business development and strategies. The Directors consider
that vesting the roles of the chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company in the same
individual is beneficial to the management and business
development of the Group. The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operations of the Board and the
senior management, which comprise experienced and high
calibre individuals. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company at a time
when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account

the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Model Code

The Company adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 (formerly Appendix 10) of the Listing Rules
as the code of conduct for Directors in their dealings in the
securities of the Company.
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Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company is satisfied that the Directors have complied with
the Model Code.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies
and monitoring the performance of the business of the
Group. Other than the daily operational decisions which
are delegated to the management of the Group, most of the
decisions are taken by the Board. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The Board constituted by six members, including three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (Note) (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Chi Keung
Ms. Shek Mei Chun (Note)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Fan Chor Ho
Mr. Lee Ka Wing
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick

Note: Mr. Kan and Ms. Shek are spouses.

Biographical details of each Director and relationship
between board members are set out on pages 30 to 35 of
this annual report.

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and
directors’ services contracts” in the Report of the Directors

of this annual report.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. At lease one of the independent non-
executive Directors possesses the appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise. The Board is of the view that the following
mechanisms adopted by the Company are effective in
ensuring that independent views and inputs are available to
the Board:

*  The Board is represented by sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors which meets the

requirement of the Listing Rules.

. In assessing suitability of the Director candidates,
the Board will consider their profiles, including
their character, experience, qualifications and time
commitment; the Board will also consider to the
Board’s overall composition and skill matrix as well as

the Company’s diversity policy.

. The Board will review each Director’s time

commitment to the Company’s business annually.

. The Board will assess non-executive Directors’

independence upon appointment and annually.

. Directors are required to abstain from voting in

matters in which they have material interest.

e Directors can upon reasonable request seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s

expenses to discharge their duties.

The quality of deliberations at meetings of the Board
are reviewed during the annual evaluation of the Board’s

performance.
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Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
and indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Insurance for its Directors and officers
covering the costs, losses, expenses and liabilities arising
from the performance of their duties. The insurance policy
covers legal action against its Directors and officers to
comply with the requirement of the Code. During the year,
no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the

Company.

The attendance records of each Director at the various
meetings of the Company during the year ended 31

December 2023 are set out as follows:
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Mr. Kan Kin Kwong it N 414 0/0 0/0 N 1N
M. Chung Chi Keung R 111 414 11 0/0 0/0 0/0
Ms. Shek Mei Chun (3 A e 1N 414 0/0 0/0 0/0 1

Independent non-executive Directors B # 17 # %
Mr. Fan Chor Ho et et 1N 414 0/0 414 in 00
Mr. Lee Ka Wing BREEE 1 414 l) 414 N 11
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick wREEA 11 4/4 11 4/4 0/0 0/0

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials, and the advice and services of
the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), and has the liberty to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense if so
reasonably required. Directors will be continuously updated
on the major development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance

and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.

BUEFHAEAEMEFE I LMEE
I AL /N /A RS (A R 3
fe R R M Es o KT AE A B S UL =
KRB HEFR - BRBALFRYE - #
O A A A B TR e At 7
B RLE 2 HOREE R DA R A Rl BN
Jo HE R R IR AR SEE A WO -

2023 Annual Report “FJE#H4E 61



Corporate Governance Report
(e S o0:E: g

Board committees EHEEY

The Board has established four committees, namely FREFTITRANMEZES > 2l AEZE
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the BE((HEZZEE]) RELZAT(HEA

nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), ZHG) - FMNZES(HFMEZRE ) R
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration ApEMEZEg(EREEMLEZES]) T

Committee”) and the risk management committee (the KA TEFORNEAZSEZTEG R
“Risk Management Committee”). The table below provides Yo AR B AL
the membership information of these committees on which

certain Board members served:

Risk
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Management
Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee

Directors J& B
HH HRZEE RAEZEE FMZEE HHZAE
Mr. Kan Kin Kwong i fi % 4 - C - C
Mr. Chung Chi Keung W EE - - M -
Ms. Shek Mei Chun AEB L+ - - - M
Mr. Fan Chor Ho SRRl e M M - -
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick WL C - M -
M. Lee Ka Wing ERREEE M M C M

Notes: B 5

C — Chairman of the relevant Committee C-FRZEgEH

M — Member of the relevant Committee M-AHZEEGRE
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Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 and Rule 3.22
of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the Audit Committee have been modelled off the Code
Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Throughout the year, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fan
Chor Ho, Mr. Lee Ka Wing and Mr. Wong Wai Keung
Frederick. Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick is the chairman
of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include:

- Consider the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, the audit fee
and terms of engagements, and any questions of

resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

—  Review the financial statements and provide material
advice in respect of financial reporting of the Group;

and

- Oversight of internal control procedures and risk

management of the Group.

Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held no less than
two times a year. Four meetings of the Audit Committee

were held during the review year.
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Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference with effect from 14 December 2015 and
throughout the year, comprises one executive Director,
namely Mr. Kan Kin Kwong and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fan Chor Ho and Mr.
Lee Ka Wing. Mr. Kan Kin Kwong is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The duties of the Nomination Committee shall be:

—  Review the structure, size and composition (including
the gender, age, cultural background, education
background, skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement

the Company’s corporate strategy;

—  Identify individuals suitably qualified to become
board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated

for directorships;

—  Assess the independency of independent non-executive

Directors;

- Make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the

chairman and the chief executive; and

—  Review the board diversity policy (including
the gender, age, cultural background, education
background, skills, knowledge and experience) as
appropriate and to review the measurable objectives
under the board diversity policy and the progress
of the attainment of the objectives, so as to ensure
effective implementation; and make disclosure of its
review results in the corporate governance report.

Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held no

less than once a year. One meeting of the Nomination

Committee was held during the review year.
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Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Diversity Policy”) which embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company would try
to seek board candidates with reference to the Company’s
business model and specific needs, including (but not
limited to) gender, regional and industry experience,
skills, knowledge and educational background. Currently
the Board comprises five (83.3%) males and one (16.7%)
females. The Company will continue to enforce and
review the Diversity Policy. In particular, when the Board
identifies potential Director candidates in the future, it will
ensure that sufficient consideration will be given to gender
diversity in light of the gender distribution of the boards of
listed issuers on the Stock Exchange which operates in the

same industry as the Company.

The Board will review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress

made towards achieving those objectives.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 66 male employees
and 93 female employees, representing approximately
41.5% and 58.5% of the workforce (including senior
management), respectively. The Group’s recruitment
and promotion policy is underpinned by the principle of
appointment of the right person for the right position, in
order to achieve employee diversity. The Board considers
that the current gender ratio of the workforce of the Group

is appropriate for its operations.
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Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14
December 2015 and throughout the year, comprises one
executive Director, namely Mr. Chung Chi Keung and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lee Ka
Wing and Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick. Mr. Lee Ka

Wing is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
The duties of the Remuneration Committee shall be:

—  Make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure

for developing remuneration policy;

- eview and approve the management’s remuneration
R d th t
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate

goals and objectives;

- Make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive

Directors and senior management;

- Make recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration of non-executive Directors;

—  Consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment

conditions elsewhere in the Group;

—  Review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure
that it is consistent with contractual terms and is

otherwise fair and not excessive;

—  Review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and

appropriate; and
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—  Ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) is involved in

deciding his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
have been revised on 5 June 2023 and is posted on the
designated website of the Stock Exchange and the website
of the Company.

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held not
less than once a year. One meeting of the Remuneration

Committee was held during the review year.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of CG Code, the
remuneration of members of senior management by band

for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:
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Risk management committee

The Risk Management Committee was established on 14
December 2015 and throughout the year, comprises two
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kan Kin Kwong and
Ms. Shek Mei Chun and one independent Non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Lee Ka Wing. Mr. Kan Kin Kwong is

the chairman of the Risk Management Committee.
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The duties of the Risk Management Committee shall be
monitoring the Company’s exposure to sanctions law risks
and its implementation of the related internal control

procedures, and shall include:

—  Reviewing and approving all relevant business
transaction documentation from suppliers or
customers or potential customers from any
country that is subject to sanctions (the “Relevant

Counterparty”);

—  Reviewing the information (such as identity
and nature of business) relating to the Relevant
Counterparty to the contract along with the draft

business transaction documentation;

—  Checking the Relevant Counterparty against the
various lists of restricted parties and countries
maintained by the United States of America, the
European Union, the United Nations and Australia,
including, without limitation, any government,
individual or entity that is the subject of any United
States Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign
Assets Control-administered sanctions which lists
are publicly available, and determining whether the
Relevant Counterparty is, or is owned or controlled
by, a person located in any country that is subject to

sanctions or a sanctioned person;

— Reviewing on a semi-annual basis internal control
policies and procedures with respect to sanctions law

matters; and

- If any potential sanctions risk is identified, or
if the Committee considers necessary, retaining
external international legal counsel with necessary
expertise and experience in sanctions law matters for

recommendations and advice.
Meetings of the Risk Management Committee shall be

held no less than once a year. One meeting of the Risk

Management Committee was held during the review year.
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Continuous professional development

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. During the year, the Group has
provided training materials for all the Directors to keep
them abreast of the latest development of legal, regulatory
and corporate governance. The Group, together with its
compliance adviser, continuously updates the Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate

governance practices.

Company secretary

Ms. Tang Kam Man, aged 35, has been appointed as the
chief financial officer, the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company, all with effect
from 8 November 2023. The biography of Ms. Tang is set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. She has
fulfilled no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training requirement under the Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Accountability and audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Directors aim to present a clear and understandable
assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects.
The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, the Board therefore continues to adopt the going
concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. The Board acknowledges
its responsibility to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and
interim reports, inside information announcements and
other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules,

and reports to the regulators.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect
to the financial reporting are set out in the Independent

Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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Disclosure of long term basis for generating
or preserving business value

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s corporate strategy
and long term business model is set out in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis of

this annual report.

Risk management and internal controls

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of a stable
and effective risk management and internal control
systems for the Group and also responsible for reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board, with the assistance from
the Audit Committee, conducted annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems as required by the Code Provisions,
covering financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, and including reviews on the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial report function for the Period

and considered they were effective and adequate.

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to
ensure that information contained in announcements or
circulars are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact
in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and

negative facts.
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Conflicts of interest declaration

The Group adopted conflict of interest declaration policy
as one of the important internal control procedures.
Employees are required to provide annual declaration of
conflict of interest, and strictly comply with the policy to
ensure that the Group and its customers, business partners,
Shareholders, employees and business community of the
transactions and dealings are in line with the highest

standards of business conduct and ethics.

Whistleblowing policy
The Group established a whistleblowing policy for

employees under confidentiality to file complaint and
report any suspected misconduct, fraud and irregularities,
in an orderly manner. A designated director is assigned for
receiving, reviewing complaint and report, to investigate, to
draw conclusion and to make appropriate recommendations
for improvement, and inform the relevant departments

senior management to implement corrective action.

The review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Board engaged Apec Risk Management Limited to
conduct an independent review of the systems of internal
control and risk management of the Group. Weakness
and inadequacies identified during such review together
with recommendations for improvement thereon had
been accepted and implemented in full by the Company
and reviewed by the Audit Committee. Based on this,
the Company is of the view that the systems of internal
control and risk management in place for the year ended 31
December 2023 is sufficient to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the Group’s assets.
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Auditor’s remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had
engaged external auditor, Moore CPA Limited (formerly
known as Moore Stephens CPA Limited), to provide the

following services:
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Service Fee

M B &

HK$

T

Audit services 1% B4R 5 910,000
Interim review services Hh A % B IR S 230,000

Investor relations and communication with
shareholders

The Board recognizes the importance of good
communication with the Shareholders. The Company
believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is the

key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication
channels, including (a) the annual and extraordinary
general meetings which provide a forum for Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed corporate
documents mailing to Sharcholders; (c) announcement
disseminating the latest activities of the Group on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange; and (d)
the Company’s website providing an electronic means of

communication.
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The general meetings are valuable forums for direct
communications between the Board and Sharcholders. The
Directors and members of various Board committees will
attend the general meetings of the Company. Shareholders
can raise questions directly to the Board in respect of the
performance and future development of the Group. At
other times, Shareholders and investors can put enquires by
writing to the Company for the attention of an executive
Director, or the company secretary, whose contact channels
are set out above under “Procedures by which Enquiries
may be Put to the Board”. The Company regularly reviews
its sharcholders’ communication policy and evaluates its
implementation and effectiveness. In light of the above, the
Company considered that its shareholders’ communication

policy is relevant and effective.

Annual general meeting

The Board and senior management are well aware of their
important tasks of acting on behalf of the interests of all
the Shareholders and raising the Sharcholders’ returns. The
Board considers that AGM is an important opportunity for
direct communication with the Shareholders. Code A.6.7 of
the Code Provisions require that independent non-executive
directors and non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the Shareholders. The Board encourages all the
Shareholders to participate in the AGM where the members
of the Board and external auditors will be present and

communicate with the Shareholders.
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Shareholders’ rights

How Shareholder Can Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

In accordance with Article 58 of the Articles of Association,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call an extraordinary
general meeting. Any one or more Sharcholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to

the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the
Board. Such enquiries can be addressed to the Company
Secretary in writing by mail to the Company’s registered
office in the Cayman Islands at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands or its principal place of business in Hong Kong
and headquarters at 26/F, YHC Tower, No. 1 Sheung Yuet
Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at

Shareholders’ Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders
to put forward new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a new resolution
may request the Company to convene a general meeting
in accordance with the procedures set out in the above
paragraph heading “How Shareholder Can Convene an

Extraordinary General Meeting”.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director

If a sharcholder wishes to nominate a person to stand for
election as a Director at a general meeting, the relevant
documents must be validly served on the Company’s
registered office in the Cayman Islands or the place of
business in Hong Kong and headquarters within the
requisite period of time. The full details of the procedures
for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director were posted on 31 December 2015 on the web-site

of the Company at http://www.hkperjew.com.hk.

Significant changes in constitutional
documents

A special resolution has been passed at the Company’s
annual general meeting held on 5 June 2023 to adopt
the Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company in order to
comply with the amendments to the Listing Rules and
the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, and to allow a
general meeting to be held as an electronic meeting and/
or a hybrid meeting where Shareholders may attend by
electronic means in addition to or in lieu of a physical
meeting where Shareholders attend in person. A copy of the
Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company is posted on the designated
website of the Stock Exchange and the website of the
Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”) of Perfect Group International Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) provides an update information on the
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) work of the
Group from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Year”). The Report is principally prepared with
reference to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (“the ESG Reporting Guide”) issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and key performance indicators with reference
to Appendix C2 (formerly known as Appendix 27) to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong.

REPORTING SCOPE

The Group operates its principal business in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) and
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and therefore the
Report only covers the Group’s operation in these two
areas. The principal business of the Group is designing,
manufacturing and sales of high-end fine jewellery
(primarily mounted with diamonds), development, sales,
and leasing of the Group’s integrated and comprehensive
industry park (the “Perfect Group Jewellery Industry
Park”)* (f# #% Bk B &= % L) located in the PRC,
and the provision of management services to the Perfect
Group Jewellery Industry Park properties and a third-
party project. The Group has completed the acquisition
of Guangdong Kaisi New Energy Company Limited
(“Guangdong Kaisi”)* (FE 18 W sE I A R A A
which was established in the PRC and principally engaged
in photovoltaic power generation projects in August 2023,
and therefore such segment would also be included in the

Report this Reporting Year.
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The Report also focuses on the following two subject areas

during the Reporting Year:

A. Environmental (emissions, use of resources
consumption, together with the environmental and

natural resources and climate change)

B. Social (employment, health and safety, development
and training, labour standards, supply chain
management, product responsibility, anti-corruption

and community investment)

This Report summarizes the performance contributed
by the Group in respect of environmental and corporate
social responsibility for the year ended 31 December 2023,
covering its principal activities in the operation of jewellery
business, property management business and the operation
of photovoltaic power generation projects which was

acquired in August 2023.

For details of the Group’s corporate governance, please also
refer to the Corporate Governance Report included in the
Annual Report 2023 of the Group.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has
overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring
that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems are in place. The Executive
Directors are responsible for formulating ESG management
policies, strategies, goals, and annual reporting and
promoting related implementation. They also identify,
evaluate, review, and manage major ESG issues, risks and
opportunities while other departments are responsible for
organizing, promoting, and implementing various ESG
related tasks under the Group’s ESG management policies
and strategies, including collecting and analysing relevant

information and data on the ESG aspects, supervising and
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evaluating the Group’s ESG performance relating to various
aspects such as the environment, health and safety, labour
standard and product and service responsibility, ensuring
that the Group abides by relevant laws and regulations
and assisting to formulate ESG priorities. All tasks will
be reported to the Board annually in order to review and
reformulate the policies and plans for achievement of goals
and targets. The progress of target implementation and
the performance of the goals and targets would be closely
reviewed from time to time. Rectification may be needed
if the progress falls short of expectation. As a responsible
enterprise, the Group considers the commitments of the
ESG be part of its responsibility and is dedicated to embed

the ESG factors into the decision-making process.

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining
sound ESG risk management and internal control
systems within the Group. Through exercising oversight
on the Group’s management and active and conducive
communication with management personnels and
employees who are involved in the day-to-day operation of
the Group’s business, the Board is able to identify material
ESG risks in the aspects of emissions, consumption of
resources, impact on natural resources and climate change,
as well as other social aspects pertaining to our Group.
The Board is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring
the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG risk management
and internal control systems, and for ensuring that the
Group has taken reasonable measures to manage significant
risks. The Group believes that ESG risks have gradually
becoming an important factor in its business, and has taken
the approach to incorporate ESG risks into its routine risk
management process as a means of enhancing its overall
risk evaluation, prioritizing and management and control

capabilities.
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REPORTING STANDARDS AND

PRINCIPLES

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
“mandatory disclosure requirements” and “comply or
explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide under
Appendix C2 (formerly known as Appendix 27) to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange. During its preparation, the Group adheres to

the reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance

and consistency by:

Reporting Principles

e # D

Interpretation

i B
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The Group’s Application
A 4 Y

Materiality

HE A

Quantitative

Balance

F

The report should disclose significant impacts
on the environment and society, or aspects that
materially affect how the stakeholders assess

the company and make decisions.
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The KPIs disclosed in the report shall be

calculable and comparable where applicable.
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The Group should objectively and truthfully
report its ESG performance for the Reporting

Year.
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The Group conducts questionnaire to
understand stakeholders” expectations. Based
on the results of the questionnaire, the Group
identifies and reports the Group’s material
sustainability issues.
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Under feasible situation, the Group records,
calculates and discloses quantitative
information and conducts comparisons with
past performance.
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The Group follows the principles of

accuracy, objectivity and fairness to report its
achievements and challenges in sustainable
development.
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Reporting Principles  Interpretation The Group’s Application
e IR i F# A 4 i e
Consistency The ESG report should be prepared in The Group ensures consistency in preparing
a consistent manner, its ESG’s KPIs can the report and manage its ESG data for future
be compared to understand corporate comparison. If there are any changes to the
performance. methodologies, calculations, or any other
factors that affect meaningful comparison, the
Group will make a clear explanation.
— B ESG #t # 8 LA — Boiy 7 U8 B - FLESGRR 7 48 1 ffe O A o5 19 — Bom > S0 B

R CIE R ] TR o DAT R AR R

KB -

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on the Report for
our sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email to

info@hkperjew.com.hk.

APPROVAL OF THE REPORT
The Report was approved by the Board of the Group.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

We identified the key stakeholders of our business
operations and interacted with our stakeholders regularly
through various communication channels. The following
table illustrates the issues of concern of our major

stakeholders and the ways we communicate with them:
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Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
fify & i) SHRHE 1 i
Government —  Abide by laws and regulations —  Onssite inspections and checks ~ —  Operated, managed and paid
—  Fulfil duty to pay tax —  Company website taxes according to laws and
— Promote regional economic regulations, strengthened safety
development and employment management
—  Accepted the government’s
supervision, inspection and
evaluation
B Jif —  HETEREREM —  ERHEREA —  RRERRERLE BN
—  BUBBEH AGECE B~ o g A

—  WELRA R L

—  EXEUNEE - W& R
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Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
it # me SHRHE i i
Shareholders and —  Provide high transparency for —  Annual general meeting and —  Issued notices of general meeting
Investors information disclosure other shareholder meetings and proposed resolutions
—  Protect sharcholder’s rightsand ~ —  Annual report, interim report according to regulations
interest and announcements —  Disclosed Company’s
—  Company website information by publishing annual
reports, interim reports and
announcements
—  Disclosed company contact
details on website and in reports
and ensured all communication
channels available and effective
R S E — REEFEVENEREE —  BREFERGRAMERE —  RESBHEERGEEK
—  REBCRHER * P §S
—  EEC R A —  EBTRER - PMWE L
— Al O % A R R B R
—  TAH R e R R
A7 2 e DR BT A R
A HA
Employees —  Education and training —  Employee communication —  Provided a healthy and safe

=
Pt

Career development
opportunities

Health and safety working
environment

Safeguard the rights and interests
of employees

BE R

LES YT §]

fil B 5% 2 ) AR 3R 85

R 1 B 42

— Training, seminars and briefing
sessions

— Intranet and emails

— [RE#E
—  HI meenfiee
—  REHEERET B
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working conditions and
environment

Provided training to employee
Provided attractive remuneration

packages
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Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
fify & M SHRE 1 i
Customers —  Provide safe, high-quality Website, brochures and annual ~ —  Provided prompt quality,
products report customized products
—  Stable relationship Email and customer service
—  Business ethics hotline
Complaint handling mechanism
Regular meetings
Sale representatives’ visits
xR — Rtk EEMER Ak~ F MR —  RMEREEENERILER
—  RENER BT WK F M # AR
—  TREWE R IE T B
& W&k
&R
Suppliers —  Honest cooperation Suppliers review and assessment  —  Performed contracts according to

11 7

Public and communities

— Strong relationship

—  WREAE
—  HEIEE

—  Discharge social responsibilities

— Community involvement

—  EfHeEfs
_  HEsHE

Z N

Regular meetings

A4 1 7 2 B
& W&k

Volunteering

Charity and social investment
Annual report

Donation

5 R
EEEAGRE
ER

1

agreements

—  Enhanced daily communication,
and established long-term
cooperation with quality
suppliers and contractors

— WEBEETAH

— TR HEEE > BRIt
W RRENELRMAER
1%

—  Cartied out charitable activities

—  Provided volunteer service, kept
communication channels open
between the Company and the
communities

— HREERD

—  REEERE REARQFE
S AL [ B 3 8 A W8
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Materiality Assessment

With a growing population, challenges such as climate
change, energy supply and security, raw material scarcity,
human health and safety, and employment must be
addressed to ensure that people can lead healthy and
fulfilling lives. Faced with a wide range of issues, the
Group is keen to identify the key ESG issues that have a
great impact on its stakeholders and business, and then
to develop its strategic priorities. This is why materiality
assessment is an essential part of the Group’s ESG
management and reporting. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report
with reference to recommendations of the ESG Reporting
Guide, the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Guidelines
and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
(“SASB”) Standards.
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The Group has established a stakeholder-driven approach to

analysing the importance of ESG and identified 12 issues

most relevant to the Group’s business. A questionnaire

was then conducted, in which stakeholders were invited to

rate the issues based on their importance to the Group’s

business and to the stakeholders themselves.

A. Environmental

1.

Emissions

The Group’s operation does not result in
significant air and greenhouse gas emissions
or, discharges into water and land. The wastes
created during the operation are mainly
generated from electricity consumption and
usage of vehicles fleet. During the Reporting
Year, the Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations which have significant
impact on us. Such laws and regulations
include but are not limited to Law of the PRC
on Environmental Protection* (H % A | 3t
0 B BR 55 A% 7 7)), Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution* (H
3ENR A K V5 G B IR 15), Law of the
PRC on the Prevention and Control of Pollution
from Environmental Noise* (7 # A R 3 F0
BRI M B Y5 YL B VR 15), Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution of Solid Waste* (% A B 3L Fl
] HE 8% W) 75 Y IR B B IR 1), the Regulations
on Environmental Protection Management of
Construction Projects* (£ 5% M H B2 57 ff i
A, Law of the PRC on the Renewable
Energy* (5 2O R 3 A B AT TR AR VR ),
Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact
Assessment® (HFHE A R 3L A B BR BE R 2T (H
%), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting
Year, the Group did not receive any notification
on non-compliance with laws and regulations

that have significant impacts on the Group.
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During the Reporting Year, most of nitrogen
oxides (NOx), sulphur oxides (SOx) and
particulate matter (PM) were emitted from fuel
consumption of electricity and vehicle fleet.
During the Reporting Year, it is estimated
that 9,012 litres (2022: 3,831 litres) of petrol
and 0.9 million kWh (2022: 0.9 million kWh)
of electricity were consumed. The increase in
petrol usage was mainly due to the recovery
from the effect of the coronavirus disease 2019
(the“COVID-197), the consumption of fuel by
the vehicles for business travel between Hong
Kong and PRC increased as a result during
the Reporting Year. The Group has policy
and guideline to maintain the efficient use of
electricity and use of petrol.

During the Reporting Year and the corresponding
year in 2022, the air pollutant emissions from
the operation are set out below:

RMEFEERN KO RELY
(NOx) * it S8k (SOx) & B 17 ki T (PM)
) BETBCIR B B J7 S B BRI T RE R T
R AR EER Al FF 2 OE FE9,0127F
(20224 = 3,831 7F) ¥t 20.9 [ # T FL IRf
(20224F 1 0.9A & T L KF) & 1 o it ¥
HAERE N > Rk A B B 3 iR
H20194F 7t Ik 9% 2 ([COVID-19)) B9 5
A T DL R AR A S Brb B A H ) R
T i A7 B 0 BRI RE = 1 n BT B -
A 4L B 2 E BUR KR 5| > DLAEREE
J3 B VR B R e

AR AE B KR E AY20224F > 45 E
T A Y 22 S TS e BE R R

Air Pollutant Emission

2R Rk &2
Air Pollutant Emission (kg)
ZREG R E (T %)
2023 2022
Type of Air Pollutants R R BN 20234 20224F
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) fit &AL ¥ (SOx) 0.48 0.21
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) A ALY (NOx) 4.78 1.99
Particulate Matter (PM) Y& 7R T (PM) 0.73 0.31
Intensity (kg/Revenue HK$’000) B (T3, Tl A) 0.000020 0.000007
Note: B 51 -
1. The air pollutants emissions mainly include the 1. 22 5805 Y W) BRI T HE B IR

Sulphur Oxides, Nitrogen Oxides and Particulate

Matter generated by vehicle petrol consumption.

2. The emissions data of Sulphur Oxides, Nitrogen Oxides
and Particulate Matter are based on “the Preparation
of Air Pollutants Emission Inventory for Road Vehicles
(Trial)”, “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the Stock Exchange.
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During the Reporting Year and the corresponding
year in 2022, the greenhouse gas (“GHG”)

emissions from the operation are set out below:

BN~ e RGN

TR AE R R E 020224 > A SEE S E
i FE PG IR SRR (TR SRR ) PR R
T

GHG Emission
% R P i =
Equivalent CO2 emission (tonnes)
AR R P R (A )

2023 2022
Type of GHG emissions 2 5 R A 20234 20224F
Scopel: Direct GHG emissions A R R R 22.00 9.34
Scope2: Indirect GHG emissions i B2 fH] L RO PR 471.98 495.03
Total e 493.98 504.37

Intensity I
(tonnes/revenue HK$’000) (AWE /5T # Tl A) 0.001 0.001

Note:

The calculation of the greenhouse gas emission is based on
the “Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from
greenhouse gas protocol, “How to prepare an ESG Report
— Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, latest released
emission factors of China’s regional power grid basis, the
emission factor released by the CLP Power Hong Kong in
2022, Calculating Methods and Reporting Guidelines for
Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Land Transport Enterprises
(Trial)* (P £ 52 78 78 fi £ S 0 % 508 PR B 07 &
L 45 F (Rl AT)).

Scope 1: Refer to direct emissions from vehicles owned by

the Group;

Scope 2: Refer to indirect emissions mainly from the

generation of purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

Scope 3 is not disclosed as it is an optional disclosure.

R

L2 SRR PR R R B R R E R R A
RO M 2 G R IR AR B
ST A 0 CUn o] AR AR R B 4L & KR
HE — BRF Bk BR b T SR A S I
T8 T1) ~ i B B A 00 [ [ ek R A O e AR
BECH 7~ EE R A R A | R 20224
ORI o P N = a1 T
R P R B O ik B R 48 R GGRAT)
R

1 R AR A A TR PR
2 - 1R A SR R O R T AR
F ] 4 B i o

R 1 5 A3 o R J AT 8 A B OH o
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During the Reporting Year and the corresponding
year in 2022, the hazardous and non-hazardous

waste generated from the operation are set out

A S A R R A E B920224F > AR
FE S E A E N E
Wi

below:
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste
FHEREFEERD

2023 2022
Category Wil 20234 20224F
Hazardous waste (tonnes) HE Y (A W) 403
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes) HE T BE FEY) (M) 1

Hazardous waste intensity AEBEEMEE
(tonnes/revenue HK$’000) (AW 5T It A) 0.001077

Non-hazardous waste intensity E R EE
(tonnes/revenue HK$’000) (A WE /8T Tl A) 0.000003 0.000002

The primary hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes generated from our production processes
are wastewater and commercial wastes
respectively. To ensure the operation of our
factory is in compliance with the applicable
environmental law, the Group has established a
Wastewater Treatment Centre within the Perfect
Group Jewellery Industry Park to collect the
wastewater produced in our factory’s production
process, and we entered into an agreement with
a qualified water treatment service provider
responsible for the operation of the Wastewater
Treatment Centre during the Reporting Year.
After undergoing treatment, the hazardous
residues in the wastewater will be managed and
recycled by certified providers of hazardous
waste disposal services. Yet, insufficient data was
captured in place to document the generation
of hazardous waste as the Company relied
mainly on the qualified service provider for the
wastewater treatment before emission to the
public sewage. The Company would consider
enhancing the collection process regarding such

information in the future.

Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %% 5 [ 58 B 4% 1 A BR 2
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During the Reporting Year, the Perfect Group
Jewellery Industry Park has also completed the
construction of Zero Discharge of Sewage* (15
K % {8 PE) and carried out environmental
standardization programme, resulting in no
emission of wastewater to the public sewage

system after it was processed.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did
not generate significant hazardous and non-
hazardous waste, and did not consume
significant amount of water due to its business

nature.

In addition, the Group advocates emission
reduction, and is committed to achieving
sustainable operations and compliance with
emission requirements permitted by the
local authorities. To this end, we have set
management and control targets by 2027 in
reducing the intensity of air pollutant emission,
GHG emission, and waste production by 3%,
with 2022 as the baseline year. For the coming
year 2024, the Group is committed to actively
implement the environmental initiatives,
including the air pollutants control plan,
electricity-saving measures, material-saving plan
and waste reduction plan. These efforts will be
based on the progress made in the Reporting
Year, with the target of reducing the intensity
of waste production, air pollutants emissions
and GHG gas emissions by 3% by 2027. The
Group will review the progress and explore
more opportunities for various environmental
protection goals. In the future, we will consider
setting more specific quantitative environmental
goals to nurture the environment and cherish
natural resources. Moreover, we are investing
more resources in recycling to help the

development of circular economy.

BN~ e RGN

T A BE A PROEE BRE E
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bR J2 BR OR 2 AR A ) o DR G AR
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AR AR N > R A I
BVEE > AR EAEERA
EXRWEREEY - NEFEAKRE
KE R -

AN > A S B B PR > B
BB T R A 4808 RN 1 ST b B
R BEBCE R o Byt FRAM R
FE 220274 5% 22 55 Gk W) Bk R
EmERMEE R E R EEY
7E A PG 3% (Lh20224F Fy Jik #E 4E)
()& P2 B A o 7E B 3] 2R 192024
GO NE ST S 8 T
AR B KRR
HilEEE - B E A AR E A
B KR B - % TR B
AR R R E R R . B AR
& E20274 M B AR - 22 RS
e Wy e R K = SRR PR R =
FEREAK3% o A% 42 [ 6 A o) o R
WAKHRREAERREZS K -
FA o FRA S RE % e o H
BlLRBEEHE DRAERE K2
ARG VR - BAh > A B R IE
TE [ Y5 A O T AR O 2 &R
DA B % R A0 B AR o

2023 Annual Report “FE#HE 89



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B - A Rl

90

For each target established, the Group has placed
the following measures to achieve the targets for
air pollutants emissions, GHG emissions and

waste production.

1. Carrying out regular maintenance of
vehicles with good condition for

operational efficiency

2. Encouraging the use of hybrid or electric

vehicles whenever possible
3. Replacing ageing lamps with LED lamps

4. Installing blackout curtains to reduce

energy loss

5.  Switching off lights and unnecessary
energy-consuming devices when they are

not in use

6. Promoting environmental protection such
as saving water and electricity by means of

slogan or poster in office

7.  Using electronic document processing

system to minimise the use of paper

8.  Encouraging printing or photocopying on

both sides of paper, where applicable
9. Focusing on quality management to

reduce wastage and scrap for less pollution

resulted

Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %54 B2 A BR A 7]
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The Group had developed the environmental
targets for air pollutants emissions, GHG

emissions and waste production, and the result

BN~ e RGN

A AL OB 2 S5 e W) R R
B EREERE LEEY
A E R AR > R IR R

as at the end of Reporting Year are as follow: RZHREHNWMR
Environmental KPI Targets Baseline Year 2023 vs. 2022  Status
20234 R

TR 50 I o B e R H & A e 47 20224 W ik &

Air pollutants emissions Reduce the intensity of air 2022 Recorded an In progress
pollutants emissions by increase
3% by 2027

R R PR E2027 F MERITRY 20224 ey il IEfE AT
B W8 I AR 3%

GHG emissions Reduce the intensity of 2022 Maintain In progress
greenhouse gas emissions
by 3% by 2027

LS 236 £20275 M0 FAMPE 20228 HEE B AT
TR E I 1K 3%

Waste production Reduce the intensity of 2022 Recorded a In progress
waste production by 3% decrease
by 2027

BENE L F20274F M BE M E L 20025 BGH D IEFEHEfT
1 1K 3%

Use of Resources 2. HIEFEH

The Group’s production plants and business
operations are strictly abide by all relevant
environmental laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Energy Conservation
Law of the PRC* (" % A K 3t Al [ fi 47 g
B 15 ), Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong
Kong and other laws and regulations. We have
implemented energy & resources conservation
measure in our operations including having
energy & resources conservation procedure in
place in the course of business operation. We
are committed to advocating conservation of
resources, and improving the efficiency of energy

and resource consumption.

A AR T B A EE R B M SE B R
J AR ST BT A R B B 3R Bk A
B AR E AN R (P g AR 3t
0B B A4 BE PR ) - A s 9 OK TS
e A Ao ) B H A vk A KR -
A © A B P it B e M IR
B 4 15 Bl o A AE S B A AR
Hh il E B AE K E IR B A DR G AR
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During the Reporting Year, the electricity

consumption by the Group was approximately
0.9 million kWh (2022: 0.9 million kWh).
During the Reporting Year, Hong Kong

operation has consumed approximately 0.1
million kWh (2022: 0.1 million kWh) while the

PRC operation has consumed approximately 0.8

million kWh (2022: 0.8 million kWh).

Energy consumption by the Group during the

Reporting Year and the corresponding year in

2022 are set out below:

Energy Consumption

WEEFEEN AEBAEEL
F0.9F # T I KF(20224F 1 0.9
BT IR o R IEFETZEN K
W EECEELIE S TR
(2022%F : 0.1 & T I W) » T
B ) 7 4 2L FE 40.8'F ) T L
(20224F : 0.8 F # T FLIRF) o

A BE [ A A AE R K 20224 AH
R REENEBN T

HE U5 1 A6 &
Energy consumed (kWh)
BB U5 1 #E (T BL 1)

2023 2022
Type of energy il 5 2 A 20234 20224F
Unleaded petrol 4 B YR I 87,337.05 37,128.26
Purchased electricity BHEE 860,899.43 846,170.04
Total At 948,236.48 883,298.30

Energy intensity (kWh/revenue A U B (TR
HK$’000) BTHEITHEA) 2.72 2.36
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The water consumption by the Group was
approximately 62,585 cubic meters (0.179 cubic
meters/revenue HK$’000) (2022: 3,101 cubic
meters, 0.008 cubic meters/revenue HK$°000).
Most of them are consumed in the PRC as
Hong Kong office is for general administrative
and sales purpose. The increase in water
consumption in the Reporting Year is due to
the operation and development of projects and
major construction works carried out, including
the development of jewellery manufacturing
projects by Guangdong Huijinying Jewellery
Company Limited* (ERIESBIEEAR
v 7)), a subsidiary of the Group, as well as
the construction of photovoltaic projects by
Guangdong Kaisi. Additionally, there has been
an expansion in the operational scale of property
management services in the PRC. The Group,
same as last year, has ensured the consistent
efficiency in the use of water. We have obtained
the pollutant discharge permit for the newly
developed Environmental Protection Centre.
The water in the PRC is mainly supplied by the
state-owned water utility company while the
water in Hong Kong are mainly supplied by the
Water Supply Department of the Hong Kong
Government, which we have no issue in water

sourcing.

Packing material used by the Group are light
and recyclable. The packing material used
during the Reporting Year was mainly paper
estimated 0.20 tonnes (2022: estimated 0.20

tonnes).

BN~ e RGN

A OH K & 4 £62,5855
K (0.17952 5 K /R T W oo e A)
(20224F 1 3,10132 /K > 0.00832 7
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HHE s A A E R
Fo 8B R o il A R K & 1Y
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In addition, the Group advocates energy and
resources saving, and is committed to achieving
sustainable operations and compliance with
emission requirements by local authorities. To
this end, we have set management and control
targets by 2027 in reducing the intensity of
energy consumption and water consumption
by 3%, with 2022 as the baseline year. For
the coming year, the Group is continuously
committed to actively implement the electricity-
saving plan and water-saving plan and measures.
These efforts will be based on the progress
made in the Reporting Year, with the target of
reducing the intensity of energy consumption
and water consumption by 3% by 2027. The
Group will review the progress and explore
more opportunities for various environmental
protection goals. In the future, we will consider
setting more specific quantitative environmental
goals to nurture the environment and cherish
natural resources. Moreover, we are investing
more resources in recycling to help the

development of circular economy.

The Group had developed the environmental
targets for energy conservation and water
conservation, and the result as at the end of

Reporting Year are as follow:

I A > A 4R [ B B R K R
1o B E BN R A A R ST
b 7B SR 0 HE B R o B itk s FR
1M &% 2 22027 4F A% BE U5 1H K& L& K
TH FE 50 B P AK39% (DA20224F 7y %
HEAR) B R AR o RAE S A4
] 4 4 S A RN i A R T
Ph R K 5T B A - %% TAE
A A O AR RE R R0 HE R
B > H R F20274F % At TR T AR
Fe KT FE Y 2 T R K39 o A4
] At i R s N A R TEHIRRH
BHRREZHRE - K&K R
RS ELENEREEE
DIAERE REIEARER - 1L
Ah > FRAM B RE IE FE [ 0 A 5
B AN Z &R - LB B R G B A

A 4L H oAt B RE S B K A A
EBR BT HAR > R A ORI &
RE

Environmental KPI Targets Baseline Year 2023 vs. 2022  Status
20234 R

TR BT B o R A R H A A 20225 ik &

Energy consumption Reduce the intensity of 2022 Recorded an In progress
energy consumption by increase
3% by 2027

it VR TH #E 22027 HERERIFE  2002%F ERER HeAT
L 1 3%

Recorded an

Water consumption Reduce the intensity of 2022 In progress

water consumption by 3% increase
by 2027

k& F2027F M HKEE 20224 ZEERpl AT
P 115:3%
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To achieve the goals of environmental protection
and reduction of its production costs, the Group
has placed the following energy and water
conservation measures in the production plants
and the office:

1.  Adjusted the central air-conditioning
control system to reduce electricity

consumption.

2. Electricity-saving fluorescent tubes are
installed to save energy and reduce energy

consumption.

3. Stipulating employees to turn off the lights
and air-conditioning system after office or

when not in use.

4. Encourages employees to use electricity
or hybrid motor vehicles and provides

facilities whenever possible.

5.  Utilising materials that facilitate clean
production environment to effectively
reduce the consumption of detergents and

running water.

6. Promoting environmental protection such
as saving water and electricity by slogan or

poster in office.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group raises staff’s awareness on
environmental issues through education and
enlists employees’ support in improving the
Group’s performance, promotes environmental
awareness amongst the customers, business
partners and shareholders, supports community
activities in relation to environmental protection
and sustainability, and evaluates and monitors
regularly the impact of past and present business

activities impacting upon health, safety and

BN~ e RGN
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environmental matters. With the integration of
policies and impacts of the Group’s activities
on the environment and natural resources
mentioned in the aforesaid sections headed
“Emissions” and “Use of Resources” of this
ESG Report, the Group strives to minimise
the impacts to the environment and natural
resources. The operation of the Group does not
constitute any material adverse effects on the
environmental and natural resources. The Group
promotes green office to raise the environmental
protection awareness of the employees and
implements the following measures to achieve

our goal:

(i) Encouraging employees to treasure food

and reduce food wastes;

(ii) Staff canteen provides healthy meal with
less oil and salt to encourage our employees
to pay attention to healthy diet and reduce

consumption;

(iii) The Group strives to facilitate paperless
office with more frequent use of electronic
forms, electronic photo picking system and

recycled papers;

(iv) The Group compares the utility expenses
each month to look for ways to reduce
the impact on natural resources and

environment; and

(v) Incorporate the green concept when
designing the production plants and the
Perfect Group Jewellery Industry Park.

Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %54 B2 A BR A 7]
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Climate Change

Climate change has caused frequent extreme
weather and has a major impact on business
operations. Therefore, the Group has formulated
working mechanisms and contingency plan
to identify, prevent and mitigate climate
change issues that may have a significant
impact. A list of potential climate-related risks
and opportunities pertinent to our business
operations has been identified. The Group’s
management and operating departments identify
material risks via self-assessment questionnaires
annually. Regarding the material risks
identified, the Group organizes and develops
prevention and control measures. The operating
departments would then organize the supervision
of material risks prevention and control, and
report the material risks to the management.
Relevant operating departments arrange the
implementation of the material risks prevention
and control measures, continuously monitor the
implementation, and timely report the progress
or any issues encountered to the management.
At the same time, we would adjust the use of
resources and energy. In response to disasters
and accidents that are easily induced by extreme
weather, we always enhance the capability to the

disaster response.

Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such
as typhoons, heavy rain, thunder and lightning
and flooding that can cause physical acute risk.
The potential consequences include damage
to documents, material, equipment, buildings
and even employees’ health and life. The above
potential consequences could possibly cause
economic losses and increase operating costs to

the Group.

BN~ e RGN

R e

SR M B8 A 4 BN o R SRS B > B
M EMMERLE - B
A AR B E AR A ) AR S T
o Lhal ol - T B A 36 % AT fE
EEAREENREZELLHME - 2
e I b BEL AP S 5 7 AR B Y T
T SRCAE A B JaL o R BB T B - A
4 B L R S M A AR R
EE R N 92U N )
TR e Y O Ja By o A 4 AL
Ak i 7E TE By A0 1 i o 2
[ B8 1% A% AL A 3 5 OK JE By TH B
A0 il A AT B R o Sl A P
R JE B o A B R R M % bR
v B OK T g T Bl AN A A
Fr A BE A B MG U0 > 3 K I 1) A
HRE e R B8 B YA AT R
RE o FRAM AR 9 R IR K RE IR
o FAM — EL By B B I R
R P E Y
BEEFEMNRED -

TR B

A SR [ 2 e R, - BT - R R
Bt K 25 T BE A BOHE 8 Stk R
B B MR i K SR o 1B AE B0 AR R
SO MR Bl - R
o B TR fa BRI A i IR E -
b Rl T AR AR R T RE | B AR AR
B A B A 9 4R O Sl O AR B
a5 o

2023 Annual Report “FEHE 97



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB A E R

98

The Group has established different measures

as below to prevent and minimise the negative

effect of extreme weather.

A £E 18 E i AR A AL i - DA
By 1k K B A M S K SRR BT R
.

Physical Acute Risk

T8 1 e B
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
ik 34 K SR T B 5% i 4 i
Typhoons — Close doors and windows with advance notice
— Move materials and equipment to safety areas in advance, or covered
with a tarp
— Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown away
— Adoption of Photovoltaic (“PV”) modules and auxiliary materials with
of PV power plants to respond to extreme weather higher protection
performance to improve the ability
e — I A48 R0 B PR P

Heavy rain and Flooding

2 T AL oK

Thunder and lightning

SR e
g,

Eqf

LN A SR B R A & [ o B DL K Al B

Jn I AT RE K E B4 %A AN A

PR AR (T AR 1) AL A0 B A4 KL - 666 AR 78 o B A I 5 i
Ui KSR S R By PR RE R R IR AR

Clean up trash and make sure drains unblocked

Check that all windows and doors are shut as securely as possible
Maintain drainage equipment

Reinforce equipment and components that may be washed away
Collect and analyse historical data for site selection of new PV

power plants through horizontal comparison of power generation
performance of different PV power plants projects in different regions
Improve the power generation efficiency of PV power plants through
efficient operation and maintenance to partially offset the impact of
persistent rainy weather

Install flood protection facilities

I B 457 3 7 e DR D K A W 0

WA B A P R R T R TR A 4 B P

A T P K B

Jin 11 AT 68 B E A B AN A

708 8 A () EL A [ M I A ] O AR R B TE A 8 R TR RE > ISR
53 A JEE S AR o A B A O AR TR i A9 22 ik

A e R T R A R R R ' R TR il A R TR R > LA 0 41K B
R A B T K SRR 5 B

%2 By Pk B

Keep good conditions of earthing devices

Remind employees to save data and turn off computers

Equip the PV power plants with lightning protection systems,
including lightning rods, conductors, and grounding systems

PR 3 b 26 B B9 R B IR A8

2 W8 B T OR 77 B I B P R

SR Tl RO B TR R AT B R R
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Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such
as extremely hot weather can cause physical
chronic risk. The potential consequences include
an increased chance of getting heatstroke for
employees working outdoor or in the workshop,
increasing turnover rate and work-related
injuries. The demand for cooling for the working
environment will be increased, which may lead
to an increase in power demand and operating

costs to the Group.

The Group has established different measures
as below to prevent and minimise the negative

effect of extreme weather.

BN~ e RGN
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Physical Chronic Risk

B8 P R B
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
Fiit 35 R R T Bij 1 4% f 15 e
Extremely hot weather — Open windows to allow the air to circulate

— Keep a First-aid kit convenient

— Keep cold water available 24 hours a day

R N — AR T % R
— il PR SRR 7 BT

— &R 24/ R e K

Transitional Risk ) By

The Group has identified climate-related
transitional risks and opportunities such as
advancement of low-emission technologies,
carbon pricing and new developments and
taxation. The advancement on lower emission
technologies may contribute to expenditure in
researching in and developing new low-carbon
technologies. Also, the latest development of
carbon pricing and taxation in geographies we

operate in may lead to rise in operational costs.

7 AR T L SR AR R O 9 J By
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The Group has established different measures

as below to prevent and minimise the negative

effect of transitional risks.
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AL ECHE W T ARE - L
TH B L i D U R B 7Y B T
=% )

W =

Transitional Risk

8 90 I B
Climate-related risks description Preventative and mitigation measures
SR 00% T A D i i e T Il A 4% At 4
Technology risk
Advancement of low-emission — Planned to invest in the innovations of energy saving products
technologies — Examined the feasibility and benefits of applying the latest low-carbon and
energy-saving technologies into our operation
3 1 18 B8
A% HE i $ i 09 o 25 — HH B A A E A
— 0 ARG T B R 1A D AT T AT M R 4 R
Policy risk
Development of carbon pricing and — Monitor the updates of the local policies and relevant environmental laws and
taxation regulations against existing products and services, to avoid the unnecessary
increase in cost and expenditure due to non-compliance
— Planned to conduct a carbon footprint survey, in order to work out the
company’s footprint, to prioritise energy and waste reductions
B3R J B
Tk 7 1 B T i Y % — WUBUAE B BB BB E R R B Rk A A A R L
e G TR A 5 51T 28 S8OAS b 0 AR T B S 5
— RFEDEFTRROR I I A DURH R AR R B BF > 4 S 7 e el o
Market risk

Increasing customers’ focus on climate-
related risks and opportunities can
impact preferences

i 55 B
38 5 360 SRA0 A B DL B B A 1Y
Bl T T A R B A7

Reputation risk

Reputation is negatively affected due
to stakeholder concerns, negative
feedback, and press coverage
regarding our Group’s climate change
impacts

s 2N

HR & B AL Z KRR B
9 B B O K A T R
BREZHNAWYE

Fulfill the climate-related regulations by the government
Prioritize climate change as decision making criteria to demonstrate that the
Company is concerned about the issues of climate change

AT B A B SR f0k 1 B
B 5 % SR M B AL AR T TR AR e DURE DA A 2 ) 3 SR A AL B
1 B i

Fulfill the social responsibility by organizing public events to show how our
Group placing importance on climate change

Review the business projects to ensure the production and the projects are
environmental-friendly

JEATHL & FAE > LA A LR E) > DU R A S W R S ALy
*
MR SEIEE > R AR E SR E AR AR
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Climate-related Opportunities

In order to promote the realisation of the
dual carbon goal, the PRC strongly supports
the development of renewable energy and
promotes further optimisation of energy
structure. At the same time, the PRC is also
actively promoting low-carbon transformation
of the industry and improving the level of
electrification. Therefore, end-users’ demand for
green electricity, including photovoltaic power,
increased rapidly. For the Group’s PV power
generation business, end consumers’ recognition
of environmental value of green electricity and
the increasing demand for green electricity are
expected to continuously enhance the revenue
and continuous cash flow of the projects in the

future.

Climate-related opportunities description

SR % T A O Rt

BN~ e RGN

M A b 19 1 75

B B A RS
SCAF AP AL RE DR R R M B o
B AL RE R A5 M o [ B > AP BT
o A A ) AR ke Y > fR R
RALTRJE o [HU > % 15 5 Ak
@ 1 (B A6 OB IR 5558 1Y 75 SR IR
R o LA SR Y e R B R
EBM - HoumiE & H HKOE
3 1 B 5 A (EL RO 8 W] L% Bk 05
TR H AR R > T E R
A A B THIR H B U A KR A

B e

Possible Impact

W R R B

— Use of lower-emission sources of energy

— Utilizing supportive policy incentives

— Adoption of new technologies

— Shift towards decentralized energy generation

— R A
— B SO W
— B

— A B RE W

— Access to new markets

— AT

— Return on investment in low-emission technology

increases

— Investment in renewable energy is critical to lowering

GHG emissions in our value chain, which may reduce

operating costs in the long run

— B P A il B 5 T i

— BCE T AR IR R (B P AR SR PR
1M 22 B R T AT AR R A

— Revenue increases through access to new and emerging

markets

— AR AT R BT 5 8 il A
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Climate-related opportunities description

SR 5% T T 1 8 Mt

Possible Impact

Al RE Y

— Participation in renewable energy programmes and

adoption of energy-efficiency measures
— Resource substitution or diversification

— 2B RE IR K BRI RE A5 G
— REEEAHZ T

— Growing demand of investors and financial institutions

for green and low-carbon finance and investment

— BEER MRS OER MR RENTK

&

Developing Green Energy

The Group continues to invest in shifting
to a more resource-efficient and greener
manufacturing system by constantly advancing
its innovative technology in energy-saving and
emissions reduction. In addition to the jewellery
and property businesses, the Group engaged in
the construction and operation of photovoltaic

power generation.

PV power generation is a technology that
harnesses solar energy and converts it into
electricity, offering extensive environmental
benefits and social significance. Currently,
many countries heavily rely on fossil fuels
as their primary energy source, resulting in
substantial energy consumption and carbon
emissions. However, the solar energy is a kind
of inexhaustible clean and renewable energy

with unique advantages and huge development

102 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited fR#§4E B2 A BR A 7]

Market valuation increases through resilience planning
(the proactive measures taken by the Group to mitigate
potential risks and challenges), such as planning of the
research in the use of electric vehicles to achieve cost
savings and environmental sustainability

Reliability of supply chain and ability to operate under
various condition increase

Revenue increases through new products and services
A0 A SRR AL (A B I % I T L By % B BT
RIBCA R ML A ) £ 05 i 0 £ (>t 0
FRE B ITH o DUEE BY RO 7 40 B BRI R AR
{3t e B 1 ] SE M RAE S RE UL TR EM R R
A0 A O i RS A e A

Introducing green finance and diversifying our
financing sources to access capital, enhance reputation

and gain a competitive advantage
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potentials. The development of solar energy
resources not only comply with the national
policies on the environmental protection
and energy conservation, but also contribute
to reducing the emission of greenhouse gas
(such as carbon dioxide), and thus mitigate
the greenhouse effect and global warming
and provide a green and eco-friendly living
environment, creating better living conditions
for the public. Conventional fossil fuel power
plants pose significant pollution challenges,
with issues such as smoke, exhaust gases, and
noise negatively impacting the surrounding
environment and human health. In contrast,
PV power generation harnesses solar energy,
effectively safeguarding the environment
and minimizing environmental degradation.
Furthermore, it enhances energy security by
reducing reliance on scarce and unstable fossil
fuels while also decreasing the need for imported

petroleum.

PV power generation can promote sustainable
development. It involves multiple stages such
as photovoltaic silicon, batteries, modules,
inverters and installation. Its supply chain and
employment capacity are highly formidable.
Moreover, it enhances energy supply flexibility
by empowering the generation of green
electricity through solar panels, enabling end-
users to achieve sustainable production and

lifestyles.
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Climate change has had a major impact on the
world, and PV power generation is an important
way to realise energy transition, move towards
low-carbon life, enhance the ability to deal
with climate change and change the survival
crisis brought about by climate change. The
projects of the Group supply approximately
3.6 million units of green electricity in 2023.
Compared with the use of traditional thermal
power, it can save 1,000 tonnes of standard
coal and reduce 2,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide
emissions, which is equivalent to planting
570,000 trees. The economic benefits brought
by investment, construction and operation of PV
power generation projects to local community
are not limited to fixed asset investment, tax

contributions and more job opportunities.

A Win-win Development Model of PV Power
Plants

Continuously increase the installed capacity
of PV power plants to achieve continuous
growth in annual carbon reduction. Insist on
building environmentally friendly PV power
plants. During development and construction,
social benefits are placed in the same or more
important position than economic benefits,
in a bid to maximise the social and economic

benefits of PV power generation projects.
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B. Social

Employment and labour Practices

In order to create a united and harmonious
professional team, the Group provides the employees
a fair working environment, and enhance their
knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work
and thereby their work efficiency.

Employment

To retain talents, the Group develops and provides
incentives to its employees based on their performance
and productivity. In terms of recruitment, promotion,
remuneration, working hours, leaves and benefits, the
Group ensures the conditions of which are competitive
and in compliance with relevant laws. The Group also
provides Share Option Scheme to give incentive to

staff to share the growth of the Group.

The Group pursues equal opportunities in terms
of recruitment policy. The Group also ensures the
fairness of process without any violation of the
local laws and regulations such as Sex, Disability,
Family Status and Race Discrimination Ordinances,
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

The Group focuses on investing in talents and
offering a promising career path. Thus, internal re-
designation and promotion of potential employees
will be first considered to fill any vacancies within the
Group. Promotion criteria are based on various factors
such as employees’ working performance, leadership

and cooperation.
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The Group ensures the employees’ remuneration
be competitive in the labour market. Moreover,
in assessing the rate of annual salary adjustment,
the Group takes into account the annual financial
results, make reference to the economic environment,
inflation, salary trends and industry salary reference,
and base on appraisal reports and work performance

of the employees to make revision.

The Group ensures that the requirements of relevant
laws and guidelines have been complied with. The
Group participated retirement benefits scheme in
Hong Kong and PRC such as Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Pension insurance system* E R
Fg 1 ) in PRC. Besides, the Group strictly complies
with national and local government regulations,
including but not limited to the Labor Law of the
PRC* (F 3 A R 08 25 8 15), the Employment
Promotion Law of the PRC* ([ #E A B 3L Al B 5t 2%
fi2 #£3%), the Labor Contract Law of the PRC* (
#NR LB S # A [F L) and the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group also provides its employees with a quality
working environment. A spacious staff canteen and
floor lounge in the office building are available for
the employees to use. The Group organises staff
buffet and dinner from time to time and distributes

gifts to employees at festivals.

During the Reporting Year, the Group strictly
complied with labour laws and relevant regulations of
the PRC and Hong Kong, and had not been involved
in any event of breach of laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare, which had a significant impact on the

Group.
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As of 31 December 2023, the Group employed
approximately 159 (2022: 150) full-time employees.

The total number of employees classified by gender,

function, age group and geographic region are as

follows:

Total number of employees by gender:

BN~ e RGN

B F20234F12H31H - A £ # B 4
15944 (20224F 1 1504%) 2R & - &%
Al > BRAE ~ A AL A K b B R )
MR B 88

2k B3 23 1) R B AR

2023 2022

20234 20224

Male v 66 66
Female pelca 93 84
Total At 159 150

Total number of employees by function:

5 Wik HE ) 73 1) R B AR

2023 2022

20234 20224F

Directorate and managerial staff EENEHANER 40 40
Clerical employees AR & 119 110
Total Ha st 159 150

Total number of employees by age group:

e A i AL %) 3 1 R E A B

2023 2022

20234 20224F
18 to 30 18 & 305, 56 44
31 to 50 31E505% 75 74
Over 50 505% LA b 28 32
Total At 159 150
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e b B [ 3R 23 B A B AR

Total number of employees by geographic region:

2023 2022

20234 20224F
Hong Kong i 34 33
PRC o] 125 117
Tortal 5T 159 150

A AR K R HE 920224F 5 $%
PR~ AL R K s PR T S )
SrHIE BRI

The employee turnover rate during the Reporting
Year and the corresponding year in 2022 by gender,
age group and geographical region are as follows:

452 L8043 10 0 0 2 o

The employee turnover rate by gender:

2023 2022

20234 20224
Male LR 7.58% 8.33%
Female B/ 1.13% 3.80%

e 4 40190 8043 0 1R L0 2 3

The employee turnover rate by age group:

2023 2022

20234 20224F
18 to 30 18 &30, — 7.89%
31 to 50 31 & 505K 2.68% 2.88%
Over 50 505% DA b 13.33% 9.52%

108 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited fR#§4E WP AT BR A ]



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The employee turnover rate by geographical region:

BN~ e RGN

4 0 P T B0 53 0 0 O LR 23

2023 2022

20234 20224

Hong Kong & 5.97% 8.96%

PRC H 3.31% 4.74%
Note: [ 5

Turnover rate for employees in the relevant categories = (Number
of employees leave in the specified category/Average number of
total employees in the specified category at the beginning and the
end of the Reporting Period) x 100%.

In respect of dismissal policy, the Group offers those
underperforming employees or those who make
general mistakes a chance to improve. Should the
employee not make considerable improvement within
a reasonable time, the Group then considers to dismiss
them and handle it in accordance with the labour
laws and regulation in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group was not aware of any material non-

compliance with relevant labour laws and regulations.

Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide the employees with a
safe and harmonious working condition. The Group
provides suitable training to the employees whenever
possible. The staff are also provided with pay leave
whenever they attend suitable course to upgrade
their work ability and performance. The Group is
always taking steps to advance the health and safety
of its employees and comply with relevant regulatory
requirements in all regions in which it operates,
including the Production Safety Law of the PRC* (*
#ENRICHE % 2 4 L), the Law of the PRC
on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases* (H' #E A R 3L A1 ] B 2E 9% B iR 15), the
Fire Control Law of the PRC* (# #E A R It i
B 74 B 7% ) and Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong (Cap. 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as well as the latest safety procedures
and guidelines.
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The Group has appointed a staff who is responsible
for the promotion, training, supervision and
management of occupational health and safety to

enhance the employees” occupational safety awareness.

During the Reporting Year, there was 1 work-related
injuries (2022: 2; 2021: 1) with 14 lost days (2022:
19; 2021: 13) due to work injury. The Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that would have any significant
impact on the Group. Our Group did not have any
incidents of work-related fatalities for the latest 3

financial years including the Reporting Year.

Development and Training

The Group provides employees at all levels with all-
around technical training, to ensure the employees
proactively equip themselves with skills and thus
attain outstanding performance. The Group also
provides the employees with relevant courses and
seminars to enable them to grasp the work-related
knowledge, skills and attitude to keep abreast of the

latest trend.
The training activities include:

(i) organise training courses and seminars on a

regular basis for the employees to attend;

(ii) distribute training materials on a regular basis to

the employees for them to review;

(iii) arrange external professional training courses for

the employees to attend.
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50.9% (2022: 42.7%) in terms of number of staff had
received formal training course during the Reporting
Year. The rest were provided with reading materials,
business update related notes, circulation of study
materials etc., to enhance their knowledge. Of this
50.9% (2022: 42.7%), 40.7% (2022: 28.1%) were
senior management and the rest of 59.3% (2022:
71.9%) were other employees. 45.7% (2022: 42.2%)
of this 50.9% (2022: 42.7%) were male and 54.3%
(2022: 57.8%) were female.

Training sessions and context of training were
provided to staff varied on the needs of the staff
and varied to each staff based on the relevancy and
needs of the operation. On average, they received
9.7 hours (2022: 9.8 hours) of training. On average,
10.6 hours (2022: 11.3 hours) and 9.1 hours (2022:
8.7 hours) of formal training course were received
by male and female staff respectively. Senior staff
received approximately 15.4 hours (2022: 14.3 hours)
of formal training while the other employees received
approximately 7.8 hours (2022: 8.2 hours) of formal
training. Staff are provided with training sessions
based on the needs of the job to keep current about

policies, procedures, and knowledge.

Labour Standards

The Group has formulated policies to ensure all
employees and job applicants are entitled to fair
opportunity and treatment. The Group strives
to complies with the local laws and regulation
throughout the recruitment and employment process.
The Group prohibits any employment of child labour
under certain laws including the Law of the PRC
on the Protection of Minors* (7 % A R 3t f1
xR B N R # 32), Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labour* (%% I {#ff i 2 T #l &),
the Employment of Children Regulations (Chapter
57B of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Employment
of Young Persons (Industry) Regulations (Chapter
57C of the Laws of Hong Kong). The human

resources department in each location is instructed
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to inspect the identity of the applicants to ensure any
employment of child labour. The Group has a clear
staff manual to prohibits forced labour and ensure
legal and volunteer employment of all employees.
If any violation is discovered, it will handle it in a
serious manner, depending on the actual situation, it
will be handled in accordance with national and local

laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with relevant labour
laws and regulations that would have any significant

impact on the Group.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The principal business of the Group is in the design
and manufacturing of high-end jewellery and
therefore precious metals are the major resources
consumed by the Group. Our major suppliers are
suppliers of raw materials, in particular, diamonds
and gold. Significant portion of raw materials and
processing materials (in term of dollar value) are
sourced in Hong Kong and these suppliers sources

their products through PRC.

The Group pays much attention to the suppliers.
During supplier selection process, it takes into
account the price, stability of goods as well as
reputation. Afterwards, the department head and
management head will review and approve in order
to ensure the procured equipment and raw materials
come with good quality at reasonable price. For
the jewellery business, in order to ensure that the
diamonds we purchase are legitimate and come from
suppliers who are in compliance with the Kimberley
Process, our administrative department carries out
periodic reviews of diamond purchase invoices on
which the suppliers undertake the legitimacy of the
supplied diamonds.
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Regarding the PV power plants installation projects,
the Group manages its procurement and supply chain
through a standardized bidding process. The Group
conducts selection of suppliers and subcontractors
and risk management in an orderly manner. Set out
rating items of suppliers and subcontractors, covering
their experience and past performance, management
systems, environmental and occupational health
and safety awareness, etc. Additionally, the Group
specifies appropriate requirements to monitor
relevant responsibilities and obligations, and stipulate
the compliance with related environmental and
occupational safety regulations for all services,

products and materials supplied.

Apart from product quality, price and delivery time,
we evaluate if the suppliers consider the environmental
and social criteria including the prohibition on the
recruitment of child and forced labour, eliminating
discrimination to employees, providing a safe working
environment, considering if the products provided are
beneficial to environmental protection and fulfilling
the Group’s internal environmental requirement
while minimizing the negative impact to natural
environment, and strictly obeying the law. We also
conduct annual evaluations on our suppliers and
subcontractors. The Group also reviews the quality
of stock or materials with sophisticated machines
from time to time. The selection and monitoring
mechanisms are applicable to all suppliers and
subcontractors. The Group attaches great importance
to the environmental and social risks within its supply
chain. The Group regularly reviews the updates of
policies and laws related to the supply chain, and
communicates with internal and external stakeholders
to understand and identify potential environmental
and social risks within its supply chain. With
the above assessment processes, the Group can
minimise potential environmental and social risks of
supply chain. During the Reporting Year, there are
approximately 20 (2022: 8) and 5 (2022: 13) major
suppliers and subcontractors from Hong Kong and

PRC respectively.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group is not aware of
any major suppliers that had any significant impact
on business ethics, environmental protection, human
rights and labour practices, nor did any of them have
any material non-compliances in respect of human

rights issues.

Product Responsibility

Due to the nature of our products, the Group seldom
subjects to recall for safety and health reasons. The
Group always review the quality of the stock with
sophisticated machines from time to time, before,

during and after the production.

Generally, products sold can only be returned if our
products are defective or do not meet our customers’
specification. In general, if our customers request
for sales returns within a week upon receipt of the
products, the products will be delivered back to us.
Our quality control team will check on the quality of
the products and confirm if the returned products are

defective or fail to meet customers’ specifications.

Besides, the Group strictly abides by the Contract
Law of the PRC* (H #E A\ R I A1 & [F] %), the
Construction Law of the PRC* (" 2 A R It A1 =
5 %:) and other relevant laws and regulations in
the process of PV power plants installation projects.
To ensure project quality, the Group continuously
monitors the quality of its projects, appoints
designated inspectors to carry out detection in each
phase of our works and formulates rectification
plans to make relevant rectifications in case of any
problems, in order to guarantee the project quality

can satisfy relevant requirements.
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The Group has team of management, including the
sales director, to look after the complaints received
and in case the Group received any complaints, the
Group targets to resolve the issues with customers
within the shortest possible time. During the
Reporting Year, the Group did not receive any
material service-related complaints and there are
significant no cases of product recalls for safety and

health reasons.

The Group understands the importance of intellectual
property and makes every effort to safeguard and
protect the intellectual property. By the same token,
the Group places much emphasis on the infringement
of other intellectual property rights. During the
Reporting Year, the Group had not been subject to

any material claim in this matter.

We generally own the intellectual property rights in
the design that we create except for designs provided
by our customers an adopted by us. To protect our
intellectual property rights, our designers are required
to sign an agreement to acknowledge that the designs
produced by them during their employment are the
intellectual properties of our Group. For designs
which are based on our recurring customers’ specific
raw design ideas, as an attempt to protect our
recurring customers’ interest, we typically restrain
from producing the same jewellery product for any

other customers or for our sales to general customers.

The Group keeps reminding the employees of and
emphasizing the importance of safeguarding the
security of personal data. When collecting and
processing such data, the Group will comply with the
local laws, regulation and guidelines to protect the
privacy. The Group also has measures designated to
prevent unauthorised access to personal data such as

password and code.
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The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Product Quality Law
of the PRC* (*#E A R IL A 2 it B & 1K), the
Trademark Law of the PRC* (" 3E A B 2L A1 B p¥
BE%), the Advertising Law of the PRC* (AR
N B JE 45 15, the Cybersecurity Law of the PRC*
(hEE N R LA A B 22 21, the Sale of Goods
Ordinance (Cap 26 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap 362 of Laws of
Hong Kong), the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Chapter 486 of the laws of Hong Kong) and the
Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap 559 of the laws of
Hong Kong), that have a significant impact relating
to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters regard to products and services provided by

the Group during the Reporting Year.

Anti-corruption

The Group recognises the importance of the
ethical conducts and integrity of each director and
all employees in order to maintain a fair, honest
and integrity-based business environment. Hence,
we strictly adhere to all the applicable laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the PRC* (H1 # A &
3L F0 B [ U 8 15 ), the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the PRC* (% A R IC A Y S A IE 3t
7)), the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), and the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
The Group has formulated a clear code of conduct
in respect of the prevention of bribery, employees’
interests, conflicts of interest, prevention of extortion
and fraud in the employee handbook. Besides, the
Group has an anti-bribery policy in place to further
provide clear guidelines in respect of anti-bribery and
maintaining honesty and integrity. Such policy applies
to all directors and employees of the Group, together
with the agents acting on behalf of the Group. The
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Group reminds the employees by internal notice to
avoid bribery and acceptance of advantages as and
when appropriate. During the Reporting Year, the
Group organised online trainings on anti-corruption
for directors and staff as well as distributed relevant
training materials for their learning and reading, in
order to strengthen the relevant management on the
prevention, implementation and oversight of anti-
corruption measures in the Group. Furthermore,
the Group encourages its employees to report any
suspected corruption, bribery or misconducts through
the whistle-blowing mechanism established by the
Group. Such reports are kept confidential and the
Group has established a procedure to protect the

whistleblowers from unfair treatment.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that would have any significant
impact on the Group, nor any corruption litigation

against the Group or its employees.
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Community
Community Investment

The Group participates in and promotes various
community and volunteer activities for helping
the needy in the society, promoting environmental
awareness, fostering and facilitating industry
development, with an aim to contribute to the society
and fulfill our corporate social responsibility. During
the Reporting Year, the Group donated a total sum
of approximately HK$27,000 (2022: HK$175,000)
to a number of charity bodies. Health, social culture
and sport will be the focus areas of our community

investment strategy.

During the Reporting Year, our staff participated
in the Second Citizen Sports Games of Lunjiao
Street (ffii #UfE 48 55 — Jai T R B &) to promote
a culture of healthy and active lifestyle among
employees of the Group, resulting in enhanced
well-being, reduced absenteeism and increased
productivity. The Group also encouraged staff to
participate in the other industry-related charity
or social welfare activities by providing monetary

sponsorship or pay leave to staff.
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REFERENCES TO THE ESG B -#agkERRERIIRT
REPORTING GUIDE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
EEFE - JE - — B b 85 S BH S A R IR AR =W =8
A.Environmental

A BRI

Aspect Al: Emissions

J& i A1 : BE i

General Disclosure Information on: Emissions 85-87

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact

on the issuer,

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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@ BR K

(b) BESF AT ANA TR B A Bk
S BB ) E R o

KPI Al1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Emissions 86
data.
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KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope Emissions 87

2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
F B RNE R - — B EE S B B A RHE B TP H
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Emissions 88
appropriate, intensity.
B 8 BB ALS FREAAEEFEYMAE R (WER) BE -
KPI Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, Emissions 88
where appropriate, intensity.
B 8 BRI B ALA FREAREEFEYAE R (WE M) BE - Sy
KPI Al1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps Emissions 89-91
taken to achieve them.
B S B RIR R ALS o FrEl LR PE I E AR R A RS P
H A Fr 5% By 25 B -
KPI Al1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- Emissions 89-91
hazardous wastes are handled, and a description
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
B 8 B AR B ALG W R A FREEEEYR I X
Tt FT RT ST 0 U RE HRE B A R B I S H
B B BR Ry 25 B o
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
J& v A2 : & A
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, Use of Resources 91
including energy, water and other raw
materials.
Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage,
transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment,
etc.
— B AR HEWR (BAGREIR ~ K S A AR & IR A
f BOR o
G BIRTTHRAEE M R BT R
BEE
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by ~ Use of Resources 92
type in total and intensity.
B o A R R A2.1 AR N E RS ERIREARE ERMHER
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of Resources 93
B S B iR B A2.2 HAFEKE REE - &R AE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
F RGN~ B R % BB A R R R H
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) Use of Resources 94-95
set and steps taken to achieve them.
PR o SRR EEA2.3 T AT SR REVRE R s BAR K Ay E BRI A
F 75 2L H AR BT B8R B 25 R o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Use of Resources 94-95
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
PR o S R HREEA2.4 SR s R K JE BT AARIRE - L B
K JT T S 09 B K 30 a8 H AR T 2 B s 2t
H 1 B $8 By 20 B -
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Use of Resources 93
products and, if applicable, with reference to
per unit produced.
PR o SRR EEA2.5 R TR R R R (W) B IR A
g AR A BLALAL & o
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
JEMA3: BRBE R RAER
General Disclosure DPolicies on minimizing the issuer’s significant ~ Emissions and Use of 95-96
impact on the environment and natural Resources
resources.
— B # AR AT N E R R RREWRERER Py L& RS
OB BUR o
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of Emissions, Use of 95-96
activities on the environment and natural Resources and The
resources and the actions taken to manage Environment and Natural
them. Resources
B S AR BEASB.1 PR EBIE B H IR R RAREWMER Pk - EWHME AR
WERKCRIUERARYZ2NITE - BB KRN E IR
Aspect A4: Climate Change
J& T A4 : SR B AL
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change 97-104

significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
F B RNE R - — B EE S B B A RHE B TP H
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate related ~ Climate Change 97-104
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them.
A S B 6 B A4.1 ik O R KT RE & W AT NE A BN RAiEst
HARREEAMHBEER > AEHITE -
B.Social
B.it &
Employment and Labour Practices
1 1% B 55 1% Bl
Aspect B1: Employment
J& i B1 : f& f
General Disclosure Information on: Employment 105-106
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination and other benefits and
welfare.
— B % 2= A BE I L S~ RIS T AR - A 1
B~ FEE - Zoufl - R D RH
b 77 8 S AR ARG
(@ B K
(b) NP AT AA H R B M B %
B BB & R o
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type =~ Employment 107-108
(for example, full-or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
B S 45 6 B B1.1 PR R R AR AN (A A SR - AR R

i A0 1 L i [ ) O B (R B AR
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
FRERNE RGO BB B K B S AR AR e H
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group ~ Employment 108-109
and geographical region.
BH o %1 3 17 B B1.2 e PE R - A% A R B I 2 O 4R B 08 A
KR -
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
J& i B2 ¢ f RE B % A
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety 109-110
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
— ik P 2 BB P2 & TAREREE AR i B fd R B &
B fa F Y
(@ BUK K
(b) ST H AT AN E R BB E
T K B 1) R
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety 110
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.
B # %1 3% 7 B B2.1 ik = AF (G BE AR ) 447 [ Do iy fi RR B4 A
N (@S8R
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 110
BA B A %% 15 B B2.2 PR A 15 2 TAF H 8- i R B2 22 4
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and Health and Safety 110
safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
Bl # BB R PR B2.3 fil 20 P BR A B0 TS R R B B 0 DL R L 2

M B AT % B T i
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
EERE R Rk B K B AR AR T e 9% HT
Aspect B3: Development and Training
J& i B3 ¢ $% J S 5l
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge =~ Development and 110
and skills for discharging duties at work. Training
Description of training activities.
— % B #E A B R TTHE BB AT TARBE ARGk K A B A
AE M9 BLOR -
il 2t 55 9N S B o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by Development and 111
gender and employee category (e.g. senior Training
management, middle management).
B 25 4K B B3.1 kB B A BRI (s s B - P A B R I A
PG A 0 1 Z IR B A L e
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and 111
employee by gender and employee category. Training
bR B 29 % 4% B B3.2 VR KR BRI 2 > A B B R
32wl B ~F- 37 ey B
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEWiB4 : 55 LB
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards 111-112
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— i P 2 A BB I BT R g T 55 T AR e
(@ BUR: K
(b) ST B EAT AN A EORSY B A B ik
K BB R
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards 111-112
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
IR B 291 3% 47 B B4.1 il 20 R TR ) B S b DA SR EE T K 45 AR

58 il 55 T o

124 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %555 o] [ 4% 22 A7 P2



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BEL - ihE RGO

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
EEERE ~ FE O — B I B K B AU R AR ES Ve s H
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards 112

practices when discovered.

BA B 4% % 46 #R B4.2 i AE 58 B BUIE DL PR A BRI DLRT 55 TR
BRI B

Operating Practices

B

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

JE& Wi BS + it HE g A B

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain 112-113
risks of the supply chain. Management
— M o B B g ) BR BT AL e L B BOR o It e g A5 2L
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 113
Management
B 3 5% 2 5 B BS.1 2 I 3 73 ) {36 R 7 BOH o It e g A5 B
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging ~ Supply Chain 112-113
suppliers, number of suppliers where the Management

practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

BA B A5 %% 15 B B5.2 i 2 A7 o W T AR R T AR o L BLAT (O g
AT A 1 B 36 R T RO DA ROH B LA M
BT ik o

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain 113
environmental and social risks along the supply Management
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B % %5 2 45 #R B5.3 il 2 A R A A R B W BR BN RO BR BT K I B B
L Ja B ) 1R LA R A B BLAT M B %

Jiik e
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain 113
environmentally preferable products and Management

services when selecting suppliers, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

BA B A 3% 15 #R B5.4 i 7 A 788 LR B IR AR 0 2 T BR AR EE A R B B
o B o A LA e AR B AT e B K
ik o
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
TR R ok xR B S AR AR T 9% HT
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
J& i B6 : 7 fh B AL
General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility ~ 114-116
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labeling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of
redress.
— i B #& A B P B R R S A f R B2 4 - E M AT
JE S~ PR AR B FL R R LA RO RO i
(@ B K
(b) ST HEEAT NA EORE BN M B ik
&R E R
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product Responsibility 115
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
B #2346 B B6.1 CHERCERERBABPRZ2E@EE EMHEE
L p T2 8] SCR E  LE e
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Product Responsibility 115
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.
[BH 3 %5 2% 45 B B6.2 M R o M MBS B B R DA S E A AR
5k o
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing ~ Product Responsibility 115
and protecting intellectual property rights.
B #2512 R R B6.3 i 7t BEL A o R R R kS E R BRI ORI o L AT
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and ~ Product Responsibility 114
recall procedures.
bR #2512 4R B B6.4 il 2t B B A o R TR K O LR R 7 i 1A
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
EEERE ~ FE O — B I B K B AU R AR ES Ve s H
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and ~ Product Responsibility 115

privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

BA 8 4 %% 15 #B6.5 i 2 R R R FARR O > A A
B AT M B 56T 3k o

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

J& Wi B7 : R &5

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-Corruption 116-117

(55

4

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact

on the issuer,

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

— i bk ¥ FEPIEMEE - SR MEELBEREN: R&ES
@ HR; K

(b) BESFHEEAT NA O B A B A
K KL Y R
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-Corruption 117
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases.
B S 4 R 4R BEB7.1 i RE B A B B AT N B H R BdR e A TS
A5 A A RAOFR R AR AR o
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and Anti-Corruption 116-117
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

B 8 %51 3 47 #R B7.2 il 2t By R 1 M S BRI Y o LA RAB L B
TR BT -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training Anti-Corruption 116-117
provided to directors and staff.

BA 8 B %% 15 B B7.3 i EEL B TRMANREHEN - KA
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
F B RNE R - — B EE S B B A RHE B TP H
Community
#L I
Aspect B8: Community Investment
J& 1 B8 : 3k [ 3% &
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to Community Investment 118
understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’
interests.
— % Pk 5 AELIA 2 BT g AL R M RmRE
20 e DR L SE 85 U B & B R AL R 45 AY
R o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community Investment 118
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, spor).
i S 4% 2036 B BS.1 HEEMER(MET  RBEFEE - 21T HERE
TR~ @R i - BE) o
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to  Community Investment 118
the focus area.
i S %5 B 36 B BS.2 T BT 0 R BT ) A R (U0 BR e R o A RIRE
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Independent Auditor’s Report

3 > A R

M M OO R E Moore CPA Limited ;‘2-1"_ X
801-806 Silvercord, Tower 1, Eﬂi ﬁ
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, =
Kowloon, Hong Kong % E
T +852 2375 3180 E Iy
F +8522375 3828 i
n =
www.moore.hk 3 =
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF B0k B8 4 ] B b A PR 2 W] B A B R
PERFECT GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (7 Bl 2 755 G 7 2 AR 2 A
Opinion =87\
We have audited the consolidated financial statements EBEHEEFHEZEMNEI136E315H Z 8 £ H
of Perfect Group International Holdings Limited (the M P A FR 2y /) ([ 2 |l D) K LB &
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as A (HmMEIEEEDNEGESMBHRE > HE
the “Group”) set out on pages 136 to 315, which comprise W W5 3R B0 6 2023 4F12 H31H 2 45 &
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 Bk R > B EZHILEEZ 4 AEE
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit o FoAth 42 TH IR B 3R - A5 RE 4R A B R R
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated A eRER UNGEAMBHREN
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement FEE (B R & 5HBURE R -
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements BERL SHEEAMBMRCRES
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial e Ehai A & ((F e shiiA &) B0
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its T s 5 S T R (1 o B 5 45 B )
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated BLOEW P R B 55 AR B 22023412
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with SIHRI S S MR B L S £ % H IE4R
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) ERGEMBE R MEAHESRE > D
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public iz B s N ) A6 B 10 B R OB E 2 A AR R o
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
Basis for Opinion =R e
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong BEECRE S G A S EMm N B
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. FREA((FBFEZENDETHEZ - &
Our responsibilities under those standards are further LEFZERAIT O EAT C R A 5 T 8
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit Al A A M B R ARBENEE]—
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our e — Mk o RPEHEEFIIA S
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance O A Y KK g EE A E T SE ) (TsF D) - B
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional S EEE WORBESTAETE
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other b FTAT - BEME > BEHEEENE
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. HIEHEREAAENBEELEESENE LR
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained It L Bl o
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional

judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the

consolidated financial statements of the current period.

This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of

the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Allowances of inventories - finished goods

We identified allowances of inventories
for finished goods as a key audit matter
as the Group had significant amount
of finished goods which are jewellery
products as at the end of the reporting
period. These finished goods may be
subject to impairment due to changes
in selling prices. In determining the
allowance to be made on the finished
goods, management considers the current
market conditions, ageing and conditions
of the finished goods, inventory
realisation plan for slow-moving items,
and estimated selling prices, subsequent
sales of similar products and the valuation
of selected inventory items performed by

an independent valuer.

The Groups finished goods as at
31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$95,619,000 as
disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Our pl’OCCdUl‘CS in relation to managements

allowances of inventories for finished goods included:

¢ Obtaining an understanding from the
management about their estimation techniques,
significant assumptions adopted, key inputs and
data used in the assessment;

+ Testing the subsequent sales of finished goods
o similar products, if any, on selected finished
goods items;

¢ Obraining an independent valuation report on
selected items of finished goods and evaluating
the independent external valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity as well as comparing
valuer's results with our own estimation, on a

sample basis;
p

* Discussing with management and evaluating
the impairment assessment by management on
finished goods with no subsequent sales after the
reporting period, if any; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of the estimation
of the net realisable value of finished goods with
reference to the current market conditions, ageing
and conditions of the finished goods, inventory
realisation plan for slow-moving items, and
estimated selling prices, and subsequent sales of
similar products.
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Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those
statements on 27 March 2023.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not and will not

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independent Auditor’s Report

30 > A Sl e oA

H Aty 3 IH

AR E A B 20224E 124310 I EFE A S
P i 3% B o — A% BORT 3 A% > H iR 20234F
SHO7THMZ S MR B R AEEBITER -

At & B

BRrERAHLMERART - K&
BAE A RoA BTICR B R EAEE ARG W
B e e B S O B AR R R

HHEBESMBERENE R A ®EH
il R 5 AR S HI R S5 A Al E R
B RAT AT AR 1R 78 45

MEFHGEMBHEMENFL EFN
TAT G AN B b S A At B R AE B
T 2% H At OB B AR & BB R BUE
S5 T 9 A% 0 R BT R0 2 B 1 DU S A R
PNEIN e VR NS SR N
FECHATITAE 5 %5 58 7 H b &R
FAEE R BB - HEEFEREZFE -
- 2 i B 7 28 AT {7 S JH JH R e

2023 Annual Report “FE#H L 131



Independent Auditor’s Report

388 > A Bl e oA

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
$0.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements —
continued

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements —
continued

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Li Wing Yin

Practising Certificate Number: P05035

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

f oy T i B HL A 2 i WAL i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$°000
Fi 5 T# o T T
(Restated)
(%8 & 71)
(Note 3.2)
(Kt 3E3.2)
Revenue L 5 348,711 374,049
Cost of goods sold (S T N (246,507) (259,380)
Gross profit E A 102,204 114,669
Other income Ho A e A 6 5,272 3,471
Other gains and losses, net RN R Rk i 7 (2,909) 2,885
Impairment losses under expected credit T B AR R
loss model, net W H K 18 8 (1,042) (20,661)
Selling and distribution costs 5 B T Ay 8 LA (13,590) (10,773)
General and administrative expenses — & e AT BUBA 32 (45,580) (49,260)
Finance costs 5 2 9 (1,061) (1,003)
Share of result of a joint venture g3 A — [ G 8 A 2 2E A (35) —
Share of result of an associate 34— [ g 8 o w3 A — (884)
Profit before taxation W Bl T vai A 10 43,259 38,444
Taxation i IH 12 (9,101) (11,029)
Profit for the year £ 1A Vi | 34,158 27,415
Other comprehensive expense for the year — 4F IR H Ath 4> T BH ¢
Ttems that will not be reclassified to profic ¥ A& & #7 70 F %
or loss: RasmEE :
Equity instruments at fair value through % 2 7~ {8 7 A A 4
other comprehensive income It 2 B fE LR
— change in fair value — N E 5 ) (347) —
Item that may be reclassified subsequently 1% 7] fig T B /3 JH &
to profit or loss: BaIEH :
Exchange differences arising on 1 5 A 3 55 IR EE AR Y
translation of foreign operations BE 50, 75 (9,676) (38,208)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

f o7 R i e LAt 2 v o i R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

2023 2022
20234F 20224
NOTE HK$’000 HKS$°000
R 5 Tt T 5T
(Restated)
(£ & 71)
(Note 3.2)
(F5E3.2)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AR H A A T B S (10,023) (38,208)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for 4 A G 0 % (BR ) AR
the year 24,135 (10,793)
Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to: AN A A A 4
Al (s ) ¢
Owners of the Company i WACIE RN 34,364 29,400
Non-controlling interests IE ¥ W RE 45 (206) (1,985)
34,158 27,415
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for I 51 A+ JE Ak 4 T
the year attributable to: e 25 7 (B ) 4%
Owners of the Company JEW/NEIE F SN 24,529 (8,795)
Non-controlling interests IE ¥ IE B 45 (394) (1,998)
24,135 (10,793)
Earnings per share o B 2L 14
— Basic VN HK cents# fili HK cents # il
2.56 2.18
— Diluted — i HK cents# fili HK cents # il
2.56 2.18
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B BN DL
At 31 December 2023
it 2023 12 H 31 H

2023 2022
20234 20224
NOTES HK$’°000 HK$’000
F 5 T # oo T
(Restated)
(%8 & 71)
(Note 3.2)
(Fff 5E3.2)
Non-current assets I i By
Property, plant and equipment W2 ~ s K B 15 93,351 60,115
Right-of-use assets filT ) RE & 7 16 7,894 8,858
Investment properties P 17 — 283,267
Interest in an associate i — [ W A 0 R AR 18 — —
Interest in a joint venture i — G AR R 19 185 —
Equity instruments at fair value through 2 05 P (B 5 A HAth 2 T
other comprehensive income Wz 2 A TR 20 696 1,043
Prepayment for property, plant and W3~ B KRk A 0 TR A
equipment HIH 24 — 5,872
Rental deposits iEN=E o — 232
Deferred tax assets R AL ol JH & 21 1,139 429
103,265 359,816
Current assets it B &
Inventories & 22 140,050 152,061
Properties held for sale FEHEW % 23 350,459 129,735
Trade and other receivables 2 5 B Ho At 1 i 3k E 24 87,575 71,780
Loan receivable from an associate AR Wi — [T B A DR K 25 7,268 9,343
Financial assets at fair value through i/ /N S (= NG = E Tl i ]
profit or loss B 26 6,131 7,551
Bank deposits HRATAF 3K 27 66,736 63,632
Cash and cash equivalents B KBS EY 27 76,041 53,870
734,260 487,972
Current liabilities i B B
Trade and other payables B 5 B Ho A JRE AT 3 CTE 28 56,510 74,084
Contract liabilities HHAE 29 4,055 7,398
Lease liabilities GEN=S =K 30 35 1,725
Taxation payable JRE 44 Bi T 76,903 66,576
Bank loans SRAT B K 31 25,029 20,203
Bank overdrafts SRATIE X 27 — 1,610
162,532 171,596
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BRI B DL R
At 31 December 2023
* 2023412 H 31 H

2023 2022

20234 20224F

NOTES HK$’000 HKS$°000

Mt 5E Tt T oo

(Restated)

(%8 5 71)

(Note 3.2)

(K 5E3.2)

Net current assets B & R E 571,728 316,376

Total assets less current liabilities B AR E WO ) B E 674,993 676,192
Non-current liabilities I E) A fE

Lease liabilities HE AR 30 9208 110

Provision for long service payments 1= 10 1 B <6 88 45 34 898 898

Deferred tax liabilities IE 2l IH B R 21 23,483 30,432

25,289 31,440

Net assets % E 649,704 644,752
Share capital and reserve B AR I A A

Share capital B A 32 4,470 4,470

Reserves it A 638,197 638,235

Equity attributable to owners of the A FVHE A O EAL E £

Company 642,667 642,705

Non-controlling interests IE ¥ I AE 4= 7,037 2,047

649,704 644,752

The consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to 315

were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 25 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Kan Kin Kwong

i i St
DIRECTOR
#H

FBI36E3SHEHZ HEAMB M EKHERG
20243 H25H b e K 2 HE T8 > A B R
G E H ALK E

Chung Chi Keung

o 7
DIRECTOR
#HH

2023 Annual Report 4EFEHi 139



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
oy B i 5 B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN
Property Share  Statutory Non-
Share  Share  Special revaluation Exchange  options  surplus  Other Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Sub-total  interest  Total
ES WhE %R FER

B Bhril wARE  ERGE EARG  RH RREE LOREG REEN O A #E &%
HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000  HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 — HKS000 HKS000
Téxr TEx Téx Fiéx Téx Téx TéEx Téx Ti#x Tz TEx TEx

(Note (a)) (Note (b))  (Note (c))
(1 o) (W&o (W)
At1 January 2022 R4 1A1H 4500 66,840  (37,720) 33493 29,691 8,850 30,678 — 547942 684,274 1,014 685,288
Profit/(loss) for the year ERiEf/
(E4) - - - - - - - — 29400 29,400 (1985) 27415
Exchange differences arising ST
on translation of foreign EEM
Operations (restated) EizE
(&) - - — — (3819 - - - - (3819) (13)  (38,208)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ 4 2 Tl
income for the year (restated) (%) /
Wi g
(&) - - - - (381%9) - - — 9400 (8795 (1998) (10,793)

Repurchase and cancellation of % I &

shares R0 (30 (1,922 — — — - — - — (1,9 — (1,99
Contribution from non- FHR

controlling sharcholders RR g

(restated) (BEH) - - - - - - - — — — 5031 3031
Acquisition of subsidiaries under 1t B % £ 7 #

common control (restated) 2B AT

(BEF) — - — — — — — (38 - (380 — (38
Dividend (note 13) T B E13) — (27,000 - - - - - - — (27,000 — (27,000
Transfer 44 — — — — — — 1,258 — (1,259 — — —

51 December 2022 (restated) ~ 20224F12431H
() 4470 37918 (37,720) 33,493 (8,504) 8,850 31,936 (3,822) 576,084 642,705 2047 644,752
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2023
WA 2023 4F 12 A 31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN 1

Property Share Statutory Non-
Share  Share  Special revaluation Exchange options surplus  Other Retained controlling
capital premium  reserve  reserve reserve reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Sub-total interest  Total
% BhE e B
Bk BOEE SMEE  EEEH EREE WG BEREE TURE REERA O G W& At
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$000
T#x T#x T#x  TEx TEx T#x TEx TEx TEx TEx  TEx  TEx
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(Wit (Ket0) (Wit
At 1 January 2023 (restated) 20231 1R
(HEF) 4470 37918 (37,7200 33493  (8,504) 8,850 31,936  (3,822) 576,084 642,705 2,047 644,752
Profit/(loss) for the year ERER /B
) - - - - - - - — 34364 34,364 (206) 34,158
Exchange differences arising 50 #1151
on translation of foreign ERELD
operations B 5 - - - - (9,099) — (3% - — (9489) (188)  (9,676)
Fair value change through other J{ 12 Ut 4 £
comprehensive income N5 - — — — - - - (347) — (347) - (347)
Total comprehensive income/ Eh2TLE/
(expense) for the year (Fi %) 4% — — - — (9,094) — (%) B4 34364 24529 (394) 24,135
Acquisition of subsidiaries under 1 1 3 35 [l £
common control ZHERT - - - - - - - 5 - 1255 1692 3947
Contribution from non- F o M
controlling shareholders - - - - - - - — — - 3,692 3,692
Dividend (note 13) BB (W its) — (6820 - - - - - - - (26822) - (26822)
Share option lapsed and transfer B 1 2 4
to0 retained profit BERBERH
(note 33) (&3] - - - - - W) - — 4l - - -
Transfer @y — — — — — — 568 — (568) — — —
31 December 2023 WBFIBIH 4470 1,09 (37,7200 33493 (17,598) 4705 32,110 (1914) 614,025 642,667 7,037 649,704
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Wz

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(o)

142 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %555 ] [5] [4% 2  A7 P2

2023 4F 12 A 31 HIEFJE

Special reserve represents the reserves arising from the business
transfer of the jewellery business of the shareholders by then to the
Group on 26 June 2015 and acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries on 22 October 2019.

In accordance with relevant laws and regulations for enterprises
in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer 10%
of their profit after taxation reported in their statutory financial
statements prepared under relevant accounting principles and
financial regulations applicable to enterprises established in the

PRC to the statutory surplus reserve.

Since Accounting Guideline 5 (“AG5”), Merger Accounting
for Common Control Combinations, issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants is adopted, the net assets
of the acquired controlling companies are the difference between
the consideration paid and the net book values of the acquirees.
The details of the common control combination are more fully
explained in the announcement named “Connected transaction
in relation to the acquisition of the target company in the PRC”
published by the Company on 24 May 2023. The announcement is

available on the Company’s website and Stock Exchange’s website.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there is a fair
value change of equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income of approximately HK$347,000.

.

(a)

(b)

(o)

A

Ak AR TR 20154E 6 H 26 Bt 8 I i R 22 Bk
BB RS R A T R A R AR B 2019 4F
1022 H i Jif BiF Jag 2 =1 10 At B 4

R o B A 3 R0 AR B A R O R B
o BN RO TR P B R SL 2 AR SE AR B 2
sk I5R K B B B AR R 2k E BB R R o
T 52 i 2 B B A i M 22 109 T 8 4 5 E BB
o

R PR A R AT B 2 & R aE S
SS9 (T8 w146 51 58558 D[ 36 W 2 61 5 F 10 45
GRER] CRBERAAMNEEFMHELC
S AR R i W T IR TS R ) Y S A e
A B SE A A R REE - TR AR A AR 2023
A5 24 H T 8% 19 8 M T BR s 0 e B AR 4 D
el h: Al I R /A A /A
A il e Wt AC BT A vl A B -

R ER £ 2023412 H31H 1B 4E B> A T EFFA
Hib&ml sz BHET A A FESHO L
347,000 JC ©



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GaBleRia®k

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T %t
(Restated)
(B 5)
(Note 3.2)
(Fft 5%3.2)
Operating activities £ T E)
Profit before taxation IZ]} i 1T %5 43,259 38,444
Adjustments for: PO I E i
Share of result of a joint venture ik — A A 35 —
Share of result of an associate a3 4 — R B 2 R 3K 4R — 884
Loss on changes in fair value of investment WEWENTHEY
properties i 198 2,367
Gain on fair value changes upon transfer REREFENEYER
of properties held for sale to investment BOE W) SN P E
properties UL 5 — (5,399)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment ERY V& i 3,264 2,559
Depreciation on right-of-use assets A AT R 953 1,694
Dividend income from financial assets at fair i/ O - NG = L0
value through profit or loss B85 T A I B i A (164) (711)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss TR &l AR
model BAH B 4R 1,042 20,661
Interest income B A (3,246) (755)
Interest expenses S B 2 1,061 1,003
Loss on changes in fair value of financial assets /N S R NG = R AR
at fair value through profit or loss G 2o T8 B 1R 1,420 318
Loss on disposal of investment properties HMEREYEZEH 1,586 —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and &Y - R f)g?& % A
equipment I H (lds) 136 (72)
Operating cash flows before movements in working EEE S EE
capital HEeRnE 49,544 60,993
Decrease/(increase) in inventories HEBY/ () 12,011 (2,792)
Decrease in properties held for sale ;fT 1E B W 2 D 32,327 12,614
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables and EUNERN AT 1Y
deposits 4 (m) w b (8,668) 9,230
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables H E/&Eﬁﬁ}@ e
W)/ (17,573) 10,657
Decrease in contract liabilities = Z’] B D (3,343) (26,287)
Cash generated from operations HEEHE S 64,298 64,415
Tax paid CAT B IH (5,085) (4,899)
Net cash generated from operating activities R n IR E TR R ] 59,213 59,516
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A Bl EmER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$°000
T# TikET
(Restated)
(% = 51)
(Note 3.2)
(Kt 5E3.2)
Investing activities BEWEH)
Placement of bank deposits T R AT A 3K (3,104) (63,632)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through i B A T E R A A
profit or loss s E E — (7,347)
Purchase of equity instruments at fair value through g & Jff /N N (11 /N N
other comprehensive income I 4 2 R TR — (1,043)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B E - MR Rk {% (34,845) (636)
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets at fair value AP E R AR
through profit or loss SV 5 9 E T A AR — 17,952
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value e\ (H 5 fi 1 BB
through profit or loss R TR R B A 164 711
Interest received SR &Ps) 3,246 755
Investment in a joint venture REERENRE (228) —
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and SE-L/E SN N ]
equipment e 15 3K IH 2 78
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties & B Py 2 A 15 RO0R 16,730 —
Net cash generated/(used in) investing activities BOEE B AT B4 A (18,035) (53,162)
Financing activities il 1 )
Dividends paid B R (26,822) (27,000)
Capital injection ey 3,947 3,960
Repayment of bank loans HIEMATHE K (6,188) (6,188)
Payments for repurchase of shares [ 5 B0y BT ASF 3K — (1,952)
Repayment of lease liabilities & ﬁ*ﬁ% B1E (856) (1,725)
Interest paid EEERDS (1,515) (1,003)
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders 7 I e R B 3,692 3,031
New bank loans raised SR AT B K 11,013 —
Net cash used in financing activities TR ) T T 4 (16,729) (30,877)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents B BB EEEY M,/ (B)
ik 24,449 (24,523)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year R B B & Iﬁ % EEY 52,260 78,935
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes A i R e 438 ) 5 B (668) (2,152)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year ERME S RHEEEY 76,041 52,260
Represented by: ik
Bank balances and cash AT & R M BL& 76,041 53,870
Bank overdrafts RATHE L — (1,610)
76,041 52,260
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Major non-cash transactions:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the investment
properties with fair value of approximately Renminbi
(“RMB”) 232,439,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$255,990,000) were transferred to properties held for
sale (2022: RMB8,208,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,521,000) were transferred from properties held for sale).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the investment
properties with fair value at approximately RMB2,373,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,613,000) were
transferred to property, plant and equipment (2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, addition
of right-of-use asset of approximately RMB887,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$977,000) was incurred.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, lease liabilities
of approximately RMB887,000 (equivalent to HK$977,000)

was incurred.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

WaBleiag
For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

TEEHELS:

B E2023F12H31H L E > A FHAE
N R (TR ¥]) 232,439,000 70 (K & A &)
255,990,000%5 JG) 1Y % & ¥ 2 i B & £; {E
& ) 3 (20224F © AR %8,208,000 7T (4
TR £79,521,000% J0) B FEE & B Y ¥

%) o

B E2023F12H31H IEFE > A FEHA L
A B %2,373,0007C (M & i £92,613,000%
TN EMEE B EYE - B KM
(20224 : &)

A 202312 H31H IL4EFE > i B HE & & W
B AN R #887,0007T (A1 & i £1977,000
HEIT) °

M E20234F12H3IHILAEE - HEAEXN S
N B #5887,0007C (AH & JiX #1977,000% 7T) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 3 A 5 e M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

146 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited {f#§4 B2 A BR A 7]

GENERAL INFORMATION

Perfect Group International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 16 June 2015 and its shares were listed on The

“Stock
Exchange”) on 4 January 2016. The registered office

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KYI-1111, Cayman
Islands and the principal place of business of the
Company is at 26/F, YHC Tower, 1 Sheung Yuet
Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. The Company’s
ultimate holding company is Immaculate Diamonds
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company
are designing, manufacturing and exporting of fine
jewellery, property development and photovoltaic

power generation.

During the year, the Group acquired 55% of equity
interest in a PRC subsidiary from the controlling
shareholder and commenced in photovoltaic power
generation business. Further details of the acquisition
are set out in note 3.2. Particulars of the subsidiaries

of the Company are set out in note 38.

— k& B
PR 5 1 B PR ROA BR o A (TR A
A1) 20154616 H 7E B 2 BF 5 +F il
B s HOR A TR 20164F1 H4H T8 A
Wt 5 22 oy P A R 22 w) (T 22 BT 1) B e
ZIK/\ w19 55 A 3% 25 B2 /% Cricker Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KYI-1111, Cayman Islands ° 74
AR FEEEEMBEFBILIEE
DéLly}*‘ R B B 26 M o AR A ]
Y i %6 12 B > m) Ry — TR 7E 3 J6 R L B
5 ([ 92 J68 B e # 85 1) w5z 1 4 )

Immaculate Diamonds Limited °

AN w By — W E R BA T o A FE
Wi J > W B SR et - RO K
O BRE - MR FOLREEE -

AR IR AR B2 I i 2 e R i O — o
[ B Ja§ 2 F55% Y I HE - 3l BA 4R e
6 AR R E B o WO 2 — R
O W EE3.2 o A B AR 2 K E A R
A F 17 R MY RE38



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION -

continued

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from
the functional currency of the Company, i.e. United
States Dollar (“USD”). The reason for selecting HK$
as its presentation currency is because most of the
shareholders of the Company are located in Hong
Kong.

During the year, the Group entered into a business
combination under common control (“common control
combination”), involving Guangdong Kaisi New Energy
Company Limited* (J& SR 18 W B BB VR A PR /A 7)) and
its subsidiaries, further details of which are included

in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the common control combination, the
Group presents its consolidated financial statements
involved Guangdong Kaisi New Energy Company
Limited* (& # 18 H7 # 88 VR A R 2 7)) under
common control using the principles of merger
accounting. The details of the common control
combination are more fully explained in the
announcements named “Connected transaction in
relation to the acquisition of the target company in
the PRC” published by the Company on 24 May 2023
and 3 August 2023. The announcements are available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s

website.

The English name of the company established in the
People’s Republic of Chine (the “PRC”) represent
management’s translation of the Chinese name of such

company for information purpose only.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

— &R - A

fRa B R DLl T (T o)) 241
LA AR DI RE R W (RISt (136 5T )
ANTR] o 288 1R T Ay HL 2 R Y
PR 25 A 2 ) 22 S0 JBE SR R A 9

SN AR AR AT — JH 3L ) R Y
EH A OF(TIE R B H A 0D - W &R
SR 37T RE TR RS W S LK g A ]
i — 2 N O AR A RS TR I RE
3.2

B S A O > A EE KA A
& w1 A2 R e SR [ R R R R
o WB AR R A PR A R4S & Ik -
AL S & RN CRAS
A R20234F5H24H & 20234F8H3H T
B A AGTA B B EH AR AR 2
B 5 G ) Al B e % A MR R
AN ) A Sl B B AZ Pl 4 vk A B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS 2. M7 08 % % 0 ([F&F

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020

and February 2022

Amendments to

HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Policies

Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International tax reform —

Pillar Two Model Rules

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

Changes in accounting policy as a result
of application of the HKICPA guidance
on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service Payment
(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong

In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR
gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”)
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived
from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to
offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”).
The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May
2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under
the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead
of the date of termination of employment) is used
to calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the

employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides
guidance for the accounting for the offsetting
mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of
the MPE-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong.
In light of this, the Group has implemented the
guidance published by the HKICPA in connection
with the LSP obligation retrospectively so as to
provide more reliable and more relevant information
about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the
Abolition.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

Changes in accounting policy as a result
of application of the HKICPA guidance
on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service Payment
(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong — continued

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising
from employer MPF contributions that have been
vested with the employee and which could be used
to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed
contribution by the employee towards the LSP.
Historically, the Group has been applying the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19
to account for the deemed employee contributions as
a reduction of the service cost in the period in which

the related service is rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

Changes in accounting policy as a result
of application of the HKICPA guidance
on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service Payment
(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong — continued

Based on the HKICPA’s guidance, as a result of
the Abolition, these contributions are no longer
considered “linked solely to the employee’s service
in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF
contributions after the Transition Date can still be
used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation.
Therefore, it would not be appropriate to view the
contributions as “independent of the number of years
of service” and the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead,
these deemed contributions should be attributed to
periods of service in the same manner as the gross
LSP benefit applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19.
Accordingly, the Group has recognised a cumulative
catch-up adjustment in profit or loss for the service
cost, interest expense and remeasurement effect
from changes in actuarial assumptions for the year
ended 31 December 2022, with corresponding
adjustment to the LSP obligation. The cumulative
catch-up adjustment is calculated as the difference
at the enactment date (16 June 2022) between the
carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated under
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 before the Abolition and
the carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated
under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19 after the
Abolition.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS 2. W& 08  ((F

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

Changes in accounting policy as a result
of application of the HKICPA guidance
on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service Payment
(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong — continued

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability

and has applied the HKICPA guidance retrospectively.

However, since the amounts of the catch-up profit or
loss adjustment for the year ended 31 December 2022
and provision for current year were immaterial with
reference to the assessment by the external specialist
engaged by the Group, this change in accounting
policy did not result in material impact on the
opening balance of equity at 1 January 2022, and
the results, cash flows and earnings per share for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and the consolidated

financial position as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s contributions
to the MPF Scheme and the accrued interest thereon
do not exceed the potential liabilities should the
required circumstances specified in the Employment
Ordinance be met. Consequently, provision for long
service payment of HK$898,000 (2022: HK$898,000)

is not adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture!

between an Investor and its

Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants?

Amendment to
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong

Amendment to

Classification of Liabilities as

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKEFRS 16 Leaseback?

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangement?
HKAS 7 and
HKEFRS 7

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January

2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January
2025.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective — continued

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the above new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values, as

explained in accounting policies set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

consolidated financial statements —
continued

Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for

goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets (“HKAS 367).

3.1 Basis of preparation of the 3.1 %6 B 3 g AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

f 3 B B e o A AL e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.1 Basis of preparation of the 3.1 56 5 o A AL e

consolidated financial statements — #H

continued

For financial instruments and investment G /N S = R’ <D S NS W4

properties which are transacted at fair value BeEW M F > A B WA

and a valuation technique that unobservable 1 2 Ak B J7 5 R 7 BE 1% 9 1

inputs are to be used to measure fair value in i Et B S E - RIS R D7 T R

subsequent periods, the valuation technique e e > [RLG T A) h lE RR IRE  AlE

is calibrated so that at initial recognition the W5 ik 4 R L AR By (E A 5 o

results of the valuation technique equals the

transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, 0 W S = /AN B 1

fair value measurements are categorised into At AR 4R A OF B R & A A B

Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which 1A B R ¥ Mot A R B

the inputs to the fair value measurements are FEFENBEREEZESHEA

observable and the significance of the inputs to SHIAR - ER28 B SR3AR o L uk

the fair value measurement in its entirety, which I

are described as follows:

. Levell inputs are quoted prices o BIRRE O BUEE 2 H MRS
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical = H 0] DUBAS A A0 [R] &
assets or liabilities that the entity can Bl B I R T R R AE Ok
access at the measurement date; KR

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than o GE2HE A BUHE R M E E K
quoted prices included within Level 1, that BUAE 2 B 2 T B A
are observable for the asset or liability, LN & JE A/ AN AR
either directly or indirectly; and RN 5 R

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for o EE3AE A W HE R EE A

fE A JF w8 i A HpE

the asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 A EEHEORE B

information
Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (L.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the

investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

e  the contractual arrangement with the other

vote holders of the investee;

. rights arising from other contractual

arrangements; and

. The Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R EGRHBURE B -
information — continued
Basis of consolidation — continued LEA L E _ 4H
The financial statements of subsidiaries are WF a8 2N ] 2 B RS i 3R 5 R R B
prepared for the same reporting period as the — B & wh R i B AR 2w AH [F]
Company, using consistent accounting policies. Z iﬁ’( 15 H i & o Mﬂ% AN N %
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from A A 4R T A I BE 2 HRE 45
the date on which the Group obtains control, BAM WBELEEAREZHE
and continue to be consolidated until the date M HEZ L2 H -

that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other 5 #5 S 4% TE H A 4 i IR 55 TH B B
comprehensive income are attributed to the & A A R BN W) B IR RO 4
owners of the parent of the Group and to the RV 4t 4 2R #E IRORE 4 b B
non-controlling interests, even if this results i Al A R o AL B L B AR 2 H
in the non-controlling interest having a deficit M52 oy ~ &R~ WA S B SR AR
balance. All intra-group transactions, balances, G R & B8 -

income and expenses are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls 1 2 B A % 2 BT SCHE g 2 A
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate & Fh B Bk iy —TH R R ) —
that there are changes to one or more of the TR DL b B d) > A 4L H % &
three elements of control described in the WAL R AR R E R -

accounting policy for subsidiaries below.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests i A< 4R [ A BB S W) R HE A OME
in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group E i b B A ) (H F M R BK R
losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted 9o L Mg s A 2 PR IRE > w%
for as equity transactions. ARSI HERS 5 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Basis of consolidation — continued

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any investment retained and
(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to the consolidated income statement
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or

liabilities.

Merger accounting and restatements

On 24 May 2023, the Group entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with Jiangmen
City Hongxin Construction Project Company
Limited* (7L P77 5015 & & T #e 4 BR 22 7))
as vendor (“the Vendor”), pursuant to which the
Group has agreed to acquire and the Vendor
has agreed to dispose of 55% of its entire equity
Interests of Guangdong Kaisi New Energy
Company Limited* (B ¥ 18 M #7 f& I8 A
FR 2> | (“the Target Company”) for a cash
consideration of approximately RMB7,150,000.
Following completion of the acquisition on 3
August 2023, the Target Company became an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the

Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Merger accounting and restatements —
continued

The details of the acquisition of the Target
Company are more fully explained in the
announcement named “Connected transaction
in relation to the acquisition of the Target
Company in the PRC” published by the
Company on 24 May 2023 and 3 August
2023. The announcement is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchanges ’s

website.

As the Target Company is ultimately controlled
by Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (“Mr. Kan”) before
and after the acquisition and that control is not
transitory, there would be a continuation of
the risks and benefits to Mr. Kan and therefore
the acquisition was accounted as a business
combination of entities under common control.
The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have therefore been prepared using the
merger basis of accounting as if the acquisition
has occurred from the date when Mr. Kan
has obtained control. The net assets of the
companies comprising the Group have been
consolidated using the existing book values from

the perspective of Mr. Kan.

* The English names of the companies established in

the PRC represent management’s translation of the
Chinese names of such companies for information

purpose only.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 HREGRBURE B -

information — continued

Merger accounting and restatements —
continued

Comparative amounts in the consolidated
financial statements are restated as if the
entities or businesses had been combined at the

beginning of the comparative period.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income include the
results of combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented. The effects of all
transactions between the combining entities or
businesses, whether occurring before or after the

Acquisitions, are eliminated.

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted
when preparing the consolidated financial

statements.

& OF & g B 5 ik K = A
— 8

A BB Rk L B R R
0 A B R R b )
fFE 5 -

o o 15 L s o e o T
AL & OF BB RS B R 2 5
0T A 3 B M G R i I
VT B% > BT A & SR
W22 H B EIKE -

R — BB — G 5 BUK R R 45
B Rk -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Merger accounting and restatements —
continued

The effects of the application of merger
accounting on the consolidated statement of

financial position as at 31 December 2022 are as

f 3 B B e o A AL e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

G P e S B Oy K E Y
_ 4

FE A OF & 51k B k20224124
31H Y %5 & W 551k Bl 2% B9 52 28
T

follows:
As at  Adjustments
31 December for As at
2022 as combination 31 December
previously using merger 2022 as
reported  accounting restated
#20224F BIEA A 120224
12A310 &FHEEH 12A31H
CERT2#H) &M (KEI)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T T
Non-current assets IF o By &
Property, plant and equipment W WE KM 60,115 — 60,115
Right-of-use assets 7 A B 8,858 — 8,858
Investment properties &) 283,267 — 283,267
Interest in an associate e — TR e 7 2 W) Y HE 2 _ _ —
Equity instruments at fair value Fe N 7B wHA At 4
through other comprehensive It 2 A LA
income 1,043 — 1,043
Prepayment for property, plant and ¥ 3 ~ ik 7 B 5% 5 1Y)
equipment FA FRIA — 5,872 5,872
Rental deposits GiEN =i 232 — 232
Deferred tax assets W S B TH 429 — 429
353,944 5,872 359,816
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

information — continued

MCI’gCI’ accounting and restatements —

continued

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

B 7 B e o A A e e T
KEHHBRE R - 8

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

& OF & 5 g 25 ik K A
-

As at  Adjustments
31 December for As at
2022 as combination 31 December
previously using merger 2022 as
reported  accounting restated
#20224F BLRHE G 20224
127310 G &tk ki 12H31H
ERT 2 k) Z&HAR  (KEI)
HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000
T T T T T T

Current assets it W) A
Inventories P 152,061 — 152,061
Properties held for sale FiAE & W) 2 129,735 — 129,735
Trade and other receivables and B Gy Ko FAth, 1 i K T DA
prepayment VSEERE @I 71,780 — 71,780
Loan receivable from an associate & Ui — ] Wk 48 /A m] B0 3K 9,343 — 9,343
Financial assets at fair value NP EFFA B
through profit or loss 05 7,551 — 7,551
Bank deposits SRATAE 3K 63,632 — 63,632
Cash and cash equivalents Bl MBS EY 48,481 5,389 53,870
482,583 5,389 487,972
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. ZGMBMEHWEER E
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K&t BORE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 HREGRBURE B -

information — continued
Merger accounting and restatements — é\ ﬁfl: A@' §+ FE }E ﬁ :‘/i‘ & ﬁ ﬁ”
continued - 78
As at  Adjustments
31 December for As at
2022 as combination 31 December
previously using merger 2022 as
reported  accounting restated
20224 BERAE B R20224F
12H31H € 5k AE 12H31H
CERT2#W) Zaiidag  (KHE)
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T ¥ T T ¥ T
Current liabilities iR =R
Trade and other payables B 5 B oA A 3KCIH 60,671 13,413 74,084
Contract liabilities aRAME 7,398 — 7,398
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,725 — 1,725
Taxation payable JRE 484 i T 66,576 — 66,576
Bank loans RAT B 20,203 — 20,203
Bank overdrafts SRATHE L 1,610 —_ 1,610
158,183 13,413 171,596
Net current assets B I E 324,400 (8,024) 316,376
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 IR

B 7 B e o A A e e T
KEHHBRE R - 8

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

Merger aCCOUnting and restatements — {5\ ,ﬁ{]: @. %1- Fﬁ% IE 7‘5‘ 725 & E §IJ
continued —
As at  Adjustments
31 December for As at
2022 as combination 31 December
previously using merger 2022 as
reported  accounting restated
R20224F M A G R20224F
127310 & 5% fE 12H31H
(ERr2H) 260 (%% & %)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T oo
Total assets less current liabilities EEBAEBEREAE 678,344 (2,152) 676.192
Non-current liabilities FE B A R
Lease liabilities GER==E 110 — 110
Provision for long service payments 1= 93 iR 75 4= 4 898 — 898
Deferred tax liabilities AE E Bl IH A 30,432 — 30,432
31,440 — 31,440
Net assets HEFHE 646,904 (2,152) 644,752
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HaWMBHERMEAEYE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 HREGRBURE B -
information — continued
Merger accounting and restatements — G P e g 7k K& E B
continued — 48

As at  Adjustments
31 December for As at
2022 as combination 31 December
previously using merger 2022 as
reported  accounting restated
R20224F SR G 20224
127310 gatikfEd 12A310
CERT 2 k) Z&HHAR  (KEI)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T ¥ T

Share capital and reserve B A T A
Share capital A 4,470 — 4,470
Reserves otk H 642,076 (3,841) 638,235

Equity attributable to owners of AN F A ON HE AL HE 45

the Company 646,546 (3,841) 642,705
Non-controlling interests IE ¥ I HE 45 358 1,689 2,047
646,904 (2,152) 644,752
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Merger accounting and restatements —
continued

The effects of the application of merger
accounting on the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2022 are as follows:

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

g 4y S I e 4 B W R R
IRETtiIN

3.2 HAEGEHBORE B - 4]

A DF BT B 1 R T
_NE

JE A& OF & 51k B 8 £20224F12
HA3IHIF4EE R4 A B E RN ¥
AR

For the
year ended  Adjustments For the
31 December for year ended
2022 as  combination 31 December
previously  using merger 2022 as
reported accounting restated
#E20228 MEMEH  BE20224
12J31H &5t iE 12431H
1E4E ez 1E 4
(S 2 &) FEgii RS (& 5)
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
T 7 T 7T T %7t
Revenue & 374,049 — 374,049
Cost of goods sold B & AR (259,380) — (259,380)
Gross profit Bl 114,669 — 114,669
Other income FoAt e A 3,469 2 3,471
Other gains and losses oAt i %5 K e 48 2,885 — 2,885
Impairment losses under expected credic T8 {15 & f B8 T 1Y
loss model W (E s 18 (20,661) — (20,661)
Selling and distribution costs 85 45 Je o) B R AR (10,773) — (10,773)
General and administrative expenses — M B AT BB S (49,258) () (49,260)
Finance costs I ¥ % (1,003) — (1,003)
Share of result of an associate oA — T A ) SR 4 (884) — (884)
Profit before taxation % Bl 17 T A 38,444 = 38,444
Taxation i H (11,029) — (11,029)
Profit for the year 4 A i A 27,415 — 27,415
Earnings per share g i A
— Basic N HK cents # il HK cents # il HK cents #& Ll
2.18 — 2.18
— Diluted — B HK cents # flll HK cents # fill HK cents #5 Il

2.18 — 2.18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. &
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KX
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

2

o)
T
sy
W

pusyod
| o
=
HE

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 EARERHERE R - M
information — continued
Merger aCCounting and restatements — /\ 1}1: =] Fl+ J:E’ IE ji ?% & E: ﬁlj
continued _ 45
The effects of the application of merger JE G UF & 512 3 8 2 20224F12
accounting on the consolidated statement of H31 HIFFEERE S B &N &R
cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2022 5 B h
are as follows:
For the
year ended  Adjustments For the
31 December for year ended
2022 as  combination 31 December
previously  using merger 2022 as
reported accountin restated
WE22F MEWAH  WE0200

12H31H & 5k 12H31H
1k 4R B e 2 1k 4F B

(EHT 2 W)  AHHE CE 5]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$7000

Tt Tt T

Operating activities B )

Profit before taxation B i A 3 A 38,444 — 38,444
Adjustments for: PO EE E %
Share of result of an associate a3 ik — [ B A ) 3 4 884 — 884
Loss on changes in fair value of EWENTHZHER

investment properties 2,367 — 2,367
Gain on fair value changes upon BRI E YR

transfer of properties held for sale to P& RN AT E

investment properties 5 By 4 (5,399) — (5,399)
Depreciation on property, plant and ERN GV ik

equipment 2,559 — 2,559
Depreciation on right-of-use assets i W AT 1,694 — 1,694
Dividend income from financial assets %4 °F- {5 #F A 18 %5 7Y

at fair value through profit or loss B %f? i 15 B Bl A (711) — (711)
Impairment losses under expected credic 8 15 & i B 8 T i1

loss model RN R 20,661 — 20,661
Interest income B A (755) — (755)
Interest expenses A B 52 1,003 — 1,003
Loss on changes in fair value of 17/ X (= A WANE = B 1]

financial assets at fair value through MHEEZATHE

profit or loss 5 ) i 1 318 — 318
Gain on disposal of property, plant and tH&E ¥ % - &5 K&

equipment % Ui (72) — (72)
Operating cash flows before movements BEESE BRI

in working capital KB B 60,993 — 60,993
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. ZoMB MR ERERE R H
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K&l BUR & R - 4
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
3.2 Material accounting policy 32 EAGEERE R - 8

information — continued
Merger aCCOUnting and restatements — é\ ,ﬁfl: ‘%’ §+ FE }E 7\7 :‘/i‘ & E ﬁ”
continued - 8
The effects of the application of merger & G i i %202251512
accounting on the consolidated statement of H31H Ik 4F B E’J AR enER
cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2022 B 7% /(1 -
are as follows — continued:
For the
year ended  Adjustments For the
31 December for year ended
2022 as  combination 31 December
previously  using merger 2022 as
reported accountin restated
% 20224 TMEJ%AP% B E 20224

12H31H & 5 i B 12311
ILEE AHERZ 1k 4R B

(ST 2 ) i B

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

T %It T %70 T %ot

Increase in inventories & (2,792) — (2,792)

Decrease in properties held for sale T AF B W) 2 8D 12,614 — 12,614

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other & 5 J H: Al JE i 3K JE

receivables and deposits G Y (38 m) 15,102 (5,872) 9,230

Increase in trade and other payables B 5y B H At e A K IE B 5,026 5,631 10,657

Decrease in contract liabilities R AEWD (26,287) — (26,287)
Cash generated from/(used in) KRR () B4

operations 64,656 (241) 64,415

Tax paid 2AT B IH (4,899) — (4,899)
Net cash generated from/(used in) & %’ WGBTS () B4

operating activities FH 59,757 (241) 59,516
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION - continued
3.2 Material accounting policy

information — continued

Merger accounting and restatements —

continued

The effects of the application of merger

accounting on the consolidated statement of
cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2022

are as follows — continued:

=+
BTy

g

B

3.2 HAKH

R BES
BUR &

>

—T

48 0 05 Y J T
A

SR P — A

£ 6 3 5 7 o K 5

_#E

JE & OF & 5t ik B8 £20224F12
H31H IEAF Y &5
sy 28 — 45

For the
year ended  Adjustments For the
31 December for year ended
2022 as  combination 31 December
previously  using merger 2022 as
reported accountin restated
BENDE REPEH BE206E
12H31 @FHEHE 12/431H
IEFEE AifERZ 4R
(5 i 2 ) i B S ]
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T Fhw  Tix
Investing activities RE )
Placement of bank deposits WATHFRFE (63,632) — (63,632)
Purchase of financial assets at fair fif BT A CFEFEAHE W
value through profit or loss W7 (7,347) — (7,347)
Purchase of equity instruments at fair i B #% /A {8 51 A H Al
value through other comprehensive WA LR
income (1,043) — (1,043)
Purchase of property, plant and HEE Y2 WOR Rt
equipment (636) — (636)
Proceeds on disposal of financial A T R AR 5 1Y
assets at fair value through profit W5 9 I A5 R
or loss 17,952 — 17,952
Dividend income from financial AT HEFIABGEMN
assets at fair value through profit I B A I Bl A
or loss 711 — 711
Interest received o i A1 755 — 755
Proceeds on disposal of property, G BRI B
plant and equipment i 15 78 78 — 78
Net cash used in investing activities TG BT B A (53,162) — (53,162)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

3.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

zg

W

o
N

fe

I 55 3 g

3.2 HAERNEORE B -

Merger aCCOUntlng and restatements — {3\ ﬁ E Jﬁ:i IE 7‘5‘ 72 & E ﬁ”
continued — 4
For the
year ended  Adjustments For the
31 December for year ended
2022 as  combination 31 December
previously  using merger 2022 as
reported accounting restated
#2022 MEEHEH B E20224
12J31H &t i A 12/131H
HEE SifELZ 147
(S 2 &) o B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T W T 0 T 0
Financing activities il & 5 B
Capital injection <y — 3,960 3,960
Dividends paid oA B (27,000) — (27,000)
Repayment of bank loans 8 12 SR AT 3K (6,188) — (6,188)
Payments for repurchase of shares Iu] i i 13 15 3K (1,952) — (1,952)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (1,725) — (1,725)
Interest paid oA LG (1,003) — (1,003)
Contribution from non-controlling I M A E
shareholders 1,342 1,689 3,031
Net cash (used in)/generated from BERE R, is 8 &
financing activities e (36,526) 5,649 (30,877)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ¥ 4 3 & % (H¥) (W )/
equivalents 10 5 A (29,931) 5,408 (24,523)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning i 4 ] [ 51 & & 5L & 55 (4
of the year 78,935 — 78,935
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [T 38 % B 1) 5% % (2,133) (19) (2,152)
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of BERNE S LA EEED
the year 46,871 5,389 52,260
Represented by: i
Bank balances and cash WG NE S 48,481 5,389 53,870
Bank overdrafts RITIE X (1,610) — (1,610)
46,871 5,389 52,260
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

Interests in an associate and a joint - /NCI DS S -
venture HE 15

An associate is an entity over which the Group Bigamfe A LEB LR A E
has significant influence. Significant influence KREBIOWER - HEREEIIE

is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is

not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
the unanimous consent of the parties sharing

control.

172 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited fR#§4E B2 A BR A 7]

AHE2 HEE B R 2B &K
BRI PSR A B % S
SR B A 1 1 R I ) A o

oA SR R IC R P ) — T L Bk
W2 807 B IH G B LR &
A REA & 1 P e S A
il 2 45 1 5 R &) 52 > - IH
P oy 72 0 RE > Sl ELAE AE B AR B
Bl 19 P SR ORI RE Y 2 B
J7— BUR B R A A AE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued

Interests in an associate and a joint
venture — continued

An investment in an associate or a joint venture
is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, less any
impairment losses, unless it is classified as
held for sale. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of
the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post-acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

BEE AT LG EAEZ

g AR A B AR N IE R
E 25 3% 5 A &5 A I B R R W
FAT AT WAE B 18 O R AR
M E RSN « EATHBER S T
AT BE A AE B AT AT R ) B R
R — B o MR BE
SE LASA AR - KOt A 4 B A %
TR N W) AT O A AE U H
B 2 7 E 8 a2 T B A
A O (U A7) AR B o HAR
N SR R </ TR - g
W i A% Y A B K BB R LR A
B 9 AT o] 98 (L fls 1R 10 o o R - AT
A7 T4 Wi S I S0 A Y 22
7 AR T T A R 28 R W AR Y
B Bl A% € &7 I AF AT ] 980 M s
HR AR AR R A
V7 A T AR P A R B WD BR AR
1 A 2 T U B R AR S A T
W 2 % e AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 7 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Interests in an associate and a joint
venture — continued

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture,
the Group’s interest is reduced to zero and
recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this
purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity
method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate or the

joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the
associate or joint venture is included as part of
the Group’s investments in an associate or a joint

venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued

Interests in an associate and a joint
venture — continued

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa,
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for
under the equity method. In all other cases,
when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Any interest retained in
that former investee at the date when significant
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair

value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

When an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is

accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5.

R R/NEINN S R

fm. — fE

LR PAE S S8 J R R o i’
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R EGRHBURE B -
information — continued
Revenue from contracts with customers HL &5 1) A #) IR %5
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a A AL [ A (BE) 58 BB £ AT RF
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when (AP E B AT HENE
“control” of the goods or services underlying the i IR B R TR IR I TR F
particular performance obligation is transferred Rr ) e 58 UK 5 o

to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or J& #) AT 45 — TH W B 5 IR B
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is (8l — it & sk IR B 3k — R 51 K
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services S{OH [R] Y BH e B 1R S o

that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is 45 G DA Hoh — T e Al
recognised over time by reference to the progress i HE 2% W T ) RS i g B 2
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant % A0 BB £ B AL 09 58 B RS
performance obligation if one of the following Iy [H] i 58

criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives o A S B B AR [R] I i
and consumes the benefits provided by BRI FE A 4R B A BT 4R
the Group’s performance as the Group ik 14 ] 45 5
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or o ARLHERE X B B T
enhances an asset that the customer B F R A £ B A IR 4
controls as the Group performs; or B Ek

. the Group’s performance does not create an o AEEMELKANE YK
asset with an alternative use to the Group EEAABARENERE
and the Group has an enforceable right T A 4 [ A7 5 i) #9047 HE Ui IR
to payment for performance completed to T4 T B A HR 4 B EOE -
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers
— continued

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the

distinct good or service.

Sales of jewellery products

For sales of jewellery products is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to
the customers’ specific location (upon delivery
of goods). The selling prices are agreed with
customers prior to any delivery and with credit

terms ranging from 0 to 120 days.

Sales of properties

Revenue from sale of properties is recognised
when the control over the ownership or physical
possession of the property is transferred to the
customer, which is the point in time when the
Group satisfies its performance obligations
under the contracts. The considerations of
purchases are negotiated with customers and
officially stated in sale and purchase agreements,
customers are required to settle in full at the

point of completion of transfer.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers
— continued

Property management fee income

For property management services, the Group
bills a fixed amount for services provided on a
monthly basis and recognises as revenue in the
amount to which the Group has a right to bill
and that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed. The Group primarily
generates revenue from property management
services income from properties managed under
lump sum basis, the Group entitles to revenue at
the value of property management services fee

received or receivable.

Photovoltaic power generation business

Income from photovoltaic power generation
business is recognised at a point in time when
the Group satisfies its performance obligations
under the contracts, that is the sales of electricity
based on actual units of electricity consumed
by customers, which is measured by electricity
meters based on contracted unit price and on
monthly basis. The electricity is generated by the

Group’s photovoltaic power generation system.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application of HKFRS
16 or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a

contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease

components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Leases — continued
The Group as a lessee — continued
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease

term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of

the lease liability;
. any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease

incentives received; and

* any initial direct costs incurred by the

Group
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee — continued
Right-of-use assets — continued

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement

of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee — continued
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not

readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any

lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease

payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and
makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets) whenever the lease term as
changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of

financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued

Leases — continued

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All

other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value

model.

Rental income derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business is presented as

revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R EGRHBURE B -

information — continued

Foreign currencies Hh s

In preparing the financial statements of TE A B 5 A8 8 57 4R BE RS Y B
each individual group entity, transactions in Bk R Wy o DUE 2 A B W DL A
currencies other than the functional currency MR SRR DR S
of the entity (foreign currencies) are recognised H O BAT RE R ERE o S IR

at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates PLAI W s (8 1 & W T B R H
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting BAT ME R B OB GT o 7R S LA
period, monetary items denominated in foreign ISt 2 E B IER AEE
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing B o

at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement BN TR NS g
of monetary items, and on the retranslation H & A 09 BE 58 25 FO B A 0 W AE
of monetary items, are recognised in profit or B R o (¥R BER A R # N
loss in the period in which they arise, except AN AT RE A & (ER] I A A 3 A
for exchange differences on monetary items KEFHEN - EENE
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation W PR TH H B S8 25 o AR H A 2
for which settlement is neither planned nor Wi %5 R ) b A R 0 I AE R D
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the o3 g EAS AR 1 AE W o w] oh R R
net investment in the foreign operation), which mFmER BB EEE -

are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or
loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s

interest in an associate or a joint venture.
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3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Foreign currencies — continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity under exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. For properties under development
for which revenue is recognised over time, the
Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as
soon as the properties are ready for the Group’s

intended sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

f 3 B B e o A AL e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Borrowing costs — continued

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are

incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them

and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under other

income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Employee benefits
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service

entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee

benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the

inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount

already paid.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Employee benefits — continued

Short-term and other long-term employee

benefits — continued

Liabilities recognised in respect of other
long-term employee benefits are measured at
the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to
the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities
carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in

the cost of an asset.

Employee long service payment

The provision for long service is provided
based on the employees’ basic salaries and their
respective length of service in accordance with
the applicable rules and regulations in their

respective countries of employment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share options reserve. When the share options
are cancelled after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve

will be transferred to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

f 3 B B e o A AL e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the

tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit before taxation because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit

nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Taxation — continued

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted

by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets

and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R EGRHBURE B -

information — continued

Taxation — continued B TH — 48

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for Bt AT EBE A &R
investment properties that are measured using TR ERET S R E
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of % S W) E O R (B A] A R R A
such properties are presumed to be recovered ol |l - 5 FE B e 8 R] B AR R
entirely through sale, unless the presumption a o i a% £ E W) £ T T AT 8 B
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when Fr A 0w 2R =0 B AR £ B IRE
the investment property is depreciable and is TH FE 5% 48 & W 25 I B 09 4 KR
held within a business model whose objective o3 A8 A 21 10 JF 8 R LR E
is to consume substantially all of the economic R B m] > M A K EHE L T —
benefits embodied in the investment property AR E 2y ] A% 8 8 B A Bl o

over time, rather than through sale, except for
frechold land, which is always presumed to be

recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax BE A L2 1 e R0 OR ME & A X
for leasing transactions in which the Group HMLBEARZHEX S &R
recognises the right-of-use assets and the related HEBLIE TN 5 > A< 4 B o e B
lease liabilities, the Group first determines T 103 2 75 B A B AR e

whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the lease liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when B W W] AT (8 HE R A B IE
there is a legally enforceable right to set off A BLE B A HCEY > B
current tax assets against current tax liabilities & B[R] — Bl B M BH R — R
and when they relate to income taxes levied to ol BT A 0l T A5 B B R > R
the same taxable entity by the same taxation Ik AT BLIH E A A R v B A
authority. 5 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Taxation — continued

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity

respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities
in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income
tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is
reflected by using either the most likely amount

or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,

if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation — continued

If a property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed as evidenced by end
of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item
(including the relevant leaschold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be

transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
(continued) use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land
and buildings held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation, rather than for use
in production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties also include lease properties which
are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating lease.
Investment properties are measured initially at
cost including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market

conditions at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R EGRHBURE B -

information — continued

Investment properties — continued &Y -

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 4 W) 26 2 N P 5 B T E
values of investment properties are included in A 2 IR i ﬁn j féﬁ BTN E A 2
the consolidated statement of profit of loss and FPAGEEHEG K2R RA -
comprehensive income in the year in which they

arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon P& W) 2 B K A KR
disposal or when the investment property H B & 1% AR A 1 8 A RS
permanently withdrawn from use and no future ) 45 2 IRF %% (b Al 3R o R JgE Bl ik S
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. & W 2 AT AT I A B Eﬁ HIR
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal e RE s R AR AR A B A
of an investment property are recognised in PE N E 3 I

the consolidated statement of profit of loss and
comprehensive income in the period of the

retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Investment properties — continued

For a transfer from investment properties to
owner-occupied properties or inventories,
the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change
in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes and
investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy
stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between
the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above. For
a transfer from inventories to investment
properties, any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit of loss and

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 7 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment

loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or

group of cash-generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 HREGRBURE B -
information — continued
Impairment on property, plant and Wy~ W Bk A LA B A
equipment and right-of-use assets — ARG E 2 WE - &
continued
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value AT [ 45 R 2 N T E I B R AR
less costs of disposal and value in use. In Rl R A (T A 2 PR R A e
assessing value in use, the estimated future W EEAG R E AE R Al EE R R
cash flows are discounted to their present B4 i & R BR BLET RS B R A
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects R HBE > DA e T 3 ¥
current market assessments of the time value of 4 88 IRF [H] (1Y BT A6 &% & A (5K
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a HemEAsEa) (AR &HE
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of il 5F R T I B K A 1 JEL B o

future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets —
continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating
units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets —
continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

f 3 B B e o A AL e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale which are intended to be
sold are classified as current assets. Except for
the leasehold land element which is measured at
cost model in accordance with the accounting
policies of right-of-use assets, properties held
for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the
related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for the properties less estimated cost
to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group

must incur to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from properties
held for sale to investment property when there
is a change in use to hold the property to earn
rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather
than for sale in the ordinary course of business,
which is evidenced by the inception of an
operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date
of transfer and its previous carrying amounts is

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group

must incur to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses
of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (when the effect of the time value of

money is material).

A contingent liability is a possible obligation
that arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising
from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of economic
resources will be required to settle the obligation
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured

reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued

Provisions and contingent liabilities —
continued

A contingent liability is not recognised but
is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that the
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised
as a provision in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the

change in probability occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the

market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

f 3 B B e o A AL e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“HKFRS 157). Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL?))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL K& EFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 HREGRBURE B -

information — continued

Financial instruments — continued BA B T H — 48

Financial assets BB E

Classification and subsequent measurement of [ e DN R
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following TF A VA AR B & E H AR
conditions are subsequently measured at i B AL A &

amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business o JABEMAUEUA A B & R
model whose objective is to collect M EB AN FEA 2 W
contractual cash flows; and BE &

. the contractual terms give rise on specified o BRIMHOE BN E B E
dates to cash flows that are solely payments A AR S SN AR A R B
of principal and interest on the principal EASHEANEWB SR E -

amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently R SRS P < ) S /N
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial B wh A8t 5 & > MR D 46 B RR
recognition of a financial asset the Group may W 55 Y RF > A A T T RE A AT i
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes B b, 728 43 A At A 1 U A 2 9 R
in fair value of an equity investment in other HRENTFHEZLBEES i
comprehensive income if that equity investment W2 HERCE N JF R AE R E - N
is neither held for trading nor contingent W B T A A s S R e RIS
consideration recognised by an acquirer in 398 EH G UF BT 2 A D
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 o e 58 2 BRI o

Business Combination applies.

2023 Annual Report “FEHE 207



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 7 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets — continued

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the

purpose of selling in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of

short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and

effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly

reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

fok 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer

credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

Financial instruments — continued A% T H - 48

Financial assets — continued B EE -

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI 16 7€ B F N P E A H At 2 T
Wt 2 BRE TR

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value with
gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the property revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to

retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other

income line item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

fok 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in
the other gains and losses line item. Dividend
and interest earned on the financial asset are

included in the other income line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, loan receivable from an associate,
rental deposits, bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect

changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of

future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for

trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial

recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether

credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instruments external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(i)

214 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited {f#§4 B2 A BR A 7]

Significant increase in credit risk —

continued

significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit

spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtors

ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; or

an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk —

continued

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates

otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount becomes

past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(ii)

216 Petfect Group International Holdings Limited %55 B2 A BR A 7]

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full

(without taking into account any collaterals

held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is

more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when

one or more events of default that have a

detrimental impact on the estimated future

cash

flows of that financial asset have

occurred. Evidence that a financial asset

is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

(a)

(b)

(o)

significant financial difficulty of the

issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default

or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets —

(iv)
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continued

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of

financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over
three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent

recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
In addition, certain significant balances
of trade receivables and credit-impaired

debtors are assessed for ECL individually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

v)
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Measurement and recognition of ECL —

continued

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial

asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amounts, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

fok 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another

entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the assets carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instcrument which the Group has elected on
initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the assets revaluation reserve will not be
reclassified to profit or loss, but transferred to

retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. OB H LR MY RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial liabilities and equity — continued
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the group entities are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, lease liabilities, bank loans and
bank overdrafts are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest

method.

Derecognition/modification of financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

fok 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - 4

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued

Derecognition/modification of financial

liabilities — continued

Changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate

benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of a financial asset or
financial liability to which the amortised cost
measurement applies as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to account for these changes
by updating the effective interest rate, such
change in effective interest rate normally has no
significant effect on the carrying amount of the

relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is required by interest
rate benchmark reform if and only if, both these

conditions are met:

. the change is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark

reform; and

o the new basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the

basis immediately preceding the change).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Derecognition/modification of financial

liabilities — continued

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are
offset and the net amount presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising
from investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in determining
the deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4. ¥R EF A B B A EEA W
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY R AR - H

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

Critical judgements in applying & M & 5t BUR Z 31 OR K B -
accounting policies — continued

Transfer of investment properties to WEY EHEBEEFELEYE
properties held for sale

During the year, the Group has transferred certain A AR I A 3L %9255,990,000
investment properties in an aggregate amount of WA THREY E 2 ESL
approximately HK$255,990,000 to properties held B3 % e B A S B S5 AN (E A A
for sale, of which the amount is adjusted to fair value TG (E A% o % 2 8T (8 > I A BR 2 +F
with valuation performed by independent professional VR W) 36 B9 BLAE AR o A 4 4 3
valuer, and recorded as deemed cost of the properties JECAE A B B8R R BN 2
held for sale. The management of the Group has Py 36 00 8 AR s AL > O 4E IR AT Bk
exercised their judgement and considered that there is 7% L o

change in use of the properties with evidence in order

to record such transfer during the year.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount R20234E12 H31H » 7 /F th B ¥ ¥ W
of the properties held for sale was approximately HE TET 1B £ #9350,459,000 % T (20224F
HK$350,459,000 (2022 : HK$129,735,000). 129,735,000 % JC) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowances of inventories for finished goods

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value of inventories is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimation
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. In
determining the allowance to be made on the finished
goods, management considers the current market
conditions, estimated selling prices, subsequent sales
of similar products and the valuation of selected
inventory items performed by an independent
professional valuer. Allowances on inventories can
change significantly as a result of changes in these
factors. The Group will reassess the estimation at
the end of each year. As at 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of finished goods is approximately
HK$95,619,000 (2022: HK$102,358,000).
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4, K & 5 A B & Ah 5HA B B

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty —
continued

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and

credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables which
are not assessed individually using a provision
matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the

forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 41 and

24 respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of trade receivables was HK$61,400,000,
net of allowance for expected credit losses
of HK$22,658,000 (2022: HK$56,625,000,
net of allowance for expected credit losses of
HK$24,092,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as

3 A R B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

5. Wik Ko #RE R

DA Z A 46 47 i 38 2 70 A

follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
T 0 T

Revenue recognised at a point in time A B — IR B e SR AR
Sales of jewellery products BB BRE E A 286,426 326,575
Sales of properties ) 2 34,195 25,042
Sales of electricity (note) 85T ) (B 5%) 3,039 —

Revenue recognised over time Wi FR [ e 2

Property management fee income LE =] % & ]\ 10,982 6,519
Revenue from contracts with customers e g SRS SO 334,642 358,136
Rental income H4e kA 14,069 15,913
348,711 374,049

Note: In the current year, the income from sales of electricity
was arisen from photovoltaic power generation business,
which is the business of newly acquired PRC subsidiaries
from the controlling shareholder. Further details of the
acquisition are set out in note 3.2.

Sales of properties, property management fee income
and rental income are derived from property business
segment, while sales of jewellery products is derived
from jewellery business segment. Sales of electricity is
derived from photovoltaic power generation business

segment.

Sales of jewellery products

Revenue from sales of jewellery products is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being when
the goods have been shipped to the customers’ specific

location (upon delivery of goods).
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

230 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %842 5] |5 B2 1B A5 FRZA 7]

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION - continued

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales
of properties, the relevant properties specified in the
contracts are not based on customer’s specifications.
Revenue from sales of properties is therefore
recognised at a point in time when the control over
the ownership or physical possession of the property

is transferred to the customer.

Property management service

For property management services, the Group bills a
fixed amount for services provided on a monthly basis
and recognises as revenue in the amount to which
the Group has a right to bill and that corresponds
directly with the value of performance completed.
The Group primarily generates revenue from property
management services income from properties managed
under lump sum basis, the Group entitles to revenue
at the value of property management services fee

received or receivable.

Rental income

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value

model.
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A A OB E B9 A BR ) S R SRR T
TR o W 2B B AR TR W) 26 P
B R B AT I 2 o R R T RS R
— R [ 08 ke AR

Wy & 48 BL Ik B

MY EE KRB S - AL S
e A3 i 5 4% 1 E < BB R MR B S
1 A B2 AR B L 9 S LB L 5E R
A 10 B (B B e DS I AY 4 R AR AR 0k
A o AR B U A T A 4 B i A
HL W) 3 0 ) SR TR IR B A S
AR B A RE R © Ol B i 26 B
ik 5 2 A8 {6 BOIRA -

Al WA

K AH B Ao A o AT AR BE AR 0 A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION - continued
Photovoltaic power generation business

Income from sales of electricity is recognised at a
point in time according to the unit of electricity
consumed. The Group has no unsatisfied performance
obligations at each reporting date.

All of the Group’s sales contracts for jewellery
products and properties have an original expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for these contracts
is not disclosed. For all the Group’s sales of electricity,
there is no unsatisfied performance obligation as at
the end of the reporting period.

Segment revenue and results

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM?”), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on the
revenues and profits from different types of business

divisions.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

(i) Manufacturing and sales of jewellery products
business represents manufacturing and sales of
jewellery products including rings, earrings,
pendants, bangles, necklaces and bracelets
(Jewellery business);

(i) Property business represents the investment
in development, sales and rental of properties
for the Group’s integrated and comprehensive
industry park project and property management
business (Property business); and

(iii) Photovoltaic power generation business
represents sales of electricity which is generated
from the photovoltaic power generation system
owned by the Group (Photovoltaic power

generation business).

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

5. Wedk Koy W& R - B

e 1R 4 46 B
BB ) W AR R PR A R R R
IR ] 8 i 58 o B0 A o A AR
Sl 6 R JE AT BB K SR B o

A S A B TR E A S 36 2 A
BRI E B — FHUT - £
A Y B 5 i HE B 2B 1S BE AT A0 DU
T EEARHANE TR ERENTZE
H)BAT 19 5 oy A% S JHAE A B R o R
i WK A B T A B R TRy 8
AAFAE R AT IR #) F 85 1A DL

R L EWE

LTI S I B A 3 2 B 16 AR 2
GEREE - AUIES 33 3 WN(ES
TLEE YR ) o 2 8 R E
45 SRS W 1 2 i g B A

AR AR A s B B i HE R SRS R AR
o AN R I 2 B R AT o oy ER AR

() ®%& K EREENER B
K B TR E G (B3 kAR
HEE -~ BB T8 - HME LT
(FREET)

(i) WEEBHERAAEBRZHEE R
T S D T FEATHOE ~ B EE
NI E VYIS E S $ S
B (WSS s K

(i) Ot AR 2 o 3 B 45 B E A
AR RFEERBTELNEN
O R 8% % £ F) -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. Wods Ko BB E OB - A
INFORMATION - continued
Segment revenue and results — continued VL E TS
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue T J i AR g o] it o TRy 2 AR
and results by operating and reportable segments: £ 1t B S SR 0 T
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B F£2023412H31H L4
Photovoltaic
power
Jewellery Property  generation
business business business Consolidated
b/
HEEH LEF 37 BEEH A

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$’000
Ti#n Ti#x T T

Segment revenue e 286,426 59,246 3,039 348,711
Segment results NP EE 49,225 6,728 1,249 57,202

Impairment losses under ECL model T8 {5 ¢ i 5 15 &Y

T A 1 A 1R (1,042)
Unallocated corporate income Kol A A 250
Unallocated corporate expenses AR T AR 2E B 3 (12,055)
Unallocated finance costs A7) B W5 T (1,061)
Share of result of a joint venture iR i RE (o

ES 35
Share of result of an associate A — T gk A )

ES —
Profit before taxation Wi B 7 ¥ 43,259
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION - continued

Segment revenue and results — continued

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

W g K g w8 E R - A

g1 i W B B 3B AR -

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B FE 202212 A31H 1k F

Jewellery Property
business business Consolidated
REET LES ¥i Sa
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T ¥ 7o T ¥ 0 T ¥ 70
(Restated)
(% & 71)
Segment revenue 43 3B U 4 326,575 47,474 374,049
Segment results PIRHIE Y 43,741 19,949 63,690

Impairment losses under ECL model TR G R IR A T Y

AH e (20,661)
Unallocated corporate income FKomAeERA 375
Unallocated corporate expenses R AR 2E B 3L (3,073)
Unallocated finance costs & 43 B B E A (1,003)
Share of result of an associate a3 4k — ) B A s D 2K 4R (884)
Profit before taxation B Bt A i A 38,444

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described

in note 3.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss
incurred by each segment and hence is arrived at
without allocation of (impairment losses)/reversal of
impairment losses under ECL model, share of result
of a joint venture, share of result of an associate, and
certain unallocated corporate income and expenses
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CODM of the Company, for the purposes of resources

allocation and assessment of segment performance.

A8 85 43 30 1) F R S 3 35 2k A
S 1 5 — B

gr B 3 RUR A 2 R B I 2 i R SR
R 2 R B Y R o T 2 T
i B0 4R BT B (B (B s R (H
s M~ 4G — T A A A
Or Al — TH BBk A D SRR A TR
A S WA BB S~ DL B B 2
DUREF o e TG 1 AR 4 W) 3 B R R
Nkt 2 07 % > DI AT & 00 i &
FE Al TR AR B o
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. Wedk Koy BB B - 4

INFORMATION - continued
Segment assets and liabilities

5 v E & AR

B F i K SR R R E U}Z$
B o WE E Ko wRE AR A

The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment

assets and segment liabilities by operating and

reportable segments:

At 31 December 2023 #2023412H31H
Photovoltaic
power
Jewellery Property  generation
business business business Consolidated
b
S E S WEEH BEEY A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T AR T
Assets G E
Segment assets oy WG 311,920 464,370 33,292 809,582
Interest in an associate i E AR
HE £ —
Interest in a joint venture G Ak
1 HE 25 185
Equity instruments at FVTOCI AT EHFPA HAb
2 Z
JECHE T A 696
Deferred tax assets i HiE B TH & 1,139
Unallocated corporate assets KA EEE 25,923
Consolidated total assets GAREEAE 837,525
Liabilities A&
Segment liabilities oy WA 48,327 20,134 17,119 85,580
Taxation payable JRE 4 B JH 76,903
Deferred tax liabilities R L B IH A 23,483
Unallocated corporate liabilities oy e A % B fE 1,855
Consolidated total liabilities A AaEAsE 187,821
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

5. Wedk Koy W& R - B

INFORMATION - continued

Segment assets and liabilities — continued

g B E & R -

At 31 December 2022 £20224F12H31H
Photovoltaic
power
Jewellery Property generation
business business business  Consolidated
BN
WHEW  WEEYH W BEEK e
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T T T
(Restated)
(R F51)
Assets &
Segment assets b E 328,547 494,501 11,261 834,309
Interest in an associate il AN}
3 _
Equity instruments at FVTOCI N FEA HA
e
et TR 1,043
Deferred tax assets I TE B OH & 429
Unallocated corporate assets Ao A EEE 12,007
Consolidated total assets LA BERE 847,788
Liabilities =
Segment liabilities o H A 68,170 23,411 13,413 104,994
Taxation payable JE 24 B IE 66,576
Deferred tax liabilities L JiE Pl TH £ R 30,432
Unallocated corporate liabilities N EEE 1,034
Consolidated total liabilities A AERE 203,036
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION - continued

Segment assets and liabilities — continued

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances

and allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than interest in an associate, interest in a
joint venture, equity instruments at FVTOCI,
deferred tax assets, and unallocated corporate

assets.

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than taxation payable, deferred tax

liabilities and unallocated corporate liabilities.

Geographical information

Revenue from external customers, based on location
of delivery/transfer to customers and location of

property is as follows:

W i B 4 BB E OB — A

g v E K R -

At B 5 7 0 R B LR o B 0 B &
M 5

B — T BB m RO RE 4R - R —
[ & 8 4 S HE 4k~ % AP E
At A H: A 2 T AR 2 e E TR
i SE BLIH B E e R 0 B AR KK
FE AN o P E B T B AR O

# o

— PRMEMBIIH - EE B H A M K
ROy B4 BARSN - Prfa AR
UiV Y

o R

LRI - SRl N E RIS Sk T b
L B K W S i B AT

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
HK$°000 HK$°000
T 0 T 0

Revenue I 25
— Hong Kong — Fi 197,009 227,483
— Dubai — i FE 88,651 68,045
— PRC — 63,051 78,521
348,711 374,049
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5.

INFORMATION - continued
Segment assets and liabilities — continued
Geographical information — continued

Revenue from customer which accounts for 10% or

more of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

W g K g w8 E R - A

g B E & R -
b 1 R — A

£ A £ 1 Wi 2 10% 5% LA B Y &5 I Ak
e

2023 2022

20234 20224F

HK$’000 HK$000

T# ot T# T

Customer A in jewellery segment KE D WEFA 42,695 52,579

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets (other
than interest in an associate, interest in a joint
venture, equity instruments at FVTOCI and deferred

tax assets) by their physical geographical location is as

A B2 18 I U B A O — B A R
MRES ~ i — M & AN - %
O P fE R H A A 0 R 2 B HE T
H e 3% A B TH K E BR AN 12 OHLE B

follows: HALE B R
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
HK$’000 HK$000
T T
(Restated)
(%% 51)
PRC W 100,289 357,027
Hong Kong & 565 853
Dubai il FE 391 464
101,245 358,344
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. H At A
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x Tt
(Restated)
(% 2)
Dividend income from financial assets at o FEFEA R 45 1
FVTPL A5 B A R Bl A 164 711
Interest income FLE U A 3,246 755
Government grants (note) R #l B (B ) 402 740
Gain on disposal of property, plant and W) SE - R B U AR
equipment — 72
Others HoAte 1,460 1,193
5,272 3,471
Note: B 5E
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised B A 2023412 H31H 1L 4F BE A > A S8 [ R 58 R
government grant of HK$402,000 in respect of increasing entity’s B JRF T 2 B A B B B B AR B 1Y B
business scale provided by the PRC Government. i B 402,000% 7T ©
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised WA 20224F 12 31 H 1L N > A S WERR A
government grant of HK$740,000 in respect of COVID-19 related B COVID-19 4R B i Bl (19 O 4l B 740,000 5T
subsidies, which was related to the Employment Support Scheme W% Al B B A o O B AL RO R R B -
provided by the Hong Kong Government.
There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to ME 0 A B w5 Al B B0 R 2 M A Bl B AR 3R OH

these grants (2022: Nil). (20224F : ) o
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3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. HitW# kiEBEFH

2023 2022
20234F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T
Gain from changes in fair value upon transfer A B FEI/ELEYE S
of properties held for sale to investment B &) 2 R0 A E
properties 5 W) 0 4R — 5,399
Loss from changes in fair value of investment BEYENRN T HEEH
properties 5 18 (198) (2,367)
Loss on changes in fair value of financial /N - I WNE =B O3
assets at FVTPL B 2N H 5 B s 1R (1,420) (318)
Loss from disposal of investment properties HEREY X ZER (1,586) —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and GIRR7E BN & i)
equipment 2 R (136) —
Net foreign exchange gain [ifE 58, Wi % v AH 431 171
(2,909) 2,885
8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER 8. THHIf5 & 5 H AR Ay W AE
EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS i 18 3
MODEL, NET
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T o
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment losses ~ TH M5 Bl R B R Y
under ECL model on: M s AR (B
— Trade receivables — B 5 M R IA 835 (16,888)
— Loan receivable from an associate — JRE W — B B A N | B (1,877) (3,773)
(1,042) (20,661)
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MH#EM
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T L T T
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts SRATE R KB A B 1,448 876
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 67 127
Less: interest capitalised into property, plant ¥ : & Ak 23 ¥ 2 - )=
and equipment (note) R 5% A 0 AL (B 58 (454) —
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities A~ A N E R H RS B R
not at fair value through profit or loss A B 15 5 & Rl A RS
SRR 1,061 1,003
Note: B 5E -
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the finance costs BE20234F12 31 H 1L 4F > W B & H C 4% 4
have been capitalised at an effective rate of 4.3% (2022: Nil) per BB A R 4.3% (20224F « M) VE & AL i 3 -
annum.
10. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10. B Bi i i A
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
T 0 T T
Profit before taxation has been arrived at ¥ Bl 1 J6s AR FBR R 1
after charging: KA
Directors’ remuneration (note 11) O (B R 8,270 8,202
Other staff’s salaries and other benefits HoAth B T3 4 M oA 48 F) 20,795 20,104
Other staff’s retirement benefits scheme HAth B T 19 3B 4K 48 A 51 #1
contributions it 3¢ 1,631 1,364
Total staff costs B TR A S 30,696 29,670
Auditor’s remuneration 12 B Hii BN 4
— Audit services — RIS 910 1,230
— Non-audit services — IF R R 230 600
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % ~ W5 & 5% fif r #5 3,264 2,559
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i R & E T 953 1,694
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses e 58 J% BH SR A7 B LA
(included in cost of goods sold) (A B & & 5 A) 238,164 253,072
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3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. & F M &
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the i T I A RE AN B A AR s W) H#E S
directors and the chief executive of the Company FEATEN B SR R R

during both years are as follows:

Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other Discretionary scheme
Fees benefits bonus contributions Total
Hak A8 P 4 A
W4 At 4 A T 1 1t AL w34k % At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T# 5 T % T# T T# T T x
For the year ended B, E 20234
31 December 2023 12/31H
14
Executive directors: WA E g
Mr. Kan Kin Kwong fil i St 5 A
(note (1)) (B 5E)) — 4,500 — 18 4,518
Ms. Shek Mei Chun RS 3'Sn — 1,534 — 18 1,552
Mr. Chung Chi Keung S A e A — 1,534 — 18 1,552
Independent Bakas
non-executive #H:
directors:
M. Fan Chor Ho 10 2 0 5 216 — — — 216
Mr. Wong Wai Keung BRI
Frederick 216 — — — 216
Mr. Lee Ka Wing BRERE 216 — — — 216
648 7,568 — 54 8,270
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION - 11. # H M & - 4

continued

Salaries Retirement

and other  Discretionary benefits scheme

Fees benefits bonus  contributions Total
e R B AR AR F

14 Al A5 A ) 1% 16 AL il # 3 5K Bt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$000 HK$°000 HK$°000

TH#T T#T T#T T#T Tt

For the year ended B £ 20224
31 December 2022 12H31H
1k E
Executive directors: WiT#ES:
Mr. Kan Kin Kwong i fe e o
(note (1)) (B E ) — 4,500 — 18 4,518
Ms. Shek Mei Chun SRS E/e=n — 1,500 — 18 1,518
Mr. Chung Chi Keung § & e — 1,500 — 18 1,518
Independent B 9k AT
non-executive o
directors:
Mr. Fan Chor Ho SRR s 216 — — — 216
Mr. Wong Wai Keung R A
Frederick 216 — — — 216
M. Lee Ka Wing FRERAE 216 — — — 216
648 7,500 — 54 8,202
Notes: B 51
(i) Mr. Kan Kin Kwong is also Chief Executive of the (i) B a5 0 A AT AR AR AT B4 % > bl
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those B I B R A 5 L A AT A R R I IR
for services rendered by him as Chief Executive. 55 T A 0 B < o
(ii)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were (i) SO R AT E I A S
mainly for their services in connection with management of AN R KA SR R P RS R BRI S o b
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments SCHT R B SLE AT N R
of independent non-executive directors shown above were fE B AR ) & R LIRS -

mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION —  11. # % 4 — 4
continued
Five highest paid individuals T br e v BN L
The five highest paid individuals included three | £20234F12H31H 1k 4 > H A &
(2022: three) directors of the Company for the e N LB E A (20224F 0 =)
year ended 31 December 2023. Details of whose 3 oo MR 2 B B EE I R B oCe Hk
emoluments are included above. The emoluments A A7 (20224« W ) B e 3 N & 3
of the remaining two (2022: two) highest paid M an T

individuals are as follows:

2023 2022

20234F 20224F

HK$’000 HKS$°000

Tt T oo

Employees & B

— salaries and other benefits — A K H A AR R 1,455 1,538

— retirement benefits scheme contributions — — B #K 18 F| 51 31 fit 3% 35 36

1,490 1,574

Their emoluments were within the following band: % 55 19 357 B A ~F DL i E

2023 2022

20234F 20224F

Number of Number of

employees employees

& B A% fé & A 8%

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000%5 7T 2 2
During both years, no emoluments were paid by the A AF B A T A A MR R ) A
Group to the directors of the Company or the five GIE & FRVATIE DN RIS
highest paid individuals (including directors and KR B) AT 3 B AE B o A AR 4R ] BR
employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining A A B2 A% Y 5% ) sk Bk s 0
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None 5% T I8 A R AR 4 EE TR AT ] I 4 o

of the directors have waived any emoluments during

both years.
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

12. TAXATION 12. Bt JH
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$°000
T ¥ ot Tt
The taxation charge comprises: Tl JH 37t AL A
Hong Kong Profits Tax B 15 B 3,143 3,560
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) R A 2 T AR B
(T4 2 Prf3 i )) 7,349 4,207
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) R - b B E R
([ 3 3 5 B D) 7,565 2,501
Overprovision in prior years AT AR I R A A (1,941) —
16,116 10,268
Deferred tax (credit)/charge (note 21) PEFEBLIH (GE ) T
(B 5E21) (7,015) 761
9,101 11,029
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of EHENGBAMEBEHRSE T &
Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of RS AL ) E B Y 152,000,000 HE T 1Y JE
assessable profits of the qualifying group entity will R B i A R 428.25% By B R BB > M
be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2 8 4 2,000,000 %5 7 1 E B B U A
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group 16.5% M B FHBL o« A FF & A 15 B
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax A e A TR B U Rt 4B A R 16.5%
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate 2 BBLREE - FItk > FEEEE
of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax B 12,000,000%5 70 1Y Ak 51 SR B iR
of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% H T3 4%28.25% K B 51 A& WA BL
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable M 68 %% 2,000,000 %5 70 19 A 51 M8 3 i iz
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable | B 42 16.5% B Bii R 51 & o
profits above HK$2 million.
Under the Law of the PRC on EIT and AR 45 H B A 2 i 45 B 1 B LB it A R
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax w2 B N ED Y B R A525% o

rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
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12. TAXATION - continued

The Group’s manufacturing of fine jewellery products
is conducted through its processing factories in
the PRC under contract processing arrangement.
Accordingly, under such 50:50 onshore/offshore
arrangement between the Group and the processing
factories, certain profits of the Group are not taxable
under Hong Kong Profits Tax during both years.
In addition, the processing factories of the Group
is subject to the PRC EIT at a rate of 25% on the
deemed profit generated in the PRC.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. LAT has been levied at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation
of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs.
Prescribed direct costs are defined to include costs of
land, development and construction costs, as well as
certain costs relating to the property development.
According to the State Administration of Taxations
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally
upon sales of the properties, followed by final
ascertainment of the gain at the completion of the

properties development.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

12. B JH — %8

AEBMMBIE AL TR > BRELAE
Hh R ) T B R R R A o
I o AR R A 4 8 B TR 2 [#150 ¢ 50
W 7E 5 7 A BE > AR 4R [ T AR AR
JEE I A5 T i A B 2 B A A R AR B -
B A > A 8 [ 2 TRk 28w A R A
B A ) 12259 B3R AR B 4
EFAFRL

+ b 3% (E Bl B A AR U8 A BR AP I B
2 B B KL B A R o b 3G (B
Wt B 4 % (R0 9 2 2 8 8 fr 19
FOUE AR E H AR 2 R ) R
E B R30% £60% UK o 18 H
A FE By oM BE R KB
A Jo #5 T R B SA o 4%IR
B RZBFARZE TN &k
Rp I T 4 T b 3 (B B SR Y
BAR A HE 58 B 45 UK 25 o

2023 Annual Report 4EFEHiT5 245



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

12. TAXATION - continued 12. BiJH - ]
Taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the AF TR B JE S T B AR G 9 A S A 2
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement THT S 4 3% TR B o B0 I 6 ) 38 BR A0
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’°000 HK$°000
T#5x T T
Profit before taxation 5 T va A 43,259 38,444
Tax at the applicable income tax rate at 16.5% % % i Bt 13 Bi #16.5%
A4 B B A 7,138 6,343
Tax effect of share of result of a joint venture M il — ] & 2 4 £ E 41
Tl 75 7 2 6 —
Tax effect of share of result of an associate JRE A — [H] gt 8 > W) 3 ALY
BB 5 2 — 146
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A AJ 411 B B 32 1 Bi 15 5% 2
purpose 4,110 4,599
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax R B Ul A Bl S Y
purpose (1,828) (1,075)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not B 1 2 iy o e R R B IE M 18
recognised (116) (179)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences =< 78 AT 411 9k T I P
not recognised 7R B R B (3,058) 1,063
Effect of profit under 50:50 arrangement 50 :50% HEF Y it A R A (3,307) (3,793)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7 H B & % [t J& A 7] 2
operating in the PRC INGEE - E 32 697 1,840
PRC LAT o g Ll 3 (F B 7,565 2,501
Tax effect of PRC LAT recognition resulting a fiff 58 H B0 +- Hli 3 {8 Bl 35 3¢
reduction in income tax T A5 Bk > 2 B R 2 — (413)
Tax effect of two tiered profits tax rate regime F| 15 B W & il Bi 2 1 & 2
i 5 5 % (165) (165)
Over-provision in prior year T AR I RS A A (1,941) —
Others Ho At — 162
Taxation charge for the year A A B JE 32 9,101 11,029
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

13. DIVIDEND 13. it &
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T# T T
Dividends recognised as distribution FRCHERETIRZ K E
during the year:
Final dividend for 2022 of HK$0.02 20224F A B2 45 120,029 7T
(2021: HK$0.02) per share (20214F : 1 f£0.02#5 7T) 26,822 27,000
The directors proposed to declare a final dividend #oHE R E IR 2202312310
of HK$0.02 per share, totaling HK$26,820,180 in 14 B 22 R i B8 eo.02¥00 > 3k
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023, payable 26,820,18045 7T » T A 20244F 6113 H 4
to the shareholders whose names appear on the G AN ) e R 44 i R o

Company’s register of members on 13 June 2024.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. & i & H
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per AN F AN T A R TR R AR e v
share attributable to owners of the Company is based IPEEE SRTIE € S

on the following data:

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#t T ¥ 70
Profit for the year attributable to owners of Ao T HEA N AL AR
the Company and earnings for the purposes V6 #l S i &t 55 5 I 4k A& K
of calculating basic and diluted earnings R 2 R 34,364 29,400

Number of shares

ity ¥ H
’000 ’000
T M T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares %t 7t 5 g it 2 4% &
for the purpose of calculating both basic Wi W A 2 5
and diluted earnings per share Jin HE - 34 8 1,341,009 1,348,077
The computation of diluted earnings per share P A AR o w5 A R 4 A I A
for both years does not assume the exercise of the B AT (A A 7 B R HE > IR R R % AE
Company’s share options because the exercise price i 8 2 AT 0 A A T A B A e A i
of those share options was higher than the average By~ i fE o

market price of the shares for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15. W3 ~ W B ik i

EQUIPMENT
Plantand  Purniture and Construction
Buildings machinery fixtures Motor vehicles in progress Total
By  HRERER  KARKE i ERTH Mt
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt Tt T8 T T
Year ended 31 December 2023  # £2023%
12A310 L4
At 1 January 2023 #2023 1711
Cost LA 64,134 5,374 15,540 5,249 - 90,297
Accumulated depreciation ZithiE (6,237) (5,374) (14,394) (3,956) — (29,961)
Exchange realignment I 51,50 % (140) - 77) @) - (221)
Carrying amount HR T 57,757 — 1,069 1,289 — 60,115
At 1 January 2023 20234 1H1A 57,757 — 1,069 1,289 — 60,115
Additions TE — 20,076 1,870 516 12,837 35,299
Transfer 814 — 12,837 — — (12,837) -
Transfer from investment propercies & 5 1 ¢ & 41 ¥
(note 17) (W 3E17) 2,613 — — — — 2,613
Depreciation fié (2,180) (558) (129) (397) - (3,264)
Disposals ik - - (138) - - (138)
Exchange realignment e i 3 % (682) 2 (69) (525) — (1,274)
At 31 December 2023 20231211310 57,508 32,357 2,603 883 — 93,351
At 31 December 2023 R20234%12A31H
Cost A 66,550 38,287 17,069 5,765 — 127,671
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (8,220 (5,932) (14,320 (4,353) — (32,825)
Exchange realignment [ i 7 % (822) 2 (146) (529) — (1,495)
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12 H31H 57,508 32,357 2,603 883 — 93,351
Representing: f#%:
Carrying amount MR 57,508 32357 2,603 883 - 93,351

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
buildings with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$4,558,000 (2022: Nil) were
pledged to secure a bank loan newly granted to a PRC

subsidiary during the year (Note 31).

2023412 H31H > A 4 [E] HE 1 5 E
#14,558,000 %k JT (20224F : %) f) & T
MFEOHM > DERFERNTR T —M
Hh B B N T SR AT R K (B EE3D) -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15. W3 -~ W M ik s — %8
EQUIPMENT - continued

Plantand  Furniture and
Buildings machinery fixtures  Motor vehicles Total
BT REREE BAREE RE At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000
T#x T#xT Ti#x T T

Year ended 31 December 2022 220225

12A31H Ik 4 3
At 1 January 2022 202241 1H
Cost A 64,082 5,374 15,529 5,175 90,160
Accumulated depreciation ZEHnE (4,607) (5,306) (14,009) (3,973) (27,895)
Exchange realignment [ 54, 3 % 4,988 — 29 3 5,020
Carrying amount FE T (8 64,463 68 1,549 1,205 67,285
At 1 January 2022 #2022 1 1R 64,463 68 1,549 1,205 67,285
Additions WE 52 — 68 516 636
Depreciation 8 (1,630) (68) (436) (425) (2,559)
Disposals i — — (6) — (0)
Exchange realignment i i, i (5,128) — (106) 7 (5,241)
At 31 December 2022 #20225F12H31H 57,757 — 1,069 1,289 60,115
At 31 December 2022 20224 12H31H
Cost WA 64,134 5,374 15,540 5,249 90,297
Accumulated depreciation 2t (6,237) (5,374) (14,394) (3,956) (29,961)
Exchange realignment [ 5L 4 % (140) — (77) (4) (221)
At 31 December 2022 #2022 12H31H 57,757 — 1,069 1,289 60,115
Representing: %
Carrying amount T T 57,757 — 1,069 1,289 60,115
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT - continued

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost or fair value to their residual values over

their estimated useful lives as follows:

15. W36 ~ W5 Mk il — 7

Wy 2 ~ Wi Ds B B I B BR T B A
At LS A 5 BT 4 30 48 H
A AP E R AR EE T

Buildings Over the lease terms RS GER=E:L N
Plant and machinery 5%-20% per annum T 75 % A 5% % 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20% per annum BFRKEE 5 4£20%
Motor vehicles 20% per annum HH F20%
16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. 1 Fl HE & 2
Fixtures
Leasehold and
land  Buildings equipment Total
L L 3 By BHREEE 5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T# T T# T# 5t T# T
As at 1 January 2023 202341 H1H
Carrying amount 0 T 7,269 1,589 — 8,858
As at 31 December 2023 ?20234:12H31H
Carrying amount I T (. 6,966 928 — 7,894
For the year ended 31 % £20234
December 2023 12H31H Ik 4 &
Depreciation for the year NI 303 650 — 953
Total cash outflow for leases & B4 il A 923
Additions to right-of-use assets  {ff F 1 & & I 977
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS -

continued

16. f Fil HE & & — %

Fixtures

Leasehold and
land Buildings  equipment Total
& - 4 BT BAKKE 5t

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000
TWE  T#E  T#E Tl

As at 1 January 2022 #20224:1H1H
Carrying amount R T R 8,062 3,320 29 11,411
As at 31 December 2022 #20224£12H31H
Carrying amount B T {E 7,269 1,589 — 8,858
For the year ended B £ 20224F

31 December 2022 12H31H 1k 4E
Depreciation for the year GRS 155 1,510 29 1,694
Total cash outflow for leases HEH S 1,852
Additions to right-of-use assets HHRAMEERE N/A A7 H

For both years, the Group leases various leasehold
land, buildings and fixtures and equipment for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed

terms of 2 years to 50 years.

In the current year, the Group leases certain rooftops
from landlords for lease term of 20 years, in respect of

its photovoltaic power generation business.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is

enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

17. L& W 3%

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$000
T # oo T o
FAIR VALUE AP AR
At 1 January r1H1H 283,267 300,256
Exchange realignment e ba, 5% & (6,150) (24,143)
Disposals & (18,316) —
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or  J* 48 % [N fE 58 1 A 7 5
loss 5 B (198) (2,367)
Transfer (to)/from properties held for sale W (%) ARELE
(note (1)) Wy 2 (K EE (@) (255,990) 9,521
Transfer to property, plant and equipment 2 - RS Bk
(note (ii)) (Fff & (i) (2,613) —
At 31 December #12H31H — 283,267

Notes:

®

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, properties
with fair value at the date of transfer of approximately
HK$9,521,000 were transferred from properties held for sale
to investment properties due to change in use as a result of
commencement of relevant leases. The fair value at the date
of transfer was determined by an independent and qualified
professional valuer and the excess over the carrying amount
of approximately HK$5,399,000 was recognised in other
gains and losses at the date of transfer.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, properties
with fair value at the date of transfer of approximately
HK$255,990,000 were transferred from investment
properties to properties held for sale as a result of change in
use. The fair value at the date of transfer was determined by
an independent and qualified professional valuer.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, investment
properties at the date of transfer with fair value of
approximately HK$2,613,000 were transferred to
owner-occupied properties under property, plant and
equipment as a result of change in use. The fair value at the
date of transfer were determined by an independent and
qualified professional valuer.

All of the Group’s properties held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation

purposes are classified and accounted for as

investment properties and measured using the fair

value

model as at 31 December 2022.

Wt 3

(@

(i)

&

B E2022F12H31HIEFE > A BH
DR R T BO6E R R A A BT e s i
BH KA T AE £ 759,521,000 o0 2 W) %
CHSELEYEEBEREYE -
BERZAFHEB— 2B LA ERR
SE A {F Rl 765 5 TR ¢ R T (T 495,399,000
W o0 2 4 B 1AL K e R A H A
&8 Ei

B OE20234E12 H31H Ik 4E > R T
FHEA P dcsE > RS E R A T4 5
255,990,000 ot 2 Y1 £ C & & 1 i
BEREHEDE -BBEERZATH
B — 2 8 S S RS B A R e -

B E20234F12H31H 1k 4F B> m iR
FEE P s > RS R R A E A5
2,613,000/t EMECHBEEY E -
W55 B B Al 0 3 AN W 2 - RS E
ZANVEB AWM MEEREEME
il i 5

R20224F12H31H > A 4 AR ¥ 4K 5
L 4 A A B BBOREL 4 B AR 19 0 H 10
ZIEWMENE N EIIEABEY
E I AN SR
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — 17. &M% -

continued

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the fair B A 20234F12H31H 1F4F B> AL H
values of the Group’s investment properties at the TG E AL AW - W s S
date of transfer from property, plant and equipment, A EEULSELEDEZAN
right-of-use assets and properties held for sale had ZANTHETIRBEB L KA EREE
been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried At {6 B 77 AH BH H A AT 2 Al B
out on the respective dates by an independent and RZ A7 6L FT 7 AH B 3t B 22 ) S Ak (8 D7
qualified professional valuer which had appropriate WA G i KRR -

qualifications and experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations.

The fair value of investment properties located in the (L Pk S < 7/ A/ N SR (L E 7
PRC is determined by using income approach. The WAL T E o W AR TS5 BLA AL &)
income approach is calculated by capitalising the Z MW A EARAL - AT o ¥ A1
rental income derived from the existing tenancies with B i A LR B A T O -
due provision for any reversionary income potential.

Investment Fair value Valuation techniques

properties Fair value hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs Sensitivity

1 15 5 &
3 EE AFAE APEESH  TEBAHE BEARMBE 6L i R
2023 2022

20234 20027
HK$000  HKS$'000

TR ThE
Residential — 81,65 Level 3 Income approach Nil (2022: HK$15 to HK$37) per month per - The higher the market rental, the
properties in the — market rental square meter higher the fair value
PRC
mRZEEYE ERE LON- SN 2%k BASFIAE M esE AT EER
(20225 : 153 L2378 )
—term yield 2022: Term yield, taking into account of The higher the term yield, the
yield generated by market average selling lower the fair value

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the properties, of
2.2%

— MR 20226 MG R RELEY MR A FE R
2T R TR 4
P2 s B Ry B AR S A o 2 o
B 22%

—reversionary yield 2022: Reversionary yield, taking into The higher the reversionary
account of yield generated by market average  yield, the lower the fair value
selling price and the market average rental
from comparable properties and adjustment
to reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 2.5%

— BB 2008 BENE AR ETERERY  EHEREMR AT ERE
S 2 G R N & B
He 2 T AL < A L T
fF 2 8% > 25%
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES —

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

17. &M - M

continued
Investment Fairvalue  Valuation techniques
properties Fair value hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs Sensitivity
1 18 94 5 K¢
g /B A¥E APEFESE  EEWANR EONNIE P3N ¢ L3
2023 2022
20235 20226
HK$°000  HK$'000
T#x Tix
Industrial buildings — 201,612 Level 3 Income approach Nil (2022: HK$24 to HK$44) per month per  The higher the market rental, the
in the PRC — market rental square meter higher the fair value
W THRET F38 WAl —W5HE BHEFITRE GE iR A R
(20204 : 24770 E4d it )
— term yield 2022: Term yield, taking into account of The higher the term yield, the
yield generated by market average selling lower the fair value
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the properties, of
45%
— & M 20226 E MR > A RTEIREY @R B AT

— reversionary yield

S 2 o R G AR 4 B
U2 T B R e SR A o 2 7
B 45%

2022: Reversionary yield, taking into
account of yield generated by market average
selling price and the market average rental
from comparable properties and adjustment
to reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5%

20005 : BB ICER - MR R B
EvAiL RSN VTR R Rl KT
U 2 T B A AL A B L T
fith 2% > 5%

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the fair value
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

18. i — [l WGk 45 4> v BY B 2R

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’°000 HK$’000

T# 5t T T

Cost of investment in an unlisted associate R — B IE b T W | Y
BOE A 1,111 1,111

Exchange realignment T 5, 3% % (16) (16)
Share of post-acquisition loss JRE A Wi 4% i 4R (1,095) (1,095)

Details of the Group’s associate at 31 December 2023

and 2022 are as follows:

Name of associate

Place of

incorporation Proportion of

and operation ownership interest voting power held

A 4 s A A R20234F12 H31H &
2022F 12 H3IHM FEBEN T -

Proportion of

Principal activity

w57 B
Wk 8 2 W 2 0 R b BEARERESR LI PreF R MEL G BREEH
2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224F 20234 20224F
TR 5 2k 8 S0t PRC 19% 19% 19% 19%  Trading of fine jewellery
BREA R A
H WHKEEY

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its

share of losses of the associate because the share of

losses of the associate exceeded the Group’s interest

in the associate and the Group has not obligation to

take up further losses. The amounts of the Group’s

unrecognised share of losses of this associate for the

current year and cumulatively were approximately of
HK$187,000 (2022: HK$6,000) and HK$193,000
(2022: HK$6,000), respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

19. 1 — [l & & 4 38 B9 HE R

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt T 5T

Cost of investment in a joint venture i — T A R B AR 228 —
Exchange realignment [ 50, 3 (8) —
Share of loss JE Ak 1 48 (35) —
185 —

Details of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December
2023 are as follows:

Directly held by a PRC subsidiary —
J& 18 B e R A PR A W]

Place of Proportion
incorporation of ownership
Name of joint venture and operation interest
wk M R 3 & oA hE
BERMXAN 5 B HE 25 Lb Bl
2023
20234

AL E A A 2 202312 H31H 1)
RN

F o (B o W] — R R4 T
REARAFRIERNA

Proportion of

voting power

held Principal activity
P i
RRMELH  FEEH
2023
20234

BRI 2B RHLARA PRC
ﬁj*
Y

* JE R T W7 B AR IR A FR A B acquired 50% of equity
interest in the F B IH 2 Y65 11 B A R/ 7 on 7 June
2023, at a consideration of RMB200,000 being the paid-up
capital.

27.5%

50% Photovoltaic power

generation business

202346 H7H - B BT W # fg IR A IR
o ) Wi B B I 2 06 E 1 B A BR A D
50% M HE - ACE B N R #200,0007C (B 44
JEEAR) o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT PV {7/ o 1 N AN N LR T T
FVTOCI Iy fie HE T 5
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # oo T #s JC
Investment in unlisted equity securities IR B AR R R 696 1,043
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s unlisted equity 2023412 H31H » A5 FH20234E JF b
securities investment in 2023 represents 19% (2022: 7 A 7 25 £ A 7 o B R Sr i AL
19%) equity interests in a private entity established B R E 219% (20224F 1 19%) ©
in the PRC. The directors had elected to designate HREDEEN RN TRBEE AL
this investment in equity instruments at FVTOCI. N B FE H A A T AR o B F 2023
No dividend income was derived from the equity 12 H31H K2022412 310 1k 4 7 >
instrument during the years ended 31 December R TRREA R BIA - &F
2023 and 31 December 2022. Details of fair value (BL & & 5F I #O0 BT 5E41 -

measurement are set out in note 41.
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3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ 21. B BLHE B ()
(LIABILITIES)
The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) AR TR R E B A E E (B ) s
during the year are as follows: B
Accelerated
Fair value tax
change of Unused  depreciation/
investment tax loss accounting
properties recognised  depreciation Total
A8 n 2 At IH
REMEZ C e 58 K/
AFEEES) Bt IH s a5t 8 A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T T T R
At 1 January 2022 202241 H1H (32,268) — 432 (31,836)
Exchange realignment [V a3 %% 2,594 — — 2,594
Charge to profit or loss RIS (758) — (3) (761)
At 31 December 2022 2022412 H31H (30,432) — 429 (30,003)
Exchange realignment e 50, 74 % 644 — — 644
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss FEARTE
(F 18 1 1 R 6,305 723 (13) 7,015
At 31 December 2023 2023412 /131H (23,483) 723 416 (22,344)
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) — continued

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax

balance for financial reporting purposes:

21 BB HE R (fH) - #

DATR 2 AR B B H T i 2 AR HE B IH
K5 BR Z M

2023 2022

20234 20224F

HK$’000 HK$’000

T # o0 T

Deferred tax assets 5 4 Bl JH E = 1,139 429
Deferred tax liabilities I 9T Bl TEH B E (23,483) (30,432)
(22,344) (30,003)

Deferred taxation has not been recognised in respect
of certain undistributed retained profits earned by the
subsidiary in the PRC amounting of approximately
HK$291,656,000 (2022: approximately of
HK$294,540,000) as the directors are of the opinion
that the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

B el o RN N 3 s e N
43 IR AR B8 i R £9291,656,000 % JT (2022
At #9294,540,000% JC) B 5B R 4L B
TH > [N SRR 2 A 4 e A 1 o
PE 25 80 2 4 ) IRF W] > TR M 2 R
A B 2 AT BE N € 43 ] o

22. INVENTORIES 2. 7 &
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Raw materials Ji B 36,979 42,424
Work in progress e 5 7,452 7,279
Finished goods R A 95,619 102,358
140,050 152,061
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3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 23. FfEth B
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T T
Properties held for sale e Y2k 350,459 129,735
The properties held for sale were located in the PRC. FEEYEN AP E o TE R SR
Properties held for sale which are expected to be B A A 2 B SRS
recovered in more than twelve months after the end of Ui B A A DR TR A R R A 4 8] OE R
the reporting period are classified under current assets FE S TR NG T

as it is expected to be realised in the Group’s normal

operating cycle.

HK$000

Analysis of leasehold land &+ HZ  Hr T T

As at 31 December 2022 #20224F12H31H

Carrying amount MR T L 5,129

As at 31 December 2023 #2023412H31H

Carrying amount R T {E 23,052
The carrying amount of leaschold lands is measured Bt b AR (R AR PR A BB S
under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated e I 5516598 LA SAS AT A7 22 513 %
depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual A o] W B s 18 T & o R B 1 (H B
values are determined as the estimated disposal value b~ i o UK i o = = R (N
of the leasehold land component. No depreciation GRS = RN N =g oA
charge is made on the leasehold lands taking into RITEEH -

account the estimated residual values.
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE — 23. FifE 3 -

continued

During the year ended 31 December 2023, properties
held for sale with carrying amount of approximately
HK$29,356,000 (2022: HK$12,614,000) were sold to
third parties.

As at 31 December 2023, properties held for sale with
carrying amount of approximately HK$74,559,000
(2022: Nil) are required for local rental purpose only
according to an official letter from the Foshan Shunde
District Housing, Urban-Rural Development and
Water Conservancy Bureau® (f3 Ly T M [ AT 5 9%
4 53 5% A1 K F| JF) dated 13 October 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
properties held for sale with a net carrying amount
of approximately HK$44,889,000 (2022: Nil) were
pledged to secure a bank loan newly granted to a PRC
subsidiary during the year (note 31).

* The English name of the department established in the PRC
represents management’s translation of the Chinese name of

such department for information purpose only.
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24. TRADE AND OTHER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

24. H 5y M 3L Ath JE Wi 3K IH

RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

20234 20224F

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt T 5T

(Restated)

(%8 & %))

Trade receivables & 5 E U Zk TE 84,058 80,717
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses W TH WS kS 1E A (22,658) (24,092)
61,400 56,625

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits . th & it 3 IH -

A OH K A% @ 24,426 20,661

Amount due from a joint venture JE Wi — ] & & N W KA 1,487 —
Amount due from an associate JE Wi — [T W N FD Y BKOE 262 366
87,575 77,652

The following is an analysis of trade receivable net of
allowance for expected credit losses by age, presented
based on the invoice date, which approximates the

respective revenue recognition date.

0 B AR T T R TR A
18 55 1 % MR % 0 2 00 0 A o AR R B
FEWEHEREBHEANERENE
G o

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$000

T# 5t Tt

0-30 days 0£30H 15,796 12,684
31-60 days 31260H 13,310 11,494
61-180 days 61%180H 27,580 25,888
181-365 days 181%365H 4,714 5,108
Over 1 year —FEPL F — 1,451
61,400 56,625

The Group allows a credit period of up to 120 days to
its customers. A longer credit period may be granted
to large or long established customers with good

payment history.

AEBMAEFMENEEN RS A
120H > K A 8 & s & A H A 3RS Bk
R FF ] iR (s &0 -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

24. TRADE AND OTHER 24, ¥ 5 B 3 4t JE Wk JH -

RECEIVABLES - continued

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has an
internal credit control system to assess the potential
customers credit quality and the board of directors
has delegated management to be responsible for the
determination of credit limits and credit approvals
for customers. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed periodically.

The Group’s management takes into consideration
of customers’ credit history, settlement patterns,
subsequent settlements, customers financial position
and an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions and aging analysis of
trade receivables in determining the recoverability
of the overdue trade receivables. The directors of the
Company considered that the concentration of credit
risk is limited due to the customer base being large
and unrelated.

As at 31 December 2022, following the assessment of
individual balances based on the Group’s historical
default experiences and the individual characteristics
of each customer including but not limited to the
aging profile and financial position together with
other forward looking factors, the Group has provided
an impairment loss on ECL of approximately
HK$16,888,000 on trade receivables for the year.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$43,088,000
(2022: HK$33,585,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Included in the past due
balances of approximately HK$12,895,000 (2022:
HK$9,140,000) has been past due 90 days or more
and is not considered as in default based on good
repayment records for those customers and continuous
business with the Group. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management of the Group to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits mainly
consists of value-added tax recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

25. LOAN RECEIVABLE FROM AN 25. JE W — [ BBk 42 2 B B K

ASSOCIATE

The amount represented a loan receivable from an % K JH f5 B i — [ 8 A BB ROA
associate of RMB11,550,000, net of impairment [ %11,550,0007C (411 B 4F A w5 48 W
allowance of approximately RMB4,951,000 provided (B 4 i A\ R ¥°4,951,00070 (B & 7 £
during the year (equivalent to approximately 12,720,00045 7T > 411 B&5,452,00045 JT))
HK$12,720,000, net of HK$5,452,000) (2022: (20224F = A R 11,550,000 7C (A & it
RMB11,550,000 (equivalent to approximately %)13,116,000% JT - 41 BR3,773,0004
HK$13,116,000, net of HK$3,773,000)) which is Jo)) > i MK AR R FFE HZH B2 IR
unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one TARLEHZ KM R —FNEERE G
year with collaterals assigned to the Group. Details R 41 A i 2 RN R B 414K R o A B
of relevant collaterals are disclosed in Note 41. The EH«E 0 2 5 A BR8N B gE41 o AR
repayment date of the loan was extended to September B fE R H W IE £ 20249H o

2024 during the year.

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 26. & CEAE EF N 48 o5 1Y B %
PE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong Frus bl A 55 5,360 6,744
Investments in unlisted funds HEIFE LTRSS 771 807
6,131 7,551
The unlisted funds represent investments in a e b i S 4 e R B A AR AR B A
unit-linked insurance product. Details of fair value B BEE o N T E 5 & RE T R K A
measurement are set out in note 41. 4] o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/ 27. Bl&RBE&%MHY BT 1F

BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
OVERDRAFTS

As at 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to approximately HK$49,860,000 (2022:
HK$16,666,000). RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies and the remittance of funds out of

the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed
by the PRC Government.

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates
ranged from 0.625% to 0.875% per annum (2022:
0.01% to 0.625% per annum) as at 31 December
2023.

Bank deposits are denominated in United States
Dollar (US$), with an original maturity between
four to twelve months carry interests at market rates
ranged from 3.60% to 5.50% per annum (2022:
3.60% to 5.20%) as at 31 December 2023.

Bank overdrafts carrying interest at market rates of
2.50% per annum over the Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate as at 31 December 2022. There is no
bank overdrafts as at 31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

28. H 5y M 3L fth JE £+ sk 2

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

Ti# 5t Tt

(Restated)

(R HE31)

Trade payables 5 5 e A KA 32,481 40,031
Accruals and other payables JRE it K JE B Al B A 3KOIH 24,029 34,053
56,510 74,084

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables

presented based on invoice date at the end of each

&R T B R H 2SR B 5 A
AR B HR i o A dn R

year:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
0-60 days 0£60H 13,616 28,761
61-90 days 61%E90H 3,556 1,551
Over 90 days 90H Lk I 15,309 9,719
32,481 40,031

Accruals and other payables mainly consist of payable

of staff salaries and benefits.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. & #) B
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T# T T JC
Property business E g 4,055 6,317
Jewellery business S E — 1,081
4,055 7,398

The Group receives deposits from customers when the
sale and purchase agreement is signed for property or
on placing purchase orders for jewellery. The deposits
give rise to contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the period until the customer obtained
the control over the ownership or physical possession

of the properties or the jewellery.

Included in the contract liabilities at 31 December
2022, a balance of approximately HK$6,044,000
was recognised as revenue in current year. Contract
liabilities at 31 December 2023 are expected to
be settled within a year when the control over the
ownership or physical possession of the properties has

been transferred to the customer.
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

30. flEE fafE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$°000
Ti# 5t Tt
Lease liabilities payable: JRE A A B £ -
Within one year — AR 35 1,725
Within a period of more than one year but — A 1% B AF A 30
not more than two years 36 110
Within a period of more than two years but W 4F & 1A #.4F A 7 fif]
not more than five years 872 —
943 1,835
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 W AIER B AR+
months shown under current liabilities (ERERNE IR e (35) (1,725)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months %1 4F JF ¥t B) & & 2 7 1+ =@
shown under non-current liabilities A& B &5 55 2 308 908 110
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates L BB BT PR ) 22 38 2 1 3R] 2% 0 hE
applied to lease liabilities range from 3.70% to 5.13% F 3 B A T B E3.70% %5.13% (2022
(2022: range from 4.75% to 5.13%) per annum. A F4.75% F.5.13%) o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

31. BANK LOANS

31. $RAT B

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T L T T
The carrying amount of bank loans SOTERIRHELY
containing a repayment on demand clause A iz R A K
(shown under current liabilities) but (B Ve 8 &)
repayable as follows: B4 DL O 2UfE R
Within one year —AER 17,201 6,187
Within a period of more than one year but — 4E AR (H R I Y AF 3
not exceeding two years 6,187 6,187
Within a period of more than two years but W 4F & {H 7R H 4 F4F HA i
not exceeding five years 1,641 7,829
25,029 20,203

The Group’s interest-bearing bank loan are secured by

ways of following:

@)

(b)

pledge over the Group’s properties held for
sale which had an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$44,889,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

pledge over the Group’s property, plant and
equipment which had an aggregate carrying
value of approximately HK$4,558,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank loans

contain a repayment on demand clause and carry

variable interest rate ranging from 3.70% to 7.87%

per annum (2022: bank loans are unsecured, contain

a repayment on demand clause and carry variable

interest rate ranging from 2.69% to 6.63% per

annum).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. B A
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T# T T
Authorised: PiE -
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of one 3,000,000,000 1 % % 18 (B
third Hong Kong cent each (2022: SOy 22— WAl 2 Y
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of one (20224F : 3,000,000,000
third Hong Kong cent each) & 4 BT E = 2 —
il 2 % 3 i ) 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: CET AR
1,341,009,000 ordinary shares of one 1,341,009,000 % &5 i% T {H
third Hong Kong cent each (2022: SOy 22— WAl 2 Ry
1,341,009,000 ordinary shares of one (20224 : 1,341,009,000
third Hong Kong cent each) % 4 BT E = 2 — i
il -z % %8 B A7y) 4,470 4,470
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F 7 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

32. SHARE CAPITAL - continued

The movements in the Company’s share capital for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 were as

32. A -

B E 20224 K 2023412 H31H IL4F & »
N/NIEI ol N = O I (T

follows:
Nominal value
Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares shares
B BH W 8 Bt 1w E
HK$’000
T # ot
Authorised: %€
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R20224F1H1H ~ 20224F
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 12A31H ~ 202341 H1H
$:2023412A431H 3,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: EEEAT KR
At 1 January 2022 202241 H1H 1,350,000,000 4,500
Repurchase and cancellation of shares(note) J% 3 B [ B 5 Y (B 5E) (8,991,000) (30)
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 22022412 H31H ~ 20234
31 December 2023 1H1H X 2023412 H31H 1,341,009,000 4,470

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
repurchased 8,991,000 of its own shares from the market
which were subsequently cancelled. The shares were
acquired at prices ranging from HK$0.205 to HK$0.23,
with an average price of HK$0.216 per share.

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 14
December 2015, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the Share Option Scheme). The Share Option
Scheme was valid for a period of 10 years commencing
on 14 December 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the

Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS -

continued

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of
the Company may, at its discretion, grant options
to subscribe for shares in the Company to eligible
participants (Eligible Participants) who contribute
to the long-term growth and profitability of
the Company. Eligible Participants include (i)
any employee (whether full-time or part-time
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity (Invested Entity) in which
any member of the Group holds an equity interest; (ii)
any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier
of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person
or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (vi) any sharcholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; (vii) any adviser
(professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area
of business or business development of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any
other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the

development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under this scheme and any other
share option schemes adopted by the Group shall not
exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in

issue from time to time.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

33. VA A S A K H - 2

5 0 1 i ) AR FDEE R REDR
E 0] 2 AN F) 2 R i R R R R A

EREMZAEEBRZHE(GEKS
B35 ) % T 0T 58 B AR N A Ay 2 1 R
- AEMSHEECERE  OAANA
AT AT B & 2y W) Bk rh A 42 AT AT i B
AR AERBER A MEB(RE
BB ) AT TR B (R 5 2 I s e g -
AT AT HAT S RS I AT
#H) (i) AN A~ HAT ] K E A A
AT G E AT IE AT HEE (B
5 8 50 JE AT HE ) 5 (1) A 4 B AT T
BB AR ST E T AT EY
o IR B L E P 5 (iv) AR B AT T AL B A
AT E B MEE: )5
A% A [ AT o] i B 2N B s AT ] 35
P AL 5T - BH EE Ek H At 4 1T S 18 2 AT
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B Rei)E# A ENE EBY
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] o Ath 2 B 35 40 I 588 A o

AR B Ot w1 80 B A 4R W T BR AN 2 AT
far JHC Ath B B RE T E & 8 B H R AT 68
2 T A W R A AT o T o] BB AR AT 2 MR
HriEmEE ARERAAFRARD
BATRAZ30% °
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS — 33. DA 2 A°F sk JE — 48

continued

The total number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under this scheme and any other share option of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing of the relevant

resolution adopting this scheme.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5,000,000, within any twelve-month
period, are subject to sharcholders’ approval in

advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors of
the Company, save that such period shall not be
more than ten years from the date of the offer of
the share options, subject to the provisions for early
termination as set out in the Share Option Scheme.
Unless otherwise determined by the directors at
their absolute discretion, there is no requirement of
a minimum period for which an option must be held
before an option can be exercised. In addition, there is
no performance target which must be achieved before

any of the options can be exercised.
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3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - 33. VAR Ay S A sk T - #

continued

The exercise price of the share options is determinable S e 2 AT (B P A 2 W) B S
by the directors of the Company, but may not be less MR RE K A AT 2 e A ¢ () 78 B IR
than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing WE B2 ) H 1) AR 2 7] B 0 AE B 22 B 22 Ik
price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer T 5 (i) 7E I B RE A0 B ) A7 1 E
of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange E RN NN SR (R R e
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five s K Gi) EELH AN ARG
business days immediately preceding the date of the [ {H °

offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s

shares on the date of the offer.

A summary of movements of the outstanding share & TARXA G EWK S B E R E
options granted to and held by the Company’s Eligible R A 22 1 R AT (1 i B HE 2 2 ) A 2
Participants:

Number of share options

I Mot HE S H
Outstanding
at 1 January
2022,
31 December Lapsed Outstanding at
2022 and during the 31 December Adjusted
Date of grant 1 January 2023 year 2023  exercise price
20225
1H1H »
20224
12310 & 120234
20234 1A1H 12A31H B R
& i BB WARTHE  FROEH i A AT B8 fr b
’000 ’000 ’000 HKS$
T T4 T4 T
Directors E 31.5.2017 5,670 (2,835) 2,835 1.07
Other eligible persons A& BN 315.2017 17,145 (8,573) 8,572 1.07
Total St 22,815 (11,408) 11,407
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS — 33. DA 2 A°F sk JE — 48

continued

During the year ended 31 December 2023, share
options with a carrying value of approximately
HK$4,145,000 have lapsed and have been transferred
to retained profits of the Group.

The share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme are exercisable commencing from 31 May
2018 to 30 May 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the
first tranche (“Tranche 17) and from 31 May 2019
to 30 May 2024 (both dates inclusive) for the second
tranche (“Tranche 27). The closing price of the
Company’s shares immediately before 31 May 2017,
the date on which the share options were granted was
HKS$1.07 after the effect of the share subdivision on
13 September 2017. For Tranche 1, the fair values of
the share options determined at the dates of grant
using the binomial model for share options granted to
directors of the Company and other eligible persons
were HK$0.37 and HK$0.36, respectively after the
effect of share subdivision. For Tranche 2, the fair
values of the share options determined at the dates
of grant using the binomial model for share options
granted to directors of the Company and other eligible
persons were HK$0.42 and HK$0.41, respectively

after the effect of share subdivision.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS -

continued

The following assumptions were used to calculate the

fair values of the share options:

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

33. VA A S A K H - 2

VAT Z st 5 3 B0 R 2% - P 1 2 A

Tranche 1 Tranche 2
Bt 5

Grant date 31 May 2017 31 May 2017
B H 2017454 31H 201745 A31H
Grant date share price (adjusted) HK$1.07 HK$1.07
B2 B 2 B f (6 94 ) 1.07¥% 7T 1.07# 70
Exercise Price HK$1.07 HK$1.07
71 1.07# 7t 1.07# 7t
Expected Life 6 years 7 years
4 64F 74
Expected Volatility 52% 53%
T R
Dividend Yield 1.87% 1.87%
i B %
Risk-free interest Rate 1.00% 1.06%
S
Early exercise multiple (Directors) 180% 180%
2 FAT A B (B 5)
Early exercise multiple (Other eligible persons) 120% 120%

& FLAT (A B (oAl 5 B AR A )

The valuations were carried out by independent
and qualified professional valuer, which were not
connected with the Group. The binomial model had
been used to estimate the fair value of the options.
The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options were based on the
independent and qualified professional valuer’s best
estimate. Changes in variables and assumptions might

result in changes in the fair value of the options.

fili (B0 Ty p B A B2 1) S 48 B E 2 M ST
Fo s B HE AN (B A AT > S
TE SR R A I B 2 8 o e wE
B B HE O OF- P 2 B R IR
T 7 S5 B A% S A (T 2
G RE o R 2 T (AT A B
R A w2 ek g i 22 AL
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 34. Bk Al 5 &)

SCHEME
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries or up to a
maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make
additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s
monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(the mandatory contributions). The employees
are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65,

death or total incapacity.

The employees of the Group’s factory and offices in
the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit plan operated by the government of the PRC.
The Group are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan

is to make the specified contributions.

There are not any forfeited contributions that may
be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of

contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

SCHEME - continued
LSP Obligation

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter
57, the Group has the obligation to pay long service
payments (“LSP”) to qualifying employees in Hong
Kong under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by
employers or upon retirement), subject to a minimum
of 5 years employment period, based on the following

formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of

employment) X 2/3 X Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a
post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to
utilise the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions,
plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof, for
the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee
(the “Offsetting Arrangement’).

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability
and has applied the HKICPA guidance mentioned in

note 2 retrospectively.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

34. 38 I 15 A G - A

= W % & = AT

LA S 1 A A T R R PR B S I
R A i 3 0 0 57 AR Rk ) - A R
B A JARAE A T OLR (0 B R
18 BB AR) ) & 0 5 E A R B SO
RAME & (RBRE &) HEE A
9 4 0 4F BR AN 13 D s4F - A EHE
AW

A& A B (K& 1k 52 08 Fir) <2/3 % IR B 4F
1

& A LR &22,5008 T > =W
R B 4 1Y 4 B A 15 48 31 390,000 5 T ©
W B AT AE B BB R R E AR R T # A
E& o

UE A 5 19954 48 3 14 5 il kA B AR
B ) 70 A 4R I B A R A g o
PESTE & L I b 25 AT ol A B
IE o UK S ZE A T IR B W
= W0 R W% 4 (T4 8 2 BED) -

Jry B B S A IR K B B AR ) R Y
BoALEEHEHERERE AR
A B BRI E W T T 2
P 2t 14 A s R RS AR Sl

2023 Annual Report FE#HE 279



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 34. Bk 1@ A 5 B - A

SCHEME - continued
LSP Obligation — continued

However, since the amounts of the catch-up profit or
loss adjustment for the year ended 31 December 2022
and provision for current year were immaterial with
reference to the assessment by the external specialist
engaged by the Group, this change in accounting
policy did not result in material impact on the
opening balance of equity at 1 January 2022, and
the results, cash flows and earnings per share for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and the consolidated

financial position as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s contributions
to the MPF Scheme and the accrued interest thereon
do not exceed the potential liabilities should the
required circumstances specified in the Employment
Ordinance be met. Consequently, provision for long
service payment of HK$898,000 (2022: HK$898,000)

is not adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

35. RELATED PARTY 35. B R 5
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in VR 5% % 45 & BF B i 3 H At 3 40 5
these consolidated financial statements, the Group M 2Z 55 Ah - A 42 B A K B BRI O A
had the following transactions with related parties TUTNRZ G

during the year:

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T 5 T
Sales of jewellery products to an associate f] — [ Wk 75 2 W) B
Tk B E 117 155
Transactions with subsidiaries or associate HARNFEREFAD
companies held by a director of the WA g 2 ] B N
Company are as follows: EITZ 3 )
Acquisition of 55% of equity interest of a e B — [ B B N | 2
subsidiary 55% I HE 7,763 —
Rental payments for leases HEZMHE
— Land and building* — & Hb R g 3,720 3,791
— Motor vehicles* — (R 2,172 2,172
5,892 5,963
Consultancy income it e A — 1,707
Rental income 4 A 4 133
Property management fee income EX- Sk 3PN 13 48
Operating lease commitments related to shore- B J5 ¥ fHl & A B () &= H &
term lease as follows: RN
Land and building 4+ K
— Within 1 year — 1R 2,210 2,281
Motor vehicles R
— Within 1 year — 1N 2,172 2,172
* The land and building and motor vehicles are rented from * ?iﬂ&ﬁ?u&ﬁﬁﬁ T B 2% AL
associate companies, which are indirectly wholly owned by AT AL A ERHEER
a director of the Company. A -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

35. RELATED PARTY 35. BH Wk 05 2 5 — #
TRANSACTIONS - continued
Key management personnel include directors of the FEEMABEFHEAARMNEFR LA
Company and other senior management of the Group. L) HAh SR E G o RNEREAT
The remuneration paid or payable during the years ol ASH 37 I

are as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$°000
T# 5t T ¥ T
Short-term benefits i 300 48 A 9,228 9,022
Post-employment benefits e 1% A A 75 72
9,303 9,094
The remuneration of key management personnel is FEERN BB A LN E I E S
determined by the management of the Company AN R B K S E -

having regard to the performance of individuals and

market trends.
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37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. B AR BN
The Group provided guarantees amounting to R20234F12H31H - AL B U A N R
approximately RMB60,219,000 (equivalent to #60,219,000 70 (48 & 1 466,321,000 %5
approximately HK$66,321,000) as at 31 December J6) (20224 © N R 13,045,000 70 (A &
2023 (2022: RMB13,045,000 (equivalent to it #114,689,000% 70)) 1F 24 98 £/ - f2ff
approximately HK$14,689,000)) to facilitate A AR [ Py 8% R W) 36 2 H X R AT R
mortgage bank loans applications of purchasers of the mER WITHRWELZNTEE
properties that were developed by the Group. Such H A B % 48 W) 26 8 i T 858 AR 8
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery RS EERN AR
of the properties to the purchasers and completion of S UE DR S A0 T R 0 46 e AR I
registration of the relevant mortgaged properties. In RIS/ - W R R ]
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of these AL REPEAR /N o BB > R 20234F 22022
guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at F12H31H > £ R & KB Ih Sk
initial recognition and the directors consider that the S [H] &5 o IR Sl R e R AE e MH o
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the
inception of the guarantee contracts and at the end
of the reporting period as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. AR
The Group had the following capital commitments at RECGE AR > AR EEA DL EA KIS
the end of the reporting period:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$°000
T¥# ot Tt
Contracted for, but not provided for: BT 4915 oK #8 4 :
Plant and machinery Wi 5 B v 606 —
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. A 2 W] it & 2 vl WS
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries, all of which are 20234 2022412 H31H » A 23wl 1Y
limited liability companies, at 31 December 2023 and B B 2N A (3 B A BR AR RS W R

2022 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration/ Issued and fully paid share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR 3L/
at i/ CHIRSRERA/ A # DB A/
W 25 4 1 EBNE ik It A M B A b FREH
2023 2022 Directly Indirectly
20235 2022 B fil %
2023 2022 2023 2022
023% 00 2023%F 2004
% % % %
Perfect Group International ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares — — 100 100 Designing, manufacturing
Holdings (HK) Limited HK$10,000,001 HK$10,000,001 and exporting of fine
jewellery
R3S A IR 12 e Fit o i i Rt RiER
(BB R 10,000,001 7& 10,000,001 ¢ th PR 3R E
Perfect Group China Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares — — 100 100 Investment holding
Holdings (HK) Limited HK$10,000 HK$10,000
wif 3 i T igeeidl
10,0003 70 10,000 7
Perfect Group China Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares — — 100 100 Investment holding
Investment (HK) HK$10,000 HK$10,000
Limited
wif 3 i T igeeidl
10,0003 70 10,000 7
DMCC (HK) Investment  Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares — — 100 100 Investment holding
Limited (DMCC(HK)) HK$100,000 HK$100,000
(note 1)
DMCC (HK) Investment i 9 I 84 R
Limited (DMCC(HK)) 100,000 76 100,000% 7
(WD)
R B RE % PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 100 100 Property development
GEELN U$$30,000,000 US$30,000,000
i f e A ik M e A B33

30,000,000 7t 30,000,000 7¢
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

38. A 2wl [t & 2 B 0 wE N - A

OF THE COMPANY- continued

Place of
incorporation/
registration/ Issued and fully paid share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
3.0 DV
it/ CRITRAER A/ AR i # DB AT A/
W 2+ ) 4 7 L] AL i ¢ 4 s FREH
2023 2022 Directly Indirectly
20234 20204 H % I %
2023 2022 2023 2022
023%  00F 2023%F 2004
% % % %
(REESRE (PR PRC Registered capital Registered capital — - 100 100 Retailing of fine jewellery
AIRA A US$10,000,000 US$$10,000,000
HE kit A A& TERERA
10,000,000 & 10,000,000 &
PmIEEERENE  PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 100 100 Property management
FRAR A RMB500,000 RMBS00,000
H it e A ERLYES MEER
ARH500,000% AR HS00,0007
ERESRKE PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 61 51 Manufacturing of the
HR A RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 jewellery
(note 3) i i it ¢ A it e A iKY
(it &3) A R#10,000,00075 A 10,000,000
T 28 40 0 75 5 PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 100 100 Investment holding
LY RMB1,000,000 RMBL,000,000
o it e A ALY &S B
ARH1,000,000% AR H1,000,0007
Perfect Group International ~ BVI Ordinary shares Ordinary shares 100 100 — —  Investment holding
Holdings Limited US$10,000 US$10,000
(RE MBIk REELHE g1 W figseidl'
AIRAA 10,0003 7 10,000% 7
Perfect Group China BVI Ordinary shares Ordinary shares 100 100 — —  Investment holding
Holdings (BVI) Limited US$10,000 US$10,000
KBELHE g1 gL B
10,000 75 10,0005 7T
Perfect Group China BVI Ordinary shares Ordinary shares 100 100 - —  Investment holding
Investment Limited US$10,000 US$10,000
RBELRE T T B
10,0003 7 10,000% 7
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. K AWM B A FEE - &

OF THE COMPANY- continued

Place of
incorporation/
registration/ Issued and fully paid share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
R MR 3L/
(174 CERARSRRA/ RAT B FCHETR A/
M 25 ) 2 7 AR ik i A w4 B FREH
2023 2022 Directly Indirectly
2023% 2224 H#% i 8%
2023 2022 2023 2022
023%F 004 203F  mF
% % % %
Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery Dubai Ordinary shares Ordinary shares — — 100 100 Retailing of fine jewellery,
DMCC (note 1) DIRHAM50,000 DIRHAMS50,000 logistics and marketing
activities
Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery 18 5 ik LR FEBTRE - R
DMCC (i 1) 50,0003 4 50,0008 £ BHTEH
TR SRR 2 PRC Registered capital Registered capital - — 60 60 Retailing of fine jewellery
G RMBS,000,000 RMBS,000,000
i Ak I A REM A TEBERY
A RH#5,000,0007 A K 5,000,007
BHRREEAXMLME  DPRC Registered capital Registered capital - - - 67 Retailing of fine jewellery
IR A RMBS5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 and marketing activities
HH ik e A it M e A FEEERE AN
A RH5,000,00078 A B 5,000,000 L
PRIl LE R PRC Registered capital Registered capital - — 100 100 Property management
BRARAA RMB500,000 RMB500,000
T ik I A GRUEN hEER
ARH500,0000  ARH 5000007
RERT I ARAT# PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 100 100 Retailing of fine jewellery
RMBL1,000,000 RMB1,000,000
i Ak I A REM A TEBERY
A BB1,000,00006 A R1,000,0007
il el B 2 PRC Registered capital Registered capital - — 100 100 Property management
RIRAA: RMB500,000 RMB500,000
i At A GALEN ES-$i
ARHS500,000%  ARHS500,0007
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY- continued

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

38. A 2wl [t & 2 B 0 wE N - A

Place of
incorporation/
registration/ Issued and fully paid share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
3.0 DV
it/ CRITRAER A/ AR i # DB AT A/
W 2+ ) 4 7 L] AL i ¢ 4 s FREH
2023 2022 Directly Indirectly
20234 20204 H % I %
2023 2022 2023 2022
023%  00F 2023%F 2004
% % % %
B AR RA AR PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 55 70 Photovoltaic power
(note 2) RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 generation business
(W zk2) o it A LA LR EE R
A B#10,000,0007%5 A R 10,000,000
BRI (%) PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 55 55 Photovoltaic power
A RN # (note 2) RMBS5,000,000 RMBS,000,000 generation business
(3 2) H it e A ERLYES - - 55 55 OEREEEH
A RH5,000,0007 AR 5,000,0007
TRALGRAREARAT PRC Registered capital Registered capital - - 55 —  Photovoltaic power
(note 2) RMBI1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 generation business
(it 3£2) e i it A it i A - - 55 —  OEREEEH
A R¥1,000,00008 A RH1,000,0007
BEREEEHRERARAT: PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 55 —  Photovoltaic power
(note 2) RMB5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 generation business
(3 2) H it e A ERLYES - - 55 —  ERBEEH
A RH5,000,0007 AR H5,000,0007

* The entity is established in the PRC in the form of

sino-foreign owned enterprise.

The entity is established in the PRC in the form of wholly

foreign-owned enterprise.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of

domestic limited liability company.

The entity is established in the PRC in the form of domestic
limited liability company and deregistered on 16 October
2023.

* TR DL A 5 A 2 0 B A o B AR S

A TR LA A 2 B TR P B T

# TN E AR A F LR AE R

AL o

+ B DU E A BR A AT T R S
A 22023410 16 H 84 53 1 -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. K AWM B AW KFFEE - &
OF THE COMPANY- continued

Notes: B %

H

1) On 3 January 2020, DMCC (HK) was incorporated 1) 202041 H3H » DMCC (HK) it & % 5L

and set up in Hong Kong and its sole shareholder is a
director of the Company holding 100% of equity share of
DMCC (HK) on behalf of the Group under a contractual
arrangement in which a declaration of trust is signed by the
director on 9 March 2020. As a result of the contractual
arrangement, the Group has rights to variable returns from
its involvement with DMCC (HK) and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over DMCC (HK)
and is considered to control DMCC (HK). The directors of
the Company are of the opinion that, having considered all
facts and circumstances, the Group has control over them
and owns 100% equity interest of DMCC (HK). During the
year ended 31 December 2020, Perfect Group International
Holdings (HK) Limited transfer 100% equity interest of
Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery DMCC to DMCC (HK) and
Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery DMCC become a wholly
owned subsidiary of DMCC (HK).

On 24 May 2023, the Group entered into the sale
and purchase agreement with Jiangmen City Hongxin
Construction Project Company Limited* (VL "] T 54 &
# LR AMRATA) as vendor (“Vendor”), pursuant to
which the Group has agreed to acquire and the Vendor has
agreed to dispose of 55% of its entire equity Interests of
Guangdong Kaisi New Energy Company Limited* (i i
8 1T B R VR A BR A AD) (“Target Company”) for a cash
consideration of approximately RMB7,150,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$7,940,000). Following completion
of the acquisition on 3 August 2023, the Target Company
became an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

The details of the acquisition of Target Company are more
fully explained in the announcement named “Connected
transaction in relation to the acquisition of the Target
Company in the PRC” published by the Company on
24 May 2023. The announcement is available on the

Company’s website and Hong Kong Exchanges ’s website.

In May 2023, the Group has further injected
RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,107,000) to the subsidiary as paid-up capital, resulted

increase in the shareholding percentage from 51% to 61%.

The English names of the companies established in the PRC
represent management’s translation of the Chinese names of

such companies for information purpose only.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. RECONCILIATION OF 39.
LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group
liabilities arising from financing activities. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as

cash flows from financing activities.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

il B P R AR AU BHIR

RS A G A B A A AR
W) o MEIRE P E L 2 AEEH
B RO EOR A B R A
T A5 Bl B R o U RLE
HHesREZAMN-

Lease Dividend

liabilities = Bank loans payable Total

Mg AR HAT B JBE £°F it 8 A5t

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000

T# T T#& T T#& L T# T

At 1 January 2022 *20224:1H1H 3,812 26,391 — 30,203
Exchange realignment [ifE b, 34 #& (252) — — (252)
Financing cash flow il B (1,852) (7,064) (27,000) (35,916)
Dividend declared CEIRER — — 27,000 27,000
Interest accrued JRE =1 AR 127 876 — 1,003

At 31 December 2022 and 2022412/ 31H

1 January 2023 202341 H1H 1,835 20,203 — 22,038
Exchange realignment [ifE 5, 3] %% (36) 1 — (35)
Financing cash flow BEHRSRE (923) 3,377 (26,822) (24,368)
Dividend declared B H R IS — — 26,822 26,822
Interest accrued JE & F) 5 67 1,448 — 1,515
At 31 December 2023 #2023412H31H 943 25,029 — 25,972
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F 7 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

40.

41.

290 Petfect Group International Holdings Limited %842 5[5 B 28 1B A FRZA 7]

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to owners through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged over the

years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Group, comprising share
capital, share premium, retained profits and other
reserves as disclosed in the consolidated financial

statements.

Management of the Group reviews the capital
structure regularly. The Group considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new shares issue as

well as the raising of bank loans.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Details of the material accounting policy information
and methods adopted, including the criteria for
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis
on which income and expenses are recognised, in
respect of each class of financial assets and financial

liabilities are disclosed in note 3.

40.

41.

A A B A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Categories of financial instruments

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, % T H - 8

A %5 T H B

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T T
(Restated)
(% & %))
Financial assets W& E
Financial assets at amortised cost i B B B A D B 2
W5 237,620 196,485
Financial assets at FVTPL A EFIARE M
W5 6,131 7,551
Equity instruments at FVTOCI i/ /N S (= NS =R (R 1}
W i 9 B HE T 696 1,043
Financial liabilities W B A1
Amortised cost O 4 & LA 86,538 89,194

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade and other receivables, loan receivable
from an associate, bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, rental deposits, trade and other payables,
bank loans and bank overdrafts. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (including currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

S 5 Ja\ B A PR H B K SR

AR E BB TR A A F
(B A A H A 2 i W 48 9 i A TR 3%
AT EHFABRM B EE - "HH R
LAt B SCRIE - 8 i — [ T A E B
Ao AT Bl LB e EEY
ML 5 &~ B 5 K H At B A 3H - R
e UL RATIE L - %M B TR
A W IR 45 A B B RE A 4 B o A B %
S BB TOEL B L B A T 3 L R (2
& & W Ja B K M R B AR R B
Je it ) e Jal g o A B AT e A R S
JREL i ) IR G SRS T SC o R R R B R
W %52 55 IR o LA TR S R B A RO
it 08 K A o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Currency risk

The Group has limited currency exposure as the
majority of the revenue were denominated in
functional currency of the relevant group entities.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end

of the reporting date are as follows:

41, B T H - 4

S 0 A B A PR HOBR B BOSR - A

B R B

Fh P A 4 RO 0 Wi i DA AR B 4R 1
F 0 2h /e B W RH A o TR G AS 4R T BT
BB BAR - REENAR S A
EEUIMEFHENEREE KA
e THT L S 51 4

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt T 0
Assets & E
HKS$ P 7,018 5,664
RMB N 11 11
Dirham L 890 1,629
Liabilities =K
HK$ T 19,040 60,235
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Currency risk — continued

The Group mainly exposes to foreign currency of
RMB, HK$ and Dirham which are arising from
relevant group entities foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities for the Group’s
operating activities. HK$ and Dirham, however,
are pegged to the functional currency of respective
group entities (i.e. US$), hence the Group’s exposure
to currency risk is not significant and no sensitivity
analysis has been presented. No sensitivity analysis for
the currency risk of RMB is prepared as the directors
of the Company consider the net impact of such

foreign currency risk is insignificant.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank deposits and lease liabilities
(details set out in notes 27 and 30). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on interest bearing financial
assets and liabilities, mainly interest-bearing cash
and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts and bank loans
(details set out in notes 27 and 31) at variable interest
rates. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, management will
consider hedging significant interest rate risk should

the need arise.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, % T H - 8

St % B\ b A B H B M BUSR - 4

B R B - A

7 45 B B0 K8 I B BT A B 4 B
DA e w8 10 £ W B R R AR 4R
P T BN RRE kT R A
B WL B o SR > W T B i 4 B A%
4 B R 0 Th e BN (B3R D)
7 4 18 T B ) B R L B Sl R R
7 48 55 OB o A o iR AR 8 F R
L 3 Y DN P AL N At i
ANE R - [ IS I AR R B R B
14 B0 o A o

A 2 Ja B

A 4 [0 i B A R T R R R AT A7 R
LB B A 28 (8 A 3L B (R 15 i
T B 5278 30) o A 4R B R K 32 B R E
BB R K A (B 4 ) A R
FREMB & KB &% EHY - RITEX
B SRAT B (RE 1% O MY 5E27 5031) F1
Jo B o A 45 1) R 48 6] A8 PR
SR - B B A T B B R B P
R F =R Ja g o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 41. MB T H - 4§

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rate risk at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 10 basis points (2022: 10 basis
points) increase or decrease in variable-rate cash and
cash equivalents and a 100 basis points (2022: 100
basis points) increase or decrease in variable-rate
bank loans are used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates. If interest rates had
been 10 basis points (2022: 10 basis points) in cash
and cash equivalents and 100 basis points (2022: 100
basis points) in bank loans higher/lower and all other
variable were held constant, the Group’s pre-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/
increase by HK$133,000 (2022: decrease/increase by
HK$120,000).

294  Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %555 [ [80] [4% F2  A7 R4 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations at the end of each year in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2023, other than those financial
assets whose carrying amounts best represent the
maximum exposure to credit risk, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group arising from the loan
receivable from an associate disclosed in note 25,
net of total carrying amounts of approximately
HK$7,268,000 (2022: HK$9,343,000). The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets, except that the credit risks
associated with loan receivable from an associate is
mitigated because they are secured by inventories of
the associate with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$7,133,000 (2022: HK$8,028,000).

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, W% T H - 4§

St % B\ b A B H B M BUSR - 4

i 4 L By B (L Al
1 38 4 7 ok Bl S 4% 4 R B AT 2% 1Y 7
FE > B S 1 gk 45 491 L W R A 5
F B K £ £ TR B o 32 26 R B B S
R VL 2% 1R 9 Y R (-

2023412 A31H > By H IR m (& 6E
3% R AE B R b 2 B B & E S - A
A 18] T 3 R i — [ B 7 W) B K (B
7 Bk 25) T A 5% 32 W BS s 4R 2 B
KA BB (11 5k S8R THI{E) £97,268,000
s JC (20224F 1 9,343,000% JC) o A 4E
I A1 5 S 1A (e = A L (==
5 8 i DA 2 H 4 & A A B A R
B 5 11 O b > BEL R lic — ] B 7 0 W)
BB (S B R B C A 4% g > T3
7 5% S5 B R B s w) R T E 4y 2
7,133,000%5 JC (20224F : 8,028,000 JT)
WA B R & KB e E IR -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 41. MB T H - 4§

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. Given the
long-term relationships with its customers and the
financial position of these customers, management
considers that the credit risk associated with balances
due from wholesale customers is low. In addition,
management considers the customers’ credit history,
settlement patterns, subsequent settlements and
aging analysis of trade receivables in determining the
allowance for expected credit losses and ensures that
adequate allowance for expected credit losses are made
for irrecoverable amount. In this regard, the directors
of the Group consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

Except for the amount due from a debtor in the
PRC (the “Debtor”), the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk in trade receivables, with

exposure spread over a number of counterparties.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —

continued

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

%o 1 B e e B

"

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, MBI H -

St % B\ b A B H B M BUSR - 4

{5 BB S B AE T A - A

A 45 [ 2 0 R AR B L B A3 R A R D

S A K

risk categories  Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
W R £ £ L B
Y| o S 5 ME Wk H At 45 78
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 12-month ECL 12-month ECL
have any past-due amounts
18 Ja B ST 05 i % 2 8 B A B AT 78 RIEAFMGESEEHR LA FENESES
Watch list Debtor usually settles overdue balances after due date ~ 12-month ECL 12-month ECL
BlIELH B AN — M 20 38 F % 465 0 1 1 45 o RIAFMGESEER A NESEE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not
since initial recognition based on information from credit-impaired credit-impaired
internal or external resources
R HE AR BN R o fF B R B B R R AR B 2 T B W EYEEER
W — KR EBIE — KR EEE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — credit-  Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired impaired
fei 18 A R R B A AR B UE 2 WS Sk R MG Sk R
— fEEWE — fFE M E
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off N/A
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect against the allowance
of recovery of debts account
e 5 A R BUR B N B T M o B R B o ELIG R R B A R AiE
I i e S T R NIH

The credit risk on bank deposits and cash and cash

equivalents are minimal as such amounts are placed

in banks with good reputation.

HR SR AT A KDL R Bl & Je Bl & % (H
Yy ¥ A7 B R R SRAT > SRR

B B A K
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 41. MB T H - 4§

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

The credit risk exposure of the Group’s financial
assets are subject to ECL assessment. As at 31
December 2023, the gross carrying amounts of not
credit-impaired trade receivable and credit-impaired
trade receivable with the loss allowance measured
at lifetime ECL is HK$62,548,000 (2022:
HK$56,361,000) and HK$21,510,000 (2022:
HK$24,356,000), respectively; the gross carrying
amounts of other receivable, bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents with the loss allowance
measured at 12m ECL is HK$18,341,000
(2022: HK$8,271,000), HK$66,736,000 (2022:
HK$63,632,000), and HK$76,041,000 (2022:
HK$48,481,000), respectively; and the gross carrying
amount of credit-impaired loan receivable from an
associate with the loss allowance measured at lifetime
ECL is HK$12,720,000 (2022: HK$13,116,000).

The Group applies the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL for
trade receivables. Except for certain trade receivables

with credit-impaired which are assessed individually.
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7 A M5 B R R =) AR T (E 4 H
£%62,548,000% JC (20224F : 56,361,000
# JC) 21,510,000  JT (20224F :
24,356,0009 7C) > DA S HoAh i OE
WA ULBE S LB &5 EY
B9 28 A G B s R =)
F14) 48 15 1 {4 7l £518,341,000 % JC (2022
4F 18,271,000 JT) ~ 66,736,000% T
(20224F : 63,632,000 JT.) £ 76,041,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

Management assessed the ECL on trade receivables
by provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics with reference to historical credit
loss experience, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast

direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over

three years past due, whichever occurs earlier.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Debtor
with gross carrying amount of trade receivables of
approximately HK$19,105,000, was determined by the
management to be credit-impaired, as it was evident
that the Debtor was in significant financial difficulty
and there was no realistic prospect of recovery as a
creditor had filed a bankruptcy petition with the
local PRC court (the “Court”) against the Debtor.
Accordingly, an impairment loss for the whole amount
was recognised for the amount due from the Debtor.
On 20 December 2023, J& K A= 2R 8 B 05 A IR 22 7,
who is the 2nd controlling shareholder of the debtor
and is a A-share listed company, has been designated
as the investor of the restructure plan of the debtor
and would submit the restructure plan to the Court
on 3 April 2024.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, % T H - 8

St % B\ b A B H B M BUSR - 4
{5 BB S B AE T A - A

EHE 2 BRAEGEEHRLCH - |
B5 N K5 P A 47 36 2 B R R SR L
Be R it F 3 3 AT B TR DL gE
Jrim 2zl wt s AR R Ik A A5 6 R B 4
F 45 4 R AT Al B By BB RO 2 TR
ME R -

fisl A& RE B R BB N G B BR B RS
VR S HL Sl e B R i B T R P (S
AN EBREEEARERT - KE 5
R AR T A O A = A (DL R A
I HE)) o J R AR B 8 A B D)
e sKIH e

R £ 2023F12H31H 1E FE R &
BN - G E i 3K TE 1 I T AR A S
19,105,000 o6 > H I E @B E K A H
B E > O AN B b ik
B (19 Be 1) 3 68 5 A\ 38 i 2 P s o
& BN BH B B B I OB % IR B E I
I BT % U |] AT RE R o DRME > Bk ME R
i B N BKCTE W R A B R (E B 1R o R
20234F12H20H » fE BN B K ik
WA EH AR RAKRERNA
B2\ A BB 48 o 2 ff B N TR R T Y
B& N> A R2024F4 A3 H i E % 5t
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives

and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —

continued

41, B T H - 4

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,

for the trade receivables excluding the Debtor, the

Group uses debtors aging to assess the impairment

for its customers in relation to its operation because

these customers consist of a large number of small

customers with common risk characteristics that

are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay

all amounts due in accordance with the contractual

terms. The following tables provides information

about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables

excluding the Debtor:

S 0 A B A PR HOBR B BOSR - A
{5 BB S B fE 7T A - A

TE 7 7 S5 ) 7 HL B 5y E SR TR (BR T
B A\ 5h) B 15 & L g o 3 22— o
FO 5% %5 2 5 A48 R B A 3L () L B 4
Bz /ANEF > ez E SR E T
PR & % 3 B B s ae >
b AR SR B 02 O R B N 2 AR T A A
bR H % 5B 2 WE o TR A B
B oy E ORI (BR T U85 A A0 15 £ Ja
b EH

Year ended 31 December 2023 #, F£20234°12H31H 1L 4 )%

Gross Net
carrying Average Loss carrying
amount loss rate allowance amount
MR AR P E R i 18 B TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T 0 T ¥ 0 T i 0

Trade receivables B 7 e K IA
0-90 days past due w H0-90K 48,711 0.42% (206) 48,505
91-180 days past due i H191-180 K 13,265 3.09% (410) 12,855
Over 180 days past due 180K 3,396 98.82% (3,356) 40
65,372 (3,972) 61,400
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, MBI H -

St % B\ b A B H B M BUSR - 4

{5 BB S B AE T A - A

continued
Year ended 31 December 2022 B 2202212 H31H 1E4F
Gross Net
carrying Average Loss carrying
amount loss rate allowance amount
MemAE CFHEEE Jis 18 45 M T 4 (H
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000
T# T T # 7o T o
Trade receivables B 5 e 5K IA
0-90 days past due i 1 0-90 K 48,253 1.59% (768) 47,485
91-180 days past due i #191-180 K 8,041 4.76% (383) 7,658
Over 180 days past due %1 01 4 180 K 5,318 72.14% (3,8306) 1,482
61,612 (4,987) 56,625

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant

information about specific debtors is updated.

il T e 18 3R T A 3 1 B K BT AR B
H)3Af > Sl A JEAT B R B
550317 AT B AN OB SR R o
PG 7 WM AT % 5 e AL DLTRE R R E
B 5 N A B OB O S B
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 41. MB T H - 4§

continued

S 0 A B A PR HOBR B BOSR - A

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

{5 BB S B fE 7T A - A

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s balance of
allowance for impairment for trade receivables
was approximately HK$22,658,000 (2022:
HK$24,092,000), determined based on either
provision matrix or individual assessment. Balance
of allowance for impairment of HK$21,478,000
(2022: HK$22,933,000) and HK$1,180,000 (2022:
HK$1,159,000) were made in respect of credit-impaired

2023412 A31H » A 4 E R 45 15 5
JE R KA R EE AN ek B S RE i sk T wE
2 9 18 &5 522,658,000 JT (2022
4 1 24,092,000% o) o B & B A fE
B (H 5K FF A5 80 WA w1 P e (E A
45 8% 4 Al F521,478,0009 T (20224 ¢
22,933,000% JC) 2 1,180,000% JG (2022
4F 11,159,000 JC) °

and not credit-impaired debtors, respectively.

S AR A AL ik R S E U
HFEM YA FEEERZES -

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Tortal

£ bRl 2

REER fREEH

(G £ 8 38 () (fF B fH) A5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Ti#T T T
As at 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H 1,626 5,578 7,204
Changes due to financial instruments recognised #2022 1A 1H A e
asat 1 January 2022 B HTRZ 88
— Transfer to credit-impaired — R EEEEE (75) 75 —
— Impairment losses reversed — U s R — (1,848) (1,848)
— Reversal of impairment losses recognised — BT AR
under provision matrix 5k (i 45 A (392) — (392)
Net financial assets originated or purchased YN
B — 19,128 19,128
As at 31 December 2022 20224F 12431 H 1,159 22,933 24,092
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - 41. B T H -
continued
Financial risk management objectives S 5 B B AR PR H B B BUSR - 4
and policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment — & &0 8 B M B (E 7 F Al — 48
continued

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2 MM 2 M

e £ e B

(5 B ) (f EEWAE) it
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T# 71 Ti#x Ti#x
As at 31 December 2022 #20224F12431H 1,159 22,933 24,092
Changes due to financial instruments recognised 202341 H1H T
asat | January 2023 R TR 8
— Impairment losses recognised — A i R R — 125 125
— Reversal of impairment losses recognised — T T R
under provision matrix Wl (i A 43 21 (981) (960)
Exchange realignment e 50 98 % — (419) (419)
Written-off Hl 8 — (180) (180)
As at 31 December 2023 2023412431 H 1,180 21,478 22,658
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 41. MB T H - 4§

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

In determining the ECL for other receivables,
management of the Group makes periodic collective
assessment as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on the
historical default experience and forward-looking
information, as appropriate. Apart from the foregoing,
the Group has considered the remaining other
receivables have low default risk and concluded
that credit risk inherent in the Group’s remaining

outstanding other receivables are insignificant.

In determining the ECL for loan receivable from an
associate, management of the Group makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of loan
receivable from an associate based on the historical
default experience and forward-looking information,
as appropriate. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the management has determined that there was
a significant increase in credit risk on the balance
and accordingly an accumulated impairment loss of
HK$5,452,000 was made on the loan receivable from
an associate. The Group has considered the letter of
collateral from the associate during their assessment

of the ECL.

304 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited {5 42 [3] [0 4% st A7 BR 2 7

S 0 A B A PR HOBR B BOSR - A
{5 BB S B fE 7T A - A

AL AE A e i K H 2 T S B s
& - A % H 8 g O 55
0 Bk B T WE R DR (i dE ) 3B At
A W TR T 2 AT i [ v A AT E R A AT
fili B A8l #F Al o BR Bl S IHDLAE > A
4 B AR Z R T 2 A i TH Y B R
JE\ i A A > 37 A A A S R R
A 1B SRR 2 A R B I R
* o

AR I i — (A W B N R B R 2 T
FEEEHET S A% 8 M ECRE
i A A RO Bk SR NE R (i )
S Wi — T B 2 N w8 K 2 mT i el
HEAT E BRI RE AL o A #k 2 20234F12
H31H IEF > & 18 CEE &%
B JEL B A R 38 o DR O el R i — B
s R W B B R U s 1R
5,452,000 %5 7 o 7 £ [ i 5F Ah (S
Ioq TR AR & WER R /N D i i



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the directors of the Company, which
has built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework for the management of the Group’s
short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities,
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial
assets and liabilities. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group has available unutilised bank facilities of
HK$62,026,000 (2022: HK$60,000,000).

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up to reflect the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The

table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, % T H - 8

St % B\ b A B H B M BUSR - 4

U B e

AN E) E A I B E R R R S
REEL HECEVEENRBE
S JL B A5 HAE 2R DAAE B AN R I A
HRRMESD AR ESEHTFE -
AL [ 37 m A R R A - SRAT R
G RAEAEE RS > B R R
T e B TR ) B 4 AL i DA R DT E B RS
7E T BB R B A DL > 48T A I B
B B o A20234F12H31H > A S
AT A B A SR AT R £562,026,000% T
(20224F 1 60,000,000 70) °

RS A S B R A G BR
G AR o N SRR IR A 42 AT B =K
A R R R B E o DR B B B
AR B BB & & o T Ry a4
AR B A G BB i & e
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 41. MB T H - 4§

continued
Financial risk management objectives $F 5 B B B HOBR R BSR4
and policies — continued
Liquidity risk — continued i B & 4 JEl By -
Weighted Over I year Over
average On demand but not 2 years Total
effective or less than more than but not more  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years than 5 years cash flows amount
AHER R a8 — A 6 18 1 4
T HE T3 SRR LKA HRIER AMH B &
TES fE & fE 8 (3] 2 A I T 1
% HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T T T T
At31 December 2023 120234F12 11311
Trade and other payables B9 R
R 508 - 56,510 - — 56,510 56,510
Bank overdrafts RITEL — - — — — —
Bank loans RITE® 5.04 18,391 6,587 1,664 26,642 25,029
74,901 6,587 1,664 83,152 81,539
Lease liabilities HEAR 3.70 70 70 1,194 1,334 943
Financial guarantee not FHERLH
recognised* Eol
Maximum amount R RELE
guaranteed — 115,880 — — 115,880 -
At 31 December 2022 20226124311
Trade and other payables B 5 RO A ff
(restated) FOH(EHEF) — 74,084 — - 74,084 74,084
Bank overdrafts ROTEL 6.63 1,610 — — 1,610 1,610
Bank loans RITEHR 433 7,335 6,931 8,181 2,447 20,203
83,029 6,931 8,181 98,141 95,897
Lease liabilities g A& 5.05 1,768 147 - 1,915 1,835
Financial guarantee not T RR 4 AR
recognised*
Maximum amount RRRESH
guaranteed — 14,689 — — 14,689 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Liquidity risk — continued
* The aggregate amount of outstanding financial guarantees
issued to banks in respect of guarantees granted to third
parties, the purchasers of the properties and a subsidiary
in the PRC, that the Group could be required to pay. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the
properties to the purchasers and completion of registration
of the relevant mortgaged properties or full repayment of
loan borrowed by the subsidiary, respectively. In the opinion
of the directors, the fair values of these guarantee contracts
of the Group are insignificant at initial recognition and
the directors consider that the possibility of default of the
parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and
at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate
amount of outstanding financial guarantees
issued to banks in respect of guarantees granted
to third parties, the purchasers of the properties
and a subsidiary in the PRC, that the Group could
be required to pay amounted to approximately
RMB105,219,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$115,880,000) as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB13,045,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$14,689,000)). Such guarantees will be released
by banks upon delivery of the properties to the
purchasers and completion of registration of the
relevant mortgaged properties or full repayment of
loan borrowed by the subsidiary, respectively. In
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of these
guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at
initial recognition and the directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the
inception of the guarantee contracts and at the end
of the reporting period as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41. % T H — 4
0 %5 B B A PR H AR ) BUR — 4

YL B A By — 4

* W = (R EZER) AP E—FK
B Ja > R 4R L B0 4 £ 1 1) 4R AT EE Y -
A% B2 (9] 5 2E S AT I R B IS IR A -
W% 5 VS LR o R R W 2 S8 AT B 3l 5E
AR KA S B R R S B A F B
EREREHRITHRR - EHERE > A
£E B 5% S 05 AR A A0 16 W) R T BB IRR 1 A
(ERIZNE N SR i O R
AR /N o BRIUL > 76 45 £ & 49 B 46 RE DA
K 22 20234F M120224F12 A31 H A9 ) 2 4
Kol A FRAT AT E E -

S s 1 IR 5 A0

B ER A AN E - R20234E12H
31H » REEE S 75 =5 (I %
ZEF) B B — 5 Mg N A AR
] SR AT B B 4 AR T 28 ST Y R 1
AR EA B N R105,219,000 7T (4R
H O #1115,880,000 5 J0) (20224F : AR
#13,045,000 7T (48 H > %7114,689,000 %5
J6)) o SRATH A AR W AT TE A
HAH B 4% 5 ) 26 5wl F T i 5%
BB oy A 7 BfE R K AR R R SR
Wk - ERERBLH  AEBZFERE
910 ST B A W) bh o RN G S EE K
HE SR ZEANTREHARD -
Hgt > EER AL IBRU LS R
20234F F120224F12 H31 H B #1651 K
3 A B GRAT AT (B (H -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 41. MB T H - 4§

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Other price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk through its

investments in unlisted private funds and listed equity
securities classified as financial assets at FVTPL as
set out in note 26. The Group also invested in certain
unquoted equity securities for long-term strategic
purposes which had been designated at FVTOCI
(note 20). The directors consider that the Group is not
exposed to significant price fluctuation in its financial
assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI and accordingly no

sensitivity analysis is presented.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash

flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values at

the end of each reporting period.

308 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited fR#§4E WP AT BR A ]

S 0 A B A PR HOBR B BOSR - A

H At A5 A% L Bz

A A [ 15 TR BT RE 26 #2 r BU %7
AR RPN CE R OUE S - § e ]
A 5% G K b RE RS IR B B AR
A% R B o A 4R R R R 0 O Y
BOE T T 2 A S
N (eI B /Nl = R AN S R
2 T 4 (B 5E20) o B 3 58 2 A 4R
/AR R NG = S /AR SR N
A 2 THT WA AR P B B AR I TR B
R B {5 4 e B o R UGSl oK B A R R
G

B TR A FEG &

W B & L B A s P E R B
R PR A B E (B R 2% TR B B B R
M i E o
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AR e S Rk R AR B R B
AR T (B B O S R A5 R ORI 2 F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments — continued

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair

values of these financial assets are determined.

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, ¥ 1T H - 4

B LHB A PEG &R -

AL T EH RN R Z M5 E
YA fE

A% S 2 T SR Y R Y
Fie 2 P BB o TR 290 A7 B A0 A i
TE % 4 RS Y 1O TR YR -

Fair value
h¥E
Fair value
2023 2022 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs

20234 200 AFHEH MBEBGREESAYR

HK$’000 HKS$'000

Ti#x T
Financial assets
B B
Financial assets at FVTPL
T T (R AR 4R B BB
— investment in an unlisted fund 771 807 Level 2 Quoted asset value provided by a financial institution
(Note (i)
— KL RE (o) ol eRMBERMANEEERE
— listed equity securities (Note(i) 5,360 6,744 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active markets
— Ll A (O R (i) B ERAGHEARE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI
AP AR 2T
E#HIA
— unlisted equity securities (Note(iii)) 696 1,043 Level 3 Adjusted net assets approach — the book value of assets and liabilities
of investee are considered as their fair value.
— i W 3R i) B EREEEREE - HEAHSMEERARNREEBES

HAF(E
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#HE 2023

£12 H 31 HIEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments — continued

Fair

value of the Group’s financial assets that

are measured at fair value — continued

Notes:

)

(i)

(iii)
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The investment is an unlisted fund operated in Dubai. The
fair value under Level 2 derived from inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The fair value of
the investment was based on quoted value provided by a
financial institution. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the fair value loss of approximately HK$36,000
(2022: fair value loss of approximately HK$115,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

The equity investment was classified as fair value through
profit or loss as it was held for trading. The fair values of
listed equity investments under Level 1 are based on quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities. During year ended 31 December 2023, the
fair value loss of approximately HK$1,384,000 (2022: fair
value loss of approximately HK$603,000) was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

The Group’s unlisted equity securities investment represent
19% equity interests in a private entity established in
the PRC. The determination of the fair value requires
significant judgement by management with respect to the
net asset values using net assets approach. If the net asset
values is higher/lower, while all other variables were held
constant, the carrying amount would increase/decrease.
During year ended 31 December 2022, there was a reversal
of fair value loss of approximately HK$400,000 from a
investment in an unlisted fund under level 3, and which
was fully redeemed as at 31 December 2022.

41, B T H - 4

B THB AP EG &2 -

AREHL A EHFFEZ B &

E A E

W5

0]

(i)

(iii)

==
i

— M

R ELEMEEENIE LTS -
2ETE R Y 4 T {E 2R A B8R T 5 A
DLAM Y ok A T (RO ) Bl
T2 (BRI o A % o 30) WL 25 (M iy A B E - 4
OGN O (8 FE 7Y 4 o A HR L A0 IR A
B o HE20234E12H31HIEEE > AF
{8 &5 18 £936,000 45 JC (20224F @ 2> F (A &
8 #5115,000% o) B 7 4 A 10 5 HoAth
T U 25 R R AR -

JRE £ I L R A R B A R
FEEAEZ o BIRE T LA RERE
B N T /B i AR ] A ol £ A T S R T
500 (R 46 3 ) A o B E 20234
12H31H IE4FBE > 2 7 {8 5 15 491,384,000
W0 (20224 + 24 P{H I 4 £9603,000 5 7T)
T s A 1B 35 M HoAb 2 ik 35 R P RE o

A4 B FE b T R AR R R B A 7R
B FA N BB 19199 B RE o B E AT
HREEHMEBHEAEEFEEHEET
T E R - MEEFMELAT
R > T T AT HLfh A R AR R A > HE
WA WD o #R 2 20224812 A31H 1L 4E
B BEREIHIFELT RSN A T HE
Ji5 18 88 9] 49400,000% JC > F 2022412
H31H & B -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments — continued

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

41, % T H - 8

B LHB A PEG &R -

FIF NV EHwHE H IR

Equity
instruments at
FVTOCI

1% 0 AR

A B ik

4 T i P

Jit HE T B
HK$°000

T # I

As at 31 December 2022
Unrealised change in fair value recognised in other

comprehensive income

#20224F12 H31H 1,043
A At A T R 5 SRR Y
O T (B R 5 B 58 B (347)

As at 31 December 2023

#20234E12H31H 696

The determination of the level 3 fair value requires
significant judgement by management with respect
to the assumptions and estimates for the lack of
public information and transaction price for the
identical assets or liabilities, thus the management
of the Company applied adjusted net assets approach
for the fair value measurements. The significant
unobservable inputs are the price to book ratio due to
lack of market capitalisation and market transaction
information, therefore book value of the assets and the
liabilities of investee considered as their fair values,
which mainly represented cash and cash equivalents

and accruals.

T T E SR IER N S fE B B R B Z A
B 1 B B A [ 2 B R A 58 o B
B L JECS AR LA R A L R
PR G A 2% ) 4 L T R ) A AR R R A U
HEEETAFHEHGE AR ZH
{E B 35 28 5 (5 8 > B OROK ol L 55
ABERTIRE . NI EHRNE
FE e 4 FR A IR TR (L A A LA ST
FHEBEHE LB SFEHY LEG R
H o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 41. BB T H - 4
continued
Fair value measurements of financial MHLTHMA PG & -8
instruments — continued
Sensitivity of Level 3 fair value measurements B3N T EH wF = ) B
If the price to book ratio is higher/lower at 5%, while 4Fl5]ﬁi,g<§$£ﬂ/_|: [ 59 1 fT A A v
all other variables were held constant, the carrying AT R ME RN 8 R T A% 1 m i
amount would increase/decrease in the amount of A #1184,000%  JC (20224F : 255,000 #%
approximately HK$184,000 (2022: HK$255,000). JC) o P E T A /Y 4 o (E I
Management does not foresee any significant change A R A2 H) o

in fair value of the investments.

There were no transfers of fair value measurements B E 20234 % 2022F12 A31H IL4F B >
between Level 1, level 2 and Level 3 for the year SRR - HE2Rk M BE3Ak 2 W I A N
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. (ER %

The Group did not have any financial liabilities B E 2023412 H31H » A 4L H I AT
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2023. i ¥ s P EFT =M B AE -
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42.

43.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as a lessor

The properties held for rental purposes have

committed lessees for the next ten years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are

3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
#2023 4 12 A 31 HIRFRE

42. MEMBE R

A 45 0 A 2 AN

FrAE A 2 W 26 A R AR 4R 2 R G AL
oo

B 2 M R B BEAE B H 0

as follows:

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T ¥t Tt
Within one year — R 5,890 10,114
In the second year 5 AR 2,436 3,054
In the third year i = 4R 1,408 1,740
In the fourth year 5 Y 4R 518 1,139
From the fifth year onwards B HE K Z1E 1,770 2,616
12,022 18,663

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 43. L 4 i

As further explained in note 3.2 to the consolidated
financial statements, certain comparative amounts
have been restated as a result of the adoption
of merger accounting for the common control

transaction takin place during the year.

ol U0 AR BB R MY RE3. 20T —
[ 2t - o PR A BF € Wk R B A 4
FESR LR L R 2 TR L 5
HTHBEEHDES -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 2023 4 12 A 31 HIR4EE

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 44, A2\ A B IR I %
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$°000
T L T T
Non-current asset I i B A
Interest in subsidiaries T B JE 2 R Y RE 4 348,859 348,859
Current assets Wi B G
Other receivables and prepayments At 78 o R E K T RROE 619 677
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE i B B 2 ] K H 20,986 19,991
Financial assets at fair value through profit /N SN I AN = E R ]
of loss B 5,360 6,744
Cash and cash equivalents HWEeERH &% HY 2,105 1,911
29,070 29,323
Current liabilities i B=RE
Accruals and other payables JRE Tt 2 B HAth 8 A 3K OH 748 731
Amounts due to subsidiaries JRE ASH B Jog > ] 3K IR 71,297 45,495
72,045 46,226
Net current liabilities i B B A (42,975) (16,903)
Total assets less current liabilities 7 AE WO B B 305,884 331,956
Share capital and reserves B A B it A
Share capital A% 4,470 4,470
Reserves (note) Tt HE (B ) 301,414 327,486
305,884 331,956
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3 A R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
WA 2023 4 12 A 31 HILAFE

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 44. A o ) B 5 R Dl R — M
POSITION OF THE COMPANY -
continued
Note: Bff 5
Movement of reserves fiff 5 52 W)
Special
Share Share options Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
B i i 150 RO G ICHE G A 1R B i A M
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T Tix T Ti#x
At 1 January 2022 20224 111H 66,840 278,804 8,850 1,008 355,502
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 1A 4 [ Uit 4 4 % — — — 907 907
Dividend (note 13) B B (W 5E13) (27,000) — — — (27,000)
Repurchase and cancellation of shares Ji e % & 8 P (1,923) — — — (1,923)
At 31 December 2022 JA20224E 12431 H 37,917 278,804 8,850 1915 327,486
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 A1 4 i UL 4 40 % — - — 750 750
Dividend (note 13) i B (W 3E13) (26,822) — — — (26,822)
At 31 December 2023 20234124310 11,095 278,804 8,850 2,665 301,414

2023 Annual Report ‘EFEHi 315



Financial Summary

S B B2

The following is a summary of the published results and R G A G E P A TR B B B
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial WL LEE LAGBEME -

years.

For the years ended 31 December

M E12H31H IE4FE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224F 20214 20204F 20194F

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T 7T T T T# T T ¥ 0
(Restated) (Restated)
(R #E 51) (R E 51

Revenue 0 i 348,711 374,049 406,967 371,970 787,207
Gross profit T A 102,204 114,669 101,844 157,422 294,364
Profit for the year GRNp Rl 34,158 27,415 38,277 76,490 182,651

As at 31 December

A12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224F 20214F 20204F 20194F

HK$’000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Tt T T AR AR T T

(Restated)

(%8 & 51))
Total assets &R AE 837,525 847,788 907,106 852,966 1,089,719
Total liabilities i 48 %A 187,821 203,036 221,818 201,333 530,305
Net assets & T E 649,704 644,752 685,288 651,633 559,414
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